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DEFINITIONS
Bx

In this annual report, unless the
context otherwise requires, the
following expressions shall have
the following meanings:

“2025 AGM”
[ZE_RAFERFAFRE ]

“AGM”
[RRBFAE]

“ARPPU”

[ARPPU ]

“Articles”
[AREZ= 24081 ]

“Audit Committee”

[EZEZEE

“Board Committees”

[E£ZB8E

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

[E=%eg]

“BVI”
[RBRAES]

EAFRA  BXBERZEREN  THFAREEUATERE

the AGM to be held on June 26, 2025
ARARR - E-_RAFENA -+ AAHBTHRRBEFAS

annual general meeting of the Company

AAFHBRBFRE

average revenue per month per paying user, which represents our revenue recognized
for a particular game, a particular type of games or all of our games, as applicable, in the
period divided by the number of paying users of the game, the type of games or all of our
games, as applicable, in such period
BRNEBERAFPSAFHWA - E—F0EE - — BB MmEES (WER) R —REE A
RN - BRIARZFEE - 2B MM E R (ER)RZARANNERFHA

the second amended and restated and articles of association of the Company as
amended from time to time
RARENREFT R I RIEFTME M BB E R AR R E24A

the audit committee of the Board
EEER (BZEEE

the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee

ERZBE® FTHRESRIEEZEBE

the board of Directors of the Company

ARREEE

British Virgin Islands
KBRS
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DEFINITIONS (Continued)
B (#)

“Beijing

[HEmiE

“Beijing

[E 7

You Lai”

ey

You Tang”

= |

“CG Code” or “Code”

[ EATAS 8]

“China”

[FE )

“Company”, “our Company”, “Digital
Hollywood”, “Group”, “our Group”,

« n o«

or “PRC”

n o« » o«

we”, “our” or “us”

[ARRA] - [ERES ] - [ARER ]I

Ez 45N

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ 4% AR AR

=]

“Director(s)”

[E=%]
“FY2023”
TR CHBEE]

Beijing You Lai Information Technology Company Limited* (1t Rz (s BRI AR A F), a
company established in the PRC with limited liability on November 14, 2014, which is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

ERBHRERRMRAERAR  — KR _T—NF+—ATEHBEFBERZINBERAR - BEAR
AINEEEENE QR

Beijing You Tang Information Technology Company Limited* (It R#EE{EERHEERE L
A]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on July 17, 2015, which is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

IRBEZEEMBRERAR  — KR ZE—AFtA+HAERBKRINERDR - AERQA
B2 E B Q)

the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

ETRBIKERC1 PRI [ E AT ]

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual report and for
geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region
of the PRC and Taiwan

PEARANE - ERAFHRIOMBIRANS - TREEE  RFIBHNTRERSE

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited (#2# 5 &)5LE AR A E)*), a company incorporated
under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on November 24, 2014 and
except where the context indicated otherwise (1) our subsidiaries; and (2) with respect to
the period before our Company became the holding company of our present subsidiaries,
the business operated by our present subsidiaries or (as the case may be) their
predecessors

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited 3B B)EEBRAF*) — KR _T—NF+—A=
THAEREREREEEZEMRINERDE - URBRXESEMEN - (YEMOHER R R
Q)BERERRKASREMBERARIMNZERARANEBENE - aRAMB AR (RIERME)
HAT 5 RRMMEENER

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and unless the context requires
otherwise, refers to Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin, Mr. HUANG Guozhan, Mr. HUANG
Deqgiang, LYF Digital Holdings Limited, Angel Age Limited, LXT Digital Holdings Limited
and HDQ Digital Holdings Limited

BEELWRAFMETHRE  BXEZBEMREN  BEERELEE  REHXL  FZEERE
4 - H{E58 5 A - LYF Digital Holdings Limited * Angel Age Limited + LXT Digital Holdings
Limited }2HDQ Digital Holdings Limited

the director(s) of the Company or any one of them

ARREESHEPEA—BES

the year ended December 31, 2023
HE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HULEE

"

-
i

REEBEEERAR —T-PNFEER @



DEFINITIONS (Continued)

B (&)

“FY2024”
[ZZE MM BFE ]
“Guangzhou SYND”

DA R

“Guangzhou You Lai”

“Guangzhou Ding Zhang”
[EMRE]

“HK$” or “Hong Kong Dollars”
(%7t

“Hollywood BVI”

[Hollywood BVI ]

“Hollywood HK”

[Hollywood HK

“Hong Kong”

(&%)

“HTMLS5”

[HTMLS5 ]

the year ended December 31, 2024
BE-Z-NE+_A=+—HLFE

Guangzhou Suiyue Niandai Software Technology Company Limited* (/! 5% A F AR B
B AR A7), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on June 12, 2010,
which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
BMNTRAFRBEEREERAT —RRZE—ZF A THBEFEXINERAR - &
RRREEEZEE BB QA

Guangzhou You Lai Information Technology Company Limited* (B #23Z SRR BEQ
A]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on May 13, 2015, which is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

BMEREEREAERAT  — KRR _E—AFREAT=AEFEXIHNERAT » HAAA
M2 EHE A

Guangzhou Ding Zhang Information Technology Company Limited* (EMSZEEREA
[R7x7]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on March 8, 2024, which
is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

BMSZEEREARAR  — KRR ZZ_NF=ANBEFEKINERAR - ARAFAHN
HE2ENB AR

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BREEERET

Digital Hollywood International Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited
liability on November 25, 2014, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Digital Hollywood International Limited * —RR-_E—WNF+— A+ A EABERES
FMEZHERAT - AARANEEMBRA

Game Hollywood Hong Kong Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability on December 5, 2014, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

Game Hollywood Hong Kong Limited " XA -Z— S+ - AR RAEBFBRIHEARA
A RARFINEELEMBE AR

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEBRFRITHRR

hypertext markup language 5, the fifth and current major version of the hypertext markup
language standard; used for structuring and presenting content on web pages and for
creating web applications

FEAMBYFRLES  BXFRLETFENELREBAINEZRA  ARERE HE
RERANE  ReREBEEMAER

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024



DEFINITIONS (Continued)

B (&)

“IPO”
[ERABEE
“JV Partner”
[REBH]

“Listing”
[ £

“Listing Date”
[ EfHE]
“Listing Rules”
[EsRAl

“‘MAUs”

[§AERAF

“Model Code”

[EZE<T 8]

“Nomination Committee”

[REZEE

“Now To Play Game”

[Now To Play Game]

“Now To Play Game (Spain)”

[Now To Play Game (FaHIZF) |

the initial public offering of the Company, having become unconditional in all aspects on
December 15, 2017
EREFEEASEGRERE  ARAAR_B—t+F+ A THBETNERARREE

Guangzhou Red Circle Information Technology Company Limited* (E/MAT B8R AR
7~ A]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability
BMAEEEREERAR  —RRFREKAERAF

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Petn TERE A P 2R BT

December 15, 2017, on which the Shares were listed and from which dealings therein
were permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange

“E—+F+-A+HA - RORBRAM ETRELEENBERTETESN B S

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as amended from
time to time)
B A PR E R A (R TERHERT)

monthly active users, which refers to the number of individuals who login to a particular
game in the relevant calendar month; average MAUs for a particular period is the average
of the active users in each month during that period

BRAERAFPE  EEFMEANESSEEROAZ  NMEEHENTOERAERAFPEE
ZEREE ARERAP FHE

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FHRAIBIERCIFHE [ T BITAERETERR HWITESTA

the nomination committee of the Board

ExaRETREEZES

Now To Play Game Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on
March 29, 2011, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Now To Play Game Limited - XA -E——F=A -+ N BEBBAMKINBRAR
REARFNEEZEMB QA

Now To Play Game Sucursal En Espafa, a branch office established in Spain on July 24,
2014 by Now To Play Game, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Now To Play Game Sucursal En Espafia * —ZX B Now To Play Gamei X —Z —UF+ A=
TOBRERNTRIN D B - RARRNEEZENB AR

PEHREBEEGRART T _INFEFIR @



DEFINITIONS (Continued)

B (&)

“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”
[ERRREEEERET S

“Prospectus”

[ ERE]

“Qianhai Huanjing”

[RIB 4% ]
“Remuneration Committee”
[HFMEE ]

“RMB”
[AR¥]

“SDK”

[SDK]

“SFO”
[ 7% & R 156 )

“Share(s)”
[tn |

“Shareholder(s)”
AR5 |

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on May 27, 2017
RRARZZB—HFHA =+ HBRERGEERRET S

the prospectus of the Company dated December 5, 2017
ARBABRAR-_ZT—+F+-ALRNBRERE

Shenzhen Qianhai Huanjing Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (FIITATELBMERRER
A7]), a company established in the PRC on July 12, 2015, one of our game developer
partners and a fellow subsidiary of 7Road Holdings, a substantial shareholder of the
Company

RYTRNE A RBEBEAERAR  —ZR_E—AFEATZBETEKIZNHANA - BEAM
BB EREH 2 - RELREERNBRNBAR  ARARFNEERE

the remuneration committee of the Board

ExgRETHFMERES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
PEUEEEBARE

software development kit, typically a set of software development tools that allows the
creation of applications for a certain software package, software framework, hardware
platform, computer system, video game console, operating system, or similar development
platform

PHREEE  —RA—ERNURETIA USRS EEM4E MEER  BHTE  ERK
o MEBEEH  RIERGRBEUNRETERIEMARER

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
EREDIESTI EZ S LB - K ARHER] ~ R sA R T B

ordinary share(s) of US$0.001 each in the share capital of the Company
RABRAH FARE(EO0.001 5= T H) E AR

holder(s) of Shares
LSHESE PN

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024



DEFINITIONS (Continued)
B (#)

“Shenzhen 7Road” Shenzhen 7Road Technology Co., Ltd.* (RYIEL-XKERHEHBRAE), a company
established in the PRC on January 22, 2008, one of our game developer partners and a
fellow subsidiary of 7Road Holdings, a substantial shareholder of the Company

DRIIELRE | RYBLREMBARLRA  —FZR _EEN\F-A- T - HERFBEKINLQR - BRIk
BREEBBH 2 —KBELRNEBZERORREMB AR RARFRNEZRR

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

[ B8 32 P | BEEBMARSAERAT

“U.S. Dollars”, “USD” or “US$” United States Dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

EH EBDEFEWET

“VR” virtual reality, a computer technology that uses certain equipment to generate realistic

images, sounds and other sensations that simulate a user’s physical presence in a virtual
or imaginary environment

[EHER ] ERER  EAETREREREREREREINERIIENRET  EMELEEEY
& BENEMEE 2 BRI

“7Road” 7Road Holdings and its fellow subsidiaries

RN FEHRETERRER ZRHE AT

“7Road Holdings” 7Road Holdings Limited (58 K& H R A 71*), a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability on September 6, 2017, a substantial shareholder of the
Company

[FEEREER] FLREEZERARAA  — KR _ZT—tFNANBERSHSHMKXINEGRAR - BAA
A EERR

“%” percent

[%] B

L For identification purposes only — * B

PEHREBEEGRART T _INFEFIR O



CORPORATE PROFILE
~EEFR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS BEExg
Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. LU Yuanfeng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) BRGNS (FEFEEHTE)
Mr. HUANG Guozhan EHEESE

Mr. HUANG Degiang HBREE

Ms. LUO Simin RESE T
Independent Non-executive Directors BYHBITES
Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton BAEEHE

Mr. LI Yi Wen FREE

Mr. LU Qibo BERUE A
AUDIT COMMITTEE ERZEE
Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton (Chairman) BAEEHE (EE)
Mr. LI Yi Wen FREE

Mr. LU Qibo BERUR A
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEES
Mr. LI Yi Wen (Chairman) BRXEE(EE)
Mr. LU Yuanfeng e IR U 4 A

Mr. LU Qibo & RUR S
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZEESE
Mr. LU Yuanfeng (Chairman) R R S & (/)
Mr. LI Yi Wen TRGE

Mr. LU Qibo & ROR e A&
COMPANY SECRETARY NEAME
Mr. WONG Wai Chiu EBEBEE
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES RERR

Mr. LU Yuanfeng R R 4 A

Mr. WONG Wai Chiu =HEBEE
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CORPORATE PROFILE (Continued)
DNAEHR (&)

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

23/F, Tower 2, Enterprise Square Five, 38 Wang Chiu Road
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTER AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

2nd Floor, No. 368 Jiang Nan Da Dao (South)
Haizhu District

Guangzhou

The PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

11/F, Tai Sang Bank Building
784 Nathan Road

Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
2/F, 673 Nathan Road

Mong Kok, Kowloon

Hong Kong

BBVA Compass Bank
Placa de Tetuan, 26
08010, Barcelona
Spain

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISER

P.C. Woo & Co.

12th Floor, Prince’s Building
Central

Hong Kong

¥ B

FIELZESTRMEHAERAAE
H5

NEENBEE
RIBBIBIR I E S T A2 2318

AR ERE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

MERPETELE I

h
B
SHE
STAIAERI368% =

ERTEERMH

B

B
TRE 7845
RNEFITREN1E

FEAERRIT
B LOERRIT
&t

FUBERE f5
FSE673%21E

BBVA Compass Bank
Placa de Tetuan, 26
08010, Barcelona
Spain

EARALEER
AR EMELA
&5

IR

KFRE121E

BEREBHEEERAT

ZEYFFER @



CORPORATE PROFILE (Continued)
DNAEHR (&)

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

Stock Code: 2022

WEBSITE

www.gamehollywood.com/company/
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
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MILESTONES

BiE®

Year Events
F40 =%
2010 . Our founders became the beneficial shareholders of our first operating entity, Guangzhou SYND
—E-FF - BHMWARAKRARMEREETEBEMNRAFROERRE
2011 . The first overseas subsidiary was established to develop overseas operation
—E——F « BB —TEINE A RIABREINER
2012 . Launched multiplayer web game Wartune with an exclusive license for overseas publishing in
English-speaking markets
—ZT——F . BMEMREEBEE Wartune - W B EEETISN B GINEITHR
2013 . We were granted the “Facebook’s Excellent Game-Advertiser Award”
—E—=F o BMENMEE[FacebookEFH BB S £ K |
. Wartune was granted the “Facebook Staff Favorites Recognition”
o Wartune Y7855 [ Facebook 8 T = B #7542 |
. Launched Stallion Race on Facebook
« A Facebook i Stallion Race
. We were granted the “Best Overseas Publisher Award” by 7Road
o BMEBERYELRERR [ &EBINERBITRAE]
2014 . Established Now To Play Game (Spain) as our liaison office in Europe
—ME «  BX3ZNow To Play Game (FaEE I ) {E /R B P 1E BUM 8O BSE 45 9 55 2
2015 . Launched several successful casual shooting games, including a special edition featuring sports
figures and scenes licensed from Barcelona Football Club
—_T—1%F o BMEEKIAKRESTEER - BENMARERE RRERENBEAY IS RNERIR
2016 . Launched our cross-platform Wing SDK
—T—RF . {5 F A Wing SDK
. Entered into the VR market with our investment in a VR studio in China
- FAREFE-RERBREEQT  EEEREETS
2017 . Launched Lord of Star, a mobile game in cross-platform format on Gameroom
—tF «  AGameroom# {5 ¥ &%) F#EEELord of Star

Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 2022) on December 15,
2017
& —tF+ZA+RBEBRMER BT (ARG RS - 2022)

PEHREBEEGRART T _INFEFIR ®



MILESTONES (Continued)

EEE (#)
Year Events
F40 =%
2018 . French, German, Polish and Turkish versions of Dragon Awaken were launched successively, fully
penetrating into the European market
—ZE-)N\F «  Dragon Awaken®)ERE - 2B - B - T EHRAREE LR - 2HEBRMNTS
. Robot Tactics, the strategic mobile game featuring anime graphics, was launched on and featured
by Google Play in more than 100 countries and regions around the world
o BIRTVEMEDR ZIRTTHE R SRBS F B4 F N 1S Google Play7E & 3k 100 {E B R M (& ) HE
. Digital Hollywood was awarded the 6th Jincha Award for 2018 Best Mobile Publisher
. BREPHREFNESRE T \KEBRBEEETHE]
. Be elected as the vice-president of the Gaming Industry Association Guangzhou Branch
c  BEBMTERTERSREREM
. Dragon Awaken was awarded “2018 Zhuoer Award for Top 10 Most Popular Windows Games” in
2018 Globe Windows Game Conference
«  Dragon AwakenEGWGCEHHAEEMB _T—N\FREES[_Z— \FEEREUHE HTH T A&
EMEEE BE
2019 . A number of HTML5 games launched for global distribution
—ENF « HEMEHETEZRHTMLSEE
2020 . Completed the technical replacement of flash to HTML5 and clients
—T-FF « SERKEflashBEHTMLS & & 5 i 6 530l 58 8
. Distribute HTML5-based products in multi-terminal, multi-platform, and multilingual to meet the
game needs of global users in different scenarios
« BIZW  ZFAKZESHHIMLSER @ LURREHRAFPETRIBRAEET K
2021 . Conduct several salons on the official game developer event of Gamescom
—E- 4 +  TEGamescom® B HEEIFEEFETHE T IS5 E
2022 . Established a business ecosystem with a core of HTML5 product matrix and GHG game platform
—T=—= o BN TLAHTMLSE MRERE R GHGHEEL T & Az U S A R
2023 . The GHG platform has developed a professional and systematic model, which connects with
well-known overseas platform operations instantly, thus greatly improving the efficiency of game
distribution
. —— «  GHGTARME TEEMAESCAER - BEUGINNE T S EBERRHE - KIBRABERBITRE

Built own platform membership system and platform economic system to significantly increase
users’ reliance

TEEATREERARTAEEER - NBRIAAPKEN

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024



MILESTONES (Continued)

EEE (#)

Year Events

F40 =%

2024 . The GHG platform has been continuously upgraded and iterated, and has now realized multi-
terminal entertainment adaptation, and supports developers’ one-click access to release on
platforms such as GHG, Google, Apple, Meta, Epic, Steam and other platforms, significantly
reducing developers’ access and management costs and the overall issuance efficiency has been
significantly improved.

—T-mEF . GHGTARBAMKR  REBRZmREHER - XHMAERH—EA - BIAIEGHG » Google »

Apple * Meta - Epic &z SteamZEF 8/ « iR KPR EENE ABEEA - BEBBEITRERBERT -
We released over 50 game applications on multiple platforms, with an average frequency of 1
application per week. During the same period, GAMEHOLLYWOQOOD accelerated its Latin American
market layout effort and completed the issuance of various products, initially forming a diversified
product matrix in Latin America.

HFEZ T &R MEs0TEEER - REFFEHESE LR1FERNEEX - AHGAMEHOLLYWOOD
MRERET EMTS - TRERERNEIT  EREMEVNLHKEZ TLEMERE

PEHREBEEGRART T _INFEFIR @



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Revenue for FY2024 amounted to approximately US$9.1 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 8.6% from approximately
US$9.9 million recorded in FY2023.

Gross profit for FY2024 amounted to approximately US$4.14 million,
representing an increase of approximately 1.0% from approximately
US$4.10 million recorded in FY2023.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for FY2024 amounted to
approximately US$3.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately
44.4% from approximately US$5.8 million recorded in FY2023.

Non-IFRS Accounting Standards adjusted loss attributable to owners of
the Company for FY2024 amounted to approximately US$3.2 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 44.4% from approximately
US$5.8 million recorded in FY2023.

U To supplement our consolidated financial statements which are presented
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, we also use non-IFRS
Accounting Standards adjusted (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the
Company as an additional financial measure to evaluate our financial
performance by eliminating the impact of items that we do not consider
indicative of the performance of our business. Our non-IFRS Accounting
Standards adjusted (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company was
derived from our (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company for the
year excluding share-based compensation and listing expenses.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024

“E_NHBREEMRANRIABERT B
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEHE

For the year ended December 31,

BEt+t-A=+t—-HLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-TFE —T-—F —E-— —E-=F ZEZE
US$'000 UsS$'000 US$’'000 UsS$'000 Us$’000
FET FET FE FET FER
Revenue KA 17,550 12,753 11,142 9,909 9,059
Gross profit EF 9,160 5,413 4,659 4,101 4,143
Loss before income tax KRETISTRIE 1R (3,439) (3,191) (5,766) (5,626) (3,017)
Income tax expense FrisfiA X 200 177 98 145 191
Loss for the year FRER (3,639) (3,368) (5,864) (5,771) (3,208)
Loss attributable to: T ELEE
Owners of the Company RAREEEA A (3,639) (3,368) (5,864) (5,771) (3,208)
Non-Controlling interests eI RS = = = = -
Non-IFRS Accounting RNEHEE AEGIEBIRR
Standards adjusted loss B RS 2 s 4R
attributable to owners KRREE
of the Company (2,986) (3,301) (5,864) (5,771) (3,208)
As at December 31,
R+=—A=+—8
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-FTFE —T-—F —FE-— —E-=F ZEZE
US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$’000
FET FET FET FEr FEx
Total assets MEE 56,272 52,001 44,297 37,961 32,806
Total liabilities meE 11,167 10,807 9,999 9,777 7,765
Equity attributable to the RARER AERER
owners of the Company 45,105 41,194 34,298 28,184 25,041

e

ERE

FEFEBRAT —E_NEER @



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ER|E

A

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board and the management of Digital Hollywood
Interactive Limited, | am pleased to present to you the annual report of
the Company and its subsidiaries for FY2024.

OVERVIEW OF THE GROUP

We are a leading global online game publisher for China-based game
developers, with fast-growing in-house development capabilities for
mobile games. Our mission is to bring engaging, differentiated gameplay
experience to users across languages, cultures and borders. We offer
compelling value proposition to game developers by helping them
penetrate the international markets with one-stop solutions, including
game redesign, optimization, marketing, distribution, monetization,
payment support and other user-related services.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)

EEHE (&)

We began our business as an international web game publisher and
grew quickly to become the leading web game publisher. Besides, we
strategically expanded our business focuses to develop and launch
mobile games by enhancing in-house development capabilities to capture
the market opportunity from the fast-growing smartphone users, and our
mobile games achieved considerable success in a number of regional
markets.

In recent years, the Group has begun to deepen the business of HTML5
multiplayer games and established a self-developed HTML5 game
platform. As such, the Group has the technical capability to achieve the
data exchange between personal computers and mobile terminals, and
embarked to launch a variety of HTML5 games of different types.

RESULTS OF THE GROUP

As of December 31, 2024, we launched and operated 69 games including
web games, mobile games and HTML5 games over the world. 11 of such
games were self-developed games, accounting for around 16% of the
total number of games launched and operated.

As of December 31, 2024, calculating based on IP addresses we
recorded, we had cumulative registered users of approximately 9.8 million
located in over 200 countries and regions.

As of December 31, 2024, our average MAUs for online games were
more than 0.4 million.

In 2024, we launched 10 HTML5 games and took advantage of our global
distribution network in the HTML5 game markets. We will continue to
deepen our involvement in the HTML5 game distribution markets and
cooperate closely with our outstanding business partners in research
and development, distribution and promotion in the global HTML5 field,
to vigorously enlarge our market shares in emerging markets for HTML5
games and further strengthen our leading position in overseas distribution.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE GROUP

Revenue of the Group for FY2024 amounted to approximately
US$9.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately 8.6% from
approximately US$9.9 million for FY2023. The decline in revenue
was mainly due to (i) certain matured games generating less revenue
compared to FY2023; and (ii) certain newly launched games failing to
achieve the expected performance level. The Group will continue the
parallel publishing model of web games and mobile games, vigorously
promote the H5 + Mobile innovation model, to enrich product types and
meet the preferences of different user groups.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)

EEHE (&)

PROSPECTS AND STRATEGIES OF THE
GROUP

In 2025, the Company will continue the parallel publishing model of web
games and mobile games to enrich our product types. We plan to continue
to vigorously promote the H5 + Mobile innovation model and launch
a number of new products with different themes in order to meet the
preferences of different user groups. In terms of platform infrastructure,
the Company will further optimize platform functions from the perspective
of users’ rights and interests. We will customize exclusive benefits for
each game’s micro-platform users to enhance user satisfaction and
loyalty. In terms of traffic expansion and user retention, the Company will
attract more potential users through its diversified product portfolio. At
the same time, by improving service quality and creating a multi-polarized
service system, the Group will provide personalized services to users at
different levels, effectively increasing player retention and user conversion
rates.

The Company will continue to increase its investment in high-quality game
publishing, and will comprehensively increase its player count and player
conversion through innovative marketing methods and refined operations.
At the same time, the Company will spare no effort in promoting the
internal cycle of self-development and self-optimization of the platform,
optimizing the synergistic efficiency of various aspects including the
research and development, operation and promotion of its platform. With
a more proactive attitude and an improved quality of service, we will
develop a beneficial external cycle model of platform building, research
and development and user mutual promotion, so as to promote the
continued and steady development of the Company within the gaming
industry.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to thank
the management of the Group and all our staff for their hard work over
the past year. | would also like to extend my sincere gratitude to our
Shareholders, business partners and stakeholders for their continued
support.

LU Yuanfeng
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, March 28, 2025
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREAEEEEN

Below are the brief profiles of the current Directors and senior

management of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, of which four are
executive Directors and three are independent non-executive Directors.

EE

The following table sets forth information regarding the Directors.

NTAAEERFESRSRERBENBHEEH -

EEeRNAtREREN  BERERRTESER
—BEIIFNTES - TREJIEHESNER -

Date of Appointment as

Name Age Position Director

"E FHe Wi BEERESHNAEEY

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. LU Yuanfeng 45 Chairman, executive Director and November 24, 2014
chief executive officer

BoE R U o 45 FF BOEEREFHNTE “E-mE+—A-+mA

Mr. HUANG Guozhan 45 Executive Director and chief November 2, 2015
operating officer

EE 45 HITEEREFEZLE —ZT-HF+—A=H

Mr. HUANG Degiang 51 Executive Director and chief June 28, 2017
technology officer

| L 51 ITEERBEREINE —ZE—+FRAZTNR

Ms. LUO Simin 43 Executive Director December 15, 2023

SRB& T 43 HITES —ZET-_=f+=ZATAA

Independent non-executive Directors

BAFHTES

Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton 63 Independent non-executive Director June 2, 2021

BEEHE 63 BUFNITES —E-—FRAZH

Mr. L1 Yi Wen 54 Independent non-executive Director November 24, 2017

BRI GEE 54 BUIMITES —T—+F+—A=+mWmA

Mr. LU Qibo 58 Independent non-executive Director October 3, 2019

ERUR KA 58 WUFHITES —Z-hF+A=H

PEHREBEEGRART T _INFEFIR



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EENEREEREN (F)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Yuanfeng, aged 45, is an executive Director, our chief executive
officer and the chairman of the Board. Mr. LU has overall responsibilities
for strategic planning and positioning and management of the Group.
Mr. LU founded our Group in June 2010 and was appointed as an
executive Director on November 24, 2014. He also serves as a director of
Hollywood BVI, Hollywood HK and Guangzhou You Lai.

Mr. LU has over 22 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to founding our Group, Mr. LU founded Guangzhou Blue Power
Digital Technology Company Limited (“Guangzhou Blue Power”) which
is primarily engaged in software development in May 2001 and served as
its chief executive officer from 2004 to January 2011, mainly responsible
for development, publication and operation of various games. From June
2001 to February 2004, Mr. LU served in various positions up to the chief
editor of the game channel at 21cn.com operated by 21CN Corporation
Limited which is primarily engaged in the provision of information
technology services.

Mr. LU graduated from Guangdong University of Technology with a
bachelor degree in architectural engineering on June 30, 2001. Mr. LU
is the spouse of Ms. LUO Simin, who is an executive Director of the
Company.

Mr. HUANG Guozhan, aged 45, is an executive Director and our chief
operating officer. Mr. HUANG oversees the strategic planning and
development for the game projects, and he is also responsible for the
operation and marketing of the Group. Mr. HUANG joined our Group in
June 2010 and was appointed as an executive Director on November 2,
2015. He also serves as a director of Now To Play Game, Beijing You
Tang, Guangzhou SYND and Beijing You Lai.

Mr. HUANG has over 17 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. HUANG served as a video game operation
and planning officer at Guangzhou Blue Power from January 2006 to
January 2011. From February 2003 to January 2006, he served as
a radio host at Guangzhou Sheng Se Chuan Bo Entertainment and
Production Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in installation services of
stage lighting and audio equipment and cultural communication, mainly
responsible for hosting and planning radio programs.

Mr. HUANG graduated from Guangdong University of Technology with
a bachelor degree in architectural engineering on June 30, 2002. Mr.
HUANG obtained a certificate as a host issued by the State Administration
of Radio, Film and Television on February 12, 2005.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EENEREEREN (F)

Mr. HUANG Degqgiang, aged 51, is an executive Director and our chief
technology officer. Mr. HUANG is responsible for developing information
technology and operation and maintenance of the Company. Mr. HUANG
joined our Group in June 2010 and was appointed as an executive
Director and the chief technology officer on June 28, 2017.

Mr. HUANG has over 17 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. HUANG served as the manager of the
technology department of Guangzhou Blue Power from October 2004 to
January 2011.

Mr. HUANG graduated from Guangdong Financial and Trade Cadre
Academy with a college degree in financial management in July 1997.
He was enrolled in Aptech Certified Computer Professional, an IT career
program taught by Aptech Beida Jade Bird, from December 2001 to June
2003. Mr. HUANG obtained a national certificate as an intermediate
programmer and a national certificate as a software engineer in
December 2002 and June 2003, respectively, both issued by the Ministry
of Labor and Social Security of the PRC (now known as the Ministry of
Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC). In August 2003, he
was also certified as a Sun Certified Programmer by Sun Microsystems,
Inc.

Ms. LUO Simin, aged 43, is an executive Director. Ms. LUO joined the
Group in 2014.

She is currently responsible for board matters, information disclosure and
investor relations management of the Group. Ms. LUO has over 21 years
of experience in the field of financial management. Ms. LUO worked in
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Guangzhou Branch (BEETIRMHDBERE A
BE M5 77) from October 2001 to July 2014, during which she acquired
extensive knowledge about the characteristics and risk assessment of
various financial products of the bank. In October 2014, Ms. LUO joined
the finance centre of the Group and was appointed as the financial
officer, during which, with her many years of experience in fund and risk
management, she provided the Group with fund risk management based
on global payments and diversified fund management solutions. Ms. LUO
served as the director of investor relations of the Group since December
2017. Adhering to her many years of financial services industry spirit and
excellent communication skills, she promotes investors’ understanding
and recognition of the business philosophy and development prospects
of the Company. Ms. LUO graduated from China Central Radio and
Television University (FAEZEEBRAZL) in 2009, majoring in finance.
Ms. LUO is the spouse of Mr. LU Yuanfeng, who is an executive Director,
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EENEREEREN (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton, aged 63, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company.

Professor CHAU has over 37 years of experience in venture development
and investment. Professor CHAU has led a number of projects in the
Asia-Pacific region and has extensive experience in investment on
technology companies. He has served in Temasek, a venture capital fund
in Singapore, mainly responsible for investment business in the North
Asia Region and concurrently served as vice chairman or director for a
number of technology companies; and has also served as independent
director and member of audit committee of various state-owned
enterprises in China. Currently he is the founding chairman of the
Pan-Asia Venture Development Platform (PAVD) and a vice chairman
of the Hong Kong Biotechnology Organization (HKBio). In addition, he
is on the board of several technology ventures and listed companies,
including China Three Gorges International Limited, where he is acting as
an independent director and Meilleure Health International Industry Group
Limited (2327.HK), a health care medical operator, where he is acting as
an independent director and the chairman of the audit committee.

In the academic area, Professor CHAU is a Professor of Practice in
Entrepreneurship in the Business School, the Chinese University of
Hong Kong (CUHK), and an Adjunct Professor in the Shenzhen Finance
Institute, developing and teaching MBM, MBA, and EMBA courses
covering topics of new venture creation, entrepreneurship, venture capital
and private equity and conducting study trips to Singapore, Malaysia and
Taiwan. Under his leadership, PAVD also cooperates with postgraduate
programs of several universities, including the Chinese University of
Hong Kong (Shenzhen), the Singapore Management University and
the National Taiwan University of Science and Technology, to provide
entrepreneurship training and help existing technology ventures or SMEs
develop their own commercialization program and fundraising strategy in
Asia. Professor CHAU was also an Adjunct Professor in the Department
of Strategy and Policy at the Business School of the National University
of Singapore, teaching MBA courses covering topics of technology
innovation and venture capital.

Professor CHAU holds a bachelor's degree in applied mathematics, a
bachelor’s degree in law and a master’s and doctorate degree in business
administration. He is also a member of the Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants.

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024

BMFHATES

AEEHE 635 0 RARFNBIIFRITES -

FAHEREBBITFLERERLIRELR A2
BREAERERINER - ARERENHEEZ
EHRETAR - tHEREAMRARNEFLELR
b ZEBNFINBORFTHE THEIRES - AT
TRER  TERTEZZMBZELENRESTER
HEF TERETATPERAEREENBERE
SARBEZREB - M MBER/REREMETFSE
(PAVD)RISE AR EE « BEEWREN & (HKBIio)
BIERMEXMEEER ETARNES - BHF
B = IR BEIFRAD B IR A R B L & = A KRR
RamEn R EEREZESEER AR (2327.HK)
MBYEEREARBEEIE -

BHFREEMAGAEER  BREFAPXKRES
ERAXEEHENFISESRARREREY
% ATEESELT(MBM) - THEEERELT(MBA) R
TRABIEEEELT(EMBA)RA REUREIH A
¥ AR KAIRERE - WAHAMBEFTNE - KA
TRAESEZEZ MO ME o el AIPAVDHE
ZRBERERE (BREEBFICKREZ ORI - 370
FKERBKRE PR ERREKRE)HNITHRAE KT
RERBEIE - REAIE RERE - AIESI
HYRBARMER P NP EETMNAREE
EMEERE - NS ENIER T KEFERR
B RFTEIZRRFHE - HARIEERBLIRERAH
RAIFRESRE -

BAHEANEREABRBELEN  EEBELE
iz - THEBRBELEUNELEM - WIHBRES
HARGHMAENSRBEESAER
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Mr. LI Yi Wen, aged 54, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. LI
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on November
24, 2017.

Mr. LI has over 17 years of experience in the information technology
industry.

Mr. LI has served as a director of Aleo BME, Inc. which is primarily
engaged in biotechnology research and development since January
2016. He served as a director of Ningbo Lehui International Engineering
Equipment Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in development,
manufacturing of industrial equipment from March 2016 to November
2018. From January 2011 to October 2013, he also served as a
director, chief financial supervisor and secretary of the board at Guiyang
Longmaster Information & Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300288) which is primarily
engaged in wireless games and Internet medical service. He served as
the general manager of Sina Net Technology (China) Co., Ltd. which is
primarily engaged in wireless games and deputy manager of Guangzhou
Xunlong Technology Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in wireless
games from October 2002 to February 2004 and June 2001 to October

2002, respectively.

Mr. LU Qibo, aged 58, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. LU
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on October 3,
2019.

Mr. LU has over 26 years of experience in media and internet industry.

Mr. LU served as the chief executive officer of Guangdong Senlong Group
from May 2018 to December 2018. From 2014 to 2017, Mr. LU worked
as the president of KUFM of Guangzhou Kugou Computer Technology
Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Tencent Music Entertainment Group, which
is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: TME). Tencent
Music Entertainment Group is a subsidiary of Tencent Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
700). Mr. LU founded Shengse Chuanbo Inc. in 1997 and served as its
chief executive officer and an executive director from 1997 to 2010. Mr.
LU served as an anchorman in Guangdong People’s Radio Station from
1989 to 1995.

Mr. LU completed his junior college study at South China Normal
University in July 1989.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EENEREEREN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LU Yuanfeng, see the above “Executive Directors” for details.

Mr. HUANG Guozhan, see the above “Executive Directors” for details.
Mr. HUANG Degiang, see the above “Executive Directors” for details.

Mr. SHI Lijia, aged 41, joined our Group as a vice president on August
17, 2015. He is primarily responsible for the overall management of the
research and development of the Group.

Mr. SHI has over 14 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. SHI served as the game producer in certain
medium and large companies which are researching and developing
game products from March 2010 to April 2015, mainly responsible for

game development and general administration.

Mr. SHI graduated from Lanzhou University with a bachelor degree in
information and computing sciences in 2007.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERBwWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE
PROSPECTS

In 2024, the global economy and network ecosystem faced a complex and
difficult situation. The US dollar encountered continued hikes in interest
rates, which resulted in the macro-economy experiencing predicaments
such as deflation as well as the dampening of market consumption and
investment activity. Meanwhile, network environment security also faced
great difficulty, with user data security and the stable operation of the
platform facing unprecedented challenges.

Confronting these difficulties, the Company has leveraged its keen market
insight and decisive strategic decisions to actively explore its mobile
platform business model, and has invested a large amount of resources in
order to complete the development and operation of its mobile platform.
Today, our platform has adapted to multi-platformed entertainment,
with smooth and seamless entertainment available on desktop, laptop
and tablet computers as well as mobile phones, satisfying the needs of
players in different entertainment scenarios, enhancing the user retention
on the platform, thereby mitigating the increasing promotional and
customer acquisitional costs.

In 2024, the existing products of the Company’s mobile games business
have smoothly transited to new products. By optimizing our product mix,
promoting a smooth transition between new and existing products, and
developing regional versions of classic products, the newly launched
mobile games have also formed a product matrix within Latin America.
Among them, League of Angels: Pact has launched a new European
version and Latin American version, a number of new products such
as Bomb Saga and Saga Das Runas have also launched in the Latin
American market, with the actual number of users within Latin America
increasing several-fold, becoming an important category of growth for the
mobile game publishing sector. In terms of mobile game publishing, the
platform-based launch of Gamehollywood serves to meet the diversified
needs of users across different regions of the globe, significantly
accelerating publishing speeds and achieving outstanding performance in
both user activity and user spending through refined operations.
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In the web-based game publishing sector, the Company has continued to
enhance the competitiveness of its new products. In 2024, the number of
platform-based web game products introduced reached 15, and we have
successfully enlarged our global market share through our multi-language
and multi-platform release strategy. Products such as Titan Revenge, Idle
Saga, Goddess Connect, Immortals Revenge and Crimson Angel, with
diversified themes and gameplay, have brought more web-based game
players from different audiences to our platform and has enriched the
product matrix of our platform.

In 2025, the Company will continue the parallel publishing model of web
games and mobile games to enrich our product types. We plan to continue
to vigorously promote the H5 + Mobile innovation model and launch
a number of new products with different themes in order to meet the
preferences of different user groups. In terms of platform infrastructure,
the Company will further optimize platform functions from the perspective
of users’ rights and interests. We will customize exclusive benefits for
each game’s micro-platform users to enhance user satisfaction and
loyalty. In terms of traffic expansion and user retention, the Company will
attract more potential users through its diversified product portfolio. At
the same time, by improving service quality and creating a multi-polarized
service system, the Group will provide personalized services to users at
different levels, effectively increasing player retention and user conversion
rates.

The Company will continue to increase its investment in high-quality
game publishing, and will comprehensively increase the its player
count and player conversion through innovative marketing methods and
refined operations. At the same time, the Company will spare no effort
in promoting the internal cycle of self-development and self-optimization
of the platform, optimizing the synergistic efficiency of various aspects
including the research and development, operation and promotion of
its platform. With a more proactive attitude and an improved quality of
service, we will develop a beneficial external cycle model of platform
building, research and development and user mutual promotion, so as to
promote the continued and steady development of the Company within
the gaming industry.
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INDUSTRY OUTLOOK AND GROUP
STRATEGIES

Please refer to the section headed “Chairman’s Statement — Prospects
and strategies of the Group” in this annual report for industry outlook and
Group strategies.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our operations and prospects and future financial results involve, and
could be materially and adversely affected by, certain risks. The following
highlights the principal risks exposed to the Group and is not meant to be
exhaustive:

A small number of games have contributed a substantial majority of
our revenue.

We work with game distribution platforms to distribute our games,
and our business may be materially and adversely affected if
they breach their contractual obligations, or if we fail to maintain
relationships with a sufficient number of platforms, or if the platforms
lose popularity among Internet users.

Our growth prospects will suffer if we are unable to successfully
implement our game development strategies on mobile and HTML5
games.

Our businesses rely on our data analysis capabilities, any impact on
which would materially and adversely affect our ability to formulate
appropriate business strategies.

Our steady growth during the past years may not be indicative of our
future growth, and our limited operating history makes it difficult to
evaluate our growth prospects and future financial results.

If we fail to successfully execute our growth strategies, including
launching games of new genres, themes or operating formats and
investing in new technologies, our future results of operations and
growth prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

Protecting user and customer data are our top priorities, and we are
fully aware that any loss or leakage of such information could have
a significant negative impact on the affected users and customers
and our reputation. This could in turn lead to potential legal actions
against us.
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. The Internet and technology industry are still evolving yet getting
more mature. Regulatory authorities in different jurisdictions have
been, in an attempt to keep up with such evolution, heightening
respective regulatory requirements. As we continuously expand
our businesses in the PRC and overseas to more countries
and jurisdictions, it is required to keep up and comply with the
relevant applicable laws and regulations in different countries
and jurisdictions, including but not limited to laws relating to data
protection, Internet information and cyber security, IP, gaming,
Internet finance, etc. In addition, development of various industries
around the world may be impacted by regulatory uncertainties.

To mitigate the identified risks, the Company improves its management
capability and adaptability and further ensures the realisation of the
business objectives and sustainable growth. We aim at implementing the
following strategies to further capture players and enhance profitability of
our games:

. Our growth depends on our ability to continuously launch new
games that attract and retain a significant number of users, in order
to grow our revenue and maintain our competitiveness.

. We strengthen our relationships with major international game
publishing and distribution partners to expand the reach of our
games to new countries and regions.

. We further strengthen and expand our mobile and HTML5 games
portfolio by developing additional high-quality mobile and HTML5
games, and offer more specific value-adding features to enrich
users’ game experience on devices.

. Our team members can utilise various data analysis engines to
collect and store all user behaviour data in a timely manner.

. We continue to offer new games and enhance our existing games,
maintain and expand our collaboration with game distribution
platforms, anticipate and adapt to evolving user interests, industry
trends and market conditions.

. We have expanded our product offerings to attract a demographically
diverse user community and will continue to identify new genres with
high monetization potential from game developers, meanwhile we
actively enhance our in-house research and development capabilities.
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. We are obliged to protect user and customer data, and as such,
we strive to provide the highest level of protection on such
information and data. In this regard, we have formulated and
kept optimising control measures to protect such information
and data. Information security is ensured through effective
management systems, encryption, access restrictions and controls,
and continuously improving the business continuity and disaster
recovery management. In addition, we arrange regular reviews by
independent specialists over our data protection practices; and
provides training for staff to enhance their awareness of information
security.

. We have invested enormous compliance resources and efforts to
ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulatory requirements.
This includes setting up special department and specialist team,
as well as engaging external professional consultants to work
closely with management to track on changes in relevant laws and
regulations; and take appropriate responding actions or measures to
ensure us is in compliance with such applicable laws and regulations
in the PRC and overseas. In addition, we also engage in active
dialogue with relevant regulatory authorities, and exchange view and
information with relevant regulatory authorities on the market trends
and the development of Internet and technology industry.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview

For FY2024, loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately US$3.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately
US$2.6 million or 44.4% from approximately US$5.8 million for FY2023.
Non-IFRS Accounting Standards adjusted loss attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately US$3.2 million for FY2024,
representing a decrease of approximately US$2.6 million or 44.4% from
approximately US$5.8 million for FY2023.

Revenue

For FY2024, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately US$9.1
million, representing a decrease of approximately US$0.8 million or 8.6%
from approximately US$9.9 million for FY2023. The decline in revenue
was mainly due to (i) certain matured games generating less revenue
compared to FY2023; and (ii) certain newly launched games failing to
achieve the expected performance level. The Group will continue the
parallel publishing model of web games and mobile games, vigorously
promote the H5 + Mobile innovation model, to enrich product types and
meet the preferences of different user groups.
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Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit Margin

For FY2024, cost of revenue of the Group amounted to approximately
US$4.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately US$0.9 million
or 15.4% as compared with approximately US$5.8 million for FY2023.
The gross profit margin of the Group increased from approximately 41.4%
for FY2023 to 45.7% for FY2024.

Other Losses, Net

For FY2024, other losses of the Group amounted to approximately
US$0.2 million, as compared with other losses of the Group amounted to
approximately US$0.1 million for FY2023. The other losses of the Group
for FY2024 primarily consisted of the net exchange loss resulting from
exchange rate fluctuations in the current year.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

For FY2024, selling and marketing expenses of the Group amounted to
approximately US$3.4 million, representing a decrease of approximately
US$0.2 million or 4.7% from approximately US$3.6 million for FY2023,
primarily due to decrease in staff cost.

Administrative Expenses

For FY2024, administrative expenses of the Group amounted to
approximately US$2.4 million, representing a decrease of approximately
US$1.7 million or 40.2% from approximately US$4.1 million for FY2023.
The decrease in administrative expenses was mainly due to a decrease
in provision for impairment of prepayment.

Research and Development Expenses

For FY2024,
amounted to approximately US$1.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately US$0.4 million or 23.3% from approximately US$1.8 million
for FY2023, primarily due to developing program reduction.

research and development expenses of the Group

Net Impairment Losses on Financial Assets

For FY2024, net impairment losses on financial assets of the Group
amounted to approximately US$0.2 million, as compared to approximately
US$0.2 million for FY2023.
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Income Tax Expense

For FY2024, income tax expense of the Group amounted to approximately
US$0.2 million, as compared to approximately US$0.1 million for FY2023.

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

As a result of the above, loss attributable to owners of the Company
decreased by approximately US$2.6 million or 44.4% from approximately
US$5.8 million for FY2023 to approximately US$3.2 million for FY2024.

Non-IFRS Accounting Standards Adjusted Loss
Attributable to Owners of the Company

To supplement this Annual Report which is presented in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards, we also use unaudited non-IFRS Accounting
Standards adjusted loss attributable to owners of the Company as an
additional financial measure to evaluate our financial performance by
eliminating the impact of items that we do not consider indicative of the
performance of our business.

For FY2024, non-IFRS Accounting Standards adjusted loss attributable
to owners of the Company amounted to approximately US$3.2 million,
representing a decrease of approximately US$2.6 million or 44.4% from
approximately US$5.8 million in FY2023. Our non-IFRS Accounting
Standards adjusted loss attributable to owners of the Company in FY2024
and FY2023 was calculated according to the loss attributable to the
owners of the Company for the respective years, excluding share-based
compensation of nil in FY2024 and FY2023.

Liquidity, Treasury Policy and Source of Funding
and Borrowing

As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s total bank balances, cash
and short-term deposits amounted to approximately US$19.1 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 14.3% as compared with
approximately US$22.3 million as at December 31, 2023. The decrease
in total bank balances, cash and short-term deposits during the year was
primarily resulted from the increase in the net cash flow used in investing
activities.
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As at December 31, 2024, current assets of the Group amounted to
approximately US$25.3 million, including bank balances, cash and
short-term deposits of approximately US$19.1 million and other current
assets of approximately US$6.2 million. Current liabilities of the Group
amounted to approximately US$7.5 million, including trade payables
and contract liabilities of approximately US$2.4 million and other current
liabilities of approximately US$5.1 million. As at December 31, 2024, the
current ratio (the current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group
was 3.4 as compared with 3.5 as at December 31, 2023. The Group
adopts a prudent treasury management policy to ensure that our Group
maintains a healthy financial position.

Gearing ratio is calculated on the basis of total borrowings (net of cash
and cash equivalents) over the Group’s total equity. The Group does not
have any bank borrowings and other debt financing obligations (excluding
lease liabilities) as at December 31, 2024 and the gearing ratio is nil (as
at December 31, 2023: nil). The Group intends to finance the expansion,
investments and business operations with internal resources.

Significant Investments

The Group did not have any material investments during FY2024.

Material Acquisitions

The Group did not have any material acquisitions of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during FY2024.

Material Disposals

The Group did not have any material disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during FY2024.

Pledge of Assets

As at December 31, 2024, none of the Group’s assets was pledged (as at
December 31, 2023: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at December 31, 2024
(as at December 31, 2023: nil).

Capital Commitment

The Group’s capital commitments amounted to approximately US$0.6
million as at December 31, 2024 (as at December 31, 2023: nil).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

As at December 31, 2024, the Group mainly operated in the global market
and majority of its transactions were settled in United States Dollars (the
“USD”), being the functional currency of the group entities to which the
transactions relate. We currently do not hedge transactions undertaken in
foreign currencies but manage our exposure through constant monitoring
to limit as much as possible the amount of our foreign currencies
exposures. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The Group operates
internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to Renminbi (‘RMB”),
Euro (“EUR”) and Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”). As at December 31, 2024,
the Group did not have significant foreign currency exposure from its
operations.

Events Occurred Since the End of FY2024

The Group did not have any significant events after December 31, 2024
and up to the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance by focusing on principles of integrity,
accountability, transparency, independence, responsibility and fairness.
The Company has developed and implemented sound corporate
governance policies and measures, and the Board is responsible for
performing such corporate governance duties. The Board continues to
review and monitor the corporate governance of the Company, as well as
various internal policies and procedures, including but not limited to those
applicable to the relevant employees and Directors, with reference to the
CG Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules and other applicable
legal and regulatory requirements so as to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance of the Company.

During FY2024, the Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions of the Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
except for the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG
Code as disclosed below.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. However, the Company does not
separate the roles of chairman and chief executive officer and Mr. LU
Yuanfeng currently performs both roles. With extensive experience in the
internet industry, Mr. LU Yuanfeng is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and general management of the Group and is instrumental to
the Company’s growth and business expansion since its establishment
on November 24, 2014. The Board considers that vesting the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer in the same person is beneficial to
the management of the Group. The balance of power and authority is
ensured by the operation of the senior management and the Board, which
comprises experienced individuals. The Board currently comprises four
executive Directors (including Mr. LU Yuanfeng) and three independent
non-executive Directors, and therefore has a fairly strong independence
element in its composition.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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CORPORATE CULTURE

The Company offers a diverse selection of games consisting primarily of
casual games, mid- and hardcore games in both web and mobile formats
to a demographically diverse user community. The Company firmly
believes that pooling people who agree with and adhere to the common
pursuit of long-term goals in creating cohesion is the most valuable and
worth-inheriting asset.

The Company promotes corporate culture in alignment with its core
values and vision, which enables the Company to deliver its long-term
strategies and create sustainable value for shareholders and other
stakeholders. More information about the Group’s core values is set out
under the “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT”
section of this annual report.

The Directors take the lead in promoting the desired corporate culture
and ensuring that it is reflected consistently in the policies and operating
practices. Corporate culture and expected behaviours are clearly
communicated to employees through orientation and training. Cultural
elements are included in the employee performance measurement to
incentivize the desired culture.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance, and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs, and assumes the
ultimate responsibility for preparing the accounts. The Board has general
powers for the management and operation of the Company’s business.
The day-to-day operations and management are delegated by the Board
to the management of the Company, who implements the strategy and
direction as determined by the Board.

The Board currently consists of seven Directors, namely Mr. LU Yuanfeng
(chairman and chief executive officer), Mr. HUANG Guozhan, Mr. HUANG
Degiang and Ms. LUO Simin as executive Directors, and Professor
CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton, Mr. LI Yi Wen and Mr. LU Qibo as independent
non-executive Directors. Save for Ms. LUO Simin being the spouse of
Mr. LU Yuanfeng, who is the executive Director, Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of the Company, none of the Directors have a relationship
(including financial, business, family or material/relevant relationship) with
each other. The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Company.
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The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 20 to 23 of this
annual report.

Code provision B.2.2 of Part 2 of the CG Code states that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the Articles, all the Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation at an annual general meeting of the Company at least once
every three years. Any new Director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a
casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company following his appointment and shall be subject to
re-election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall hold
office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company and the Company has issued letters of appointment to
each of the independent non-executive Directors. Each of the executive
Directors is appointed for a term of one to three years and is subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Each of the
independent non-executive Directors is appointed for a term of one to
three years, subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. The terms of the service contracts and the letters of appointment
may be renewed in accordance with the Articles, the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions to
pension schemes, share-based compensation expenses, discretionary
bonuses, housing and other allowances and other benefits in kind)
payable to the Directors for FY2024 was approximately USDO0.2 million.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the Directors and performance of the Group. Details of the remuneration
of the Directors and senior management for FY2024 are set out in Note
13 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024

EXZEREHNAFME20E23F

EEERTAM TR E 8D FB.2.21%7
B EREF(BERAKEANNES) EHAR

Fr208=F-R-

RIFEMERMAY  FEEZERESEB=FHELR
ARRBEFAEHERE-R BEZSRMEGMN
EREZeREEZRNEMNHESRETRELE
ZERNARBEBEBRARE AL - fERATAEZ
REg LEREE R()HEREEFSFEINEM
MEEEREARARR T —ERRBFRERI
[EES S & BRBEIEE -

ERTERCEARFNLRBELN - MARAE
AEBLFRTESEFHRER - SRITESR—
E-FEHEZT URAELEB=FHFEREI—
R BFIFPTESR -E=-FEHEZRE I
RELB=FRERE—R - RBEEOREERF
HAIRBAMERAR - ETRAREREGER
EDIEE -

—E_OMBEE BENEENAFH(2ER
& Fe  BEEFTEIMHI - RN RER N H M
X - BISELA  EEREMRMUREMEYE
FAE*KNKO2BEET -

BEEHMI2ENELRATMINNG S  EF
BANKBRMBEARAEENRREE - —T=
M RFENEFERSAEREOFMFIED I
Ra P BEREMES -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERE (H)

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal proceedings against the Directors.

The Board has agreed, as stipulated in code provision C.5.6 of Part
2 of the CG Code, on the procedure agreed to enable Directors,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors of at least
one-third of the Board.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

The Directors have access to the services of the company secretary to
ensure that the Board procedures are followed. The company secretary
of the Company is Mr. WONG Wai Chiu. Mr. WONG Wai Chiu is the
associate director of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited and he has the necessary qualifications and experience as
required under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. In compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. WONG Wai Chiu has undertaken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended
December 31, 2024. During FY2024, the main contact person of Mr.
WONG Wai Chiu in the Company is Mr. LU Yuanfeng.
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During FY2024, the following Directors have participated in continuous

professional development by attending in-house briefing or reading

materials on the following topics to develop and refresh their knowledge

and skills:

RZZB_MOHMRFE  THNESLEBERATE
RN EEHRREE R ERBEEEER - A
FEE AN R 15 A0 AR S R BE

Event/Reading
Materials notes

SEE),BIE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. LU Yuanfeng R R & S A 1,2
Mr. HUANG Guozhan HEELEA 1,2
Mr. HUANG Degiang EHEREA 1,2
Ms. LUO Simin SREBHEZ T 1,2
Independent non-executive Directors BIKHITES
Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton BEEHE 1,2
Mr. LI Yi Wen FRXEE 1
Mr. LU Qibo JERUR S A4 1
Notes: B 7
1. Reading materials relevant to corporate governance and regulations. 1. FEEBOEERREBNMHE -
2. Attending training session(s) relevant to corporate governance and 2. HEARAREER ARSI
regulations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties in
accordance with A.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance functions
include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

In 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the Board has performed
the corporate governance duties in accordance with its terms of
reference.

MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT
VIEWS AND INPUTS ARE AVAILABLE TO
THE BOARD

Each Director is entitled to have access to further information and
documents on matters discussed at Board meetings. As part of a
mechanism to ensure that independent views and inputs are available
to Directors, a written procedure has been established since August
2022 which will be reviewed annually to enable each Director to seek
external independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the expense of the Company. The Board shall resolve to provide
independent advice to Directors in order to assist them in discharging
their responsibilities to the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy which aims to
build and maintain a Board with a diversity of Directors, in terms of
skills, professional experience, educational background, knowledge,
expertise, culture, independence, age and gender. A truly diverse Board
will include and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and
industry experience, cultural and educational background, race, gender
and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All Board
appointments will be based on merit while taking into account diversity
(including gender diversity).

The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board, but in identifying and selecting
such candidates to serve as a director of the Company, the Nomination
Committee would consider the above criteria necessary to complement
the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate,
before making recommendations to the Board.

The Board will take opportunities to increase the ratio of female members
over time when selecting and making recommendations on eligible
candidates for Board appointments. The Board will ensure that an
appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to
stakeholders’ expectations and international and local recommended best
practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender equality.

The Company seeks diversity of members from multiple perspectives in
designing the composition of the Board, including gender, cultural and
education background, as well as professional experience. As at the
date of this annual report, the Board consists of seven Directors, one of
whom is female director, thus achieving the goal of gender diversity in
the Board. Directors are with an extensive background in fields such as
finance, accounting, audit, economics and management, while some of
them have multiple professional backgrounds. The Board will also review
the board diversity policy on an annual basis.
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As at December 31, 2024, male employees accounted for 66% and
female employees accounted for 34% of all employees (including
senior management) of the Group. To achieve gender diversity, we are
committed to creating gender-neutral positions in our working environment
to become a gender-balanced company. The gender balance scheme
includes hiring more female based on the qualifications, experience and
skills required for those positions. In addition, we may face the issue of
whether the supply of personnel in the human resources market meets
the academic qualifications, experience and skills requirements of the
positions within the Group. Despite these challenges, we are still moving
towards gender balance.

BOARD MEETING

The Company adopts a practice to convene Board meetings regularly
which is at least four meetings per year and roughly on a quarterly basis.
A notice of a regular Board meeting shall be delivered to all the Directors
at least 14 days in advance with the matters to be discussed specified in
agenda of the meeting. For other Board and Board Committees meetings,
reasonable notice is generally served. Agendas or relevant documents
of the Board or Board Committees meetings shall be despatched to the
Directors or members of the Board Committees at least 3 days prior to
the convening of the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time
to review the relevant documents and be adequately prepared for the
meetings. When Directors or Board committee members are unable to
attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and
given an opportunity to make their views known to the chairman prior
to the meeting. The minutes are kept by the company secretary of the
Company and the copies are circulated to all Directors for reference and
record purpose.

The minutes of the meetings of the Board and the Board Committees
thoroughly recorded all matters under consideration and decisions made
by consensus including any problems raised by the Directors. Draft
minutes of each Board meeting and the Board Committees meeting are
sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held. Directors have a right to review the minutes
of the Board meetings and the Board Committees meetings.

According to code provision C.5.1 of Part 2 of the Code, board meetings
should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals with active participation of the majority of the Directors, either in
person or through electronic means of communication.
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Four Board meetings and the AGM for 2024 were held during FY2024.
The Directors’ attendance is listed below:

$ AR E_MUREFEANERTOAESS
BERZZ_NFRRAFAE - SBEZZ2HER)
ﬁ@WT-

Attendance/
Number of meetings
eligible to attend

HERE,
EHEER XK
Board meeting AGM for 2024
—EmEF
EEEER BRRBFAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. LU Yuanfeng BRI 5T A 4/4 11
Mr. HUANG Guozhan HERESTAE 4/4 11
Mr. HUANG Degiang =EREL 4/4 11
Ms. LUO Simin EREH L 4/4 11
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHITESE
Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton BEEHE 2/4 1/1
Mr. LI Yi Wen FRNE 2/4 11
Mr. LU Qibo ERUK St 2/4 11
BOARD COMMITTEES Egéﬁg
The Company has three Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee, /N —AEEZEg  BEZRZEE 2%
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Each of the % E@&#ﬁ@ﬂi%@ c REESLZ B SR HBRE

Board Committees operates under its terms of reference. The terms of
reference of the Board Committees are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules. The Company has also amended the terms of reference
of the Audit Committee reflecting the changes to the Code in respect
of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems, which
became effective on November 24, 2017. The Company further amended
the terms of reference of the Audit Committee on November 23, 2018 and
December 30, 2022. The Audit Committee consists of three members,
namely Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton, Mr. LI Yi Wen and Mr. LU
Qibo, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors. Professor
CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton has been appointed as the chairman of the Audit
Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise, and provide an independent view of the effectiveness of the
financial reporting process, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, oversee the audit process and perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

Two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during FY2024. The
attendance of the committee members is listed below:
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Attendance/
Number of meetings
eligible to attend

HERE
Member RE EHEEBRH
Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton BEEHX 2/2
Mr. LI Yi Wen FRNTE 2/2
Mr. LU Qibo ERUR St 2/2

For FY2024, the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s audited
annual results for the year ended December 31, 2023 and the Group’s
unaudited interim results for the six months ended June 30, 2024, and
was of the opinion that the preparation of the relevant financial statements
complied with the applicable accounting standards and requirements and
that adequate disclosure has been made. The Audit Committee provided
an independent view of the risk management and internal governance
systems of the Group. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and selection
and appointment of the external auditors.
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Further, during FY2024, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness
of the internal audit function of the Group to ensure that it is in
compliance with the agreed procedures and standards. The Audit
Committee found that the existing systems are adequate and contributes
to the effectiveness of the Company’s operations, the reliability of
financial reporting as well as the Group’s compliance with applicable laws
and regulations.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, being Mr. LI Yi Wen and Mr. LU Qibo, and one
executive Director, being Mr. LU Yuanfeng, who is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing and
assessing the composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations to
the Board on appointment and removal of Directors. In recommending
candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination Committee will
convene a meeting to consider candidates on merit against objective
criteria and with due regards to the benefits of the Board. The Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations or nominations to the Board
for candidates to fill a casual vacancy or for those who are elected at a
general meeting. A notice issued to shareholders will provide information
on the candidates. The Board shall make the final decision on all matters
in respect of the election of its proposed candidates at any general
meeting. The selection criteria for Board members will be considered
from a number of perspectives, including but not limited to all aspects of
integrity, achievement, experience and diversity, such as gender, age,
cultural and educational background, industry experience, technical and
professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge, length of services and
time to be devoted as a Director. The Company will also take into account
factors relating to its own business model and specific needs from time
to time. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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One meeting of the Nomination Committee were held during FY2024. The
attendance of the committee members is listed below:

RZZF-_WHBFE  REZBEERTT K
o BB ZHEBREIN T
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Attendance/
Number of meetings
eligible to attend

ERE

Member RE Bﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ B

Mr. LU Yuanfeng il 11

Mr. L1 Yi Wen FREAE 11

Mr. LU Qibo BERUL L& 11
During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Nomination Committee HE_Z-_NWE+_A=+—HILEFE  RBEZE

reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed
the independence of independent non-executive Directors, and
considered the re-election of retiring Directors for 2024 AGM and made
recommendations to the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee has three members,
comprising two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LI
Yi Wen and Mr. LU Qibo, and one executive Director, namely Mr. LU
Yuanfeng. Mr. LI Yi Wen is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;
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(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

(f) to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

(g) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;

(h) to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration;

(i) where the service contract of a Director or proposed director of
the Company or its subsidiaries is required to be approved by
the Shareholders pursuant to Rule 13.68 of the Listing Rules, the
Remuneration Committee (or an independent board committee)
shall form a view in respect of such service contract and advise
Shareholders (other than shareholders who are Directors with a
material interest in such service contract and their associates)
as to whether the terms are fair and reasonable, advise whether
such service contract is in the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole and advise Shareholders on how to vote;
and

(j) to consider all other matters as referred to the Remuneration
Committee by the Board.

In carrying out its duties under these terms of reference, the
Remuneration Committee should:

(a) provide the remuneration packages sufficient to attract and retain
Directors to run the Company successfully without paying more than
is necessary;

(b) be sensitive to the wider scene, including pay and employment

conditions elsewhere, especially when determining annual salary
increases;
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(c) ensure that the performance-related elements of remuneration
form a significant proportion of the total remuneration package of
executive Directors of the Company and should be designed to align
their interest with those of Shareholders and to give these Directors
keen incentives to perform at the highest levels; and

(d) ensure that executive share options (if any) are offered in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee were held during FY2024.
The attendance of the committee members is listed below:

(c) MERFMMBEBAEEIRS BEKRERRMITE
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iR

(d) HMERITHBRABBRE(WE)TER ETHHRL

R-F_MNHMBFEE FMEESETT K
o BREZHEBREINWT

8

Attendance/
Number of meetings
eligible to attend

HERE
Member BE EHEEEIH
Mr. L1 Yi Wen TR E 11
Mr. LU Yuanfeng R R U 5 A 11
Mr. LU Qibo BERUE L& 11

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Remuneration Committee
surveyed peer companies’ remuneration packages and reviewed the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and the management.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding dealings in the securities
of the Company by the Directors and the Group’s senior management
who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside
information in relation to the Group or the Company’s securities.

Having made specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code during the year under review. In addition,
the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by
the senior management of the Group during the year under review.
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FRAMEWORK FOR DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has in place a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information (the “Policy”) which sets out the procedures and
internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside information in a
timely manner in such a way so as not to place any person in a privileged
dealing position and to allow time for the market to determine the price of
the listed securities of the Company with the latest available information.
This Policy also provides guidelines to staff of the Company to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent the Company from breaching the
statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate internal
control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited has been appointed as the external
auditor of the Group for the financial year ended December 31, 2024.

For FY2024, the fees paid/payable for audit and non-audit services
(primarily related to agreed-upon procedures for results announcement)
are approximately USD248,641 and USD1,282, respectively.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow during FY2024.
A statement from the auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out on pages 112 to 114 of this annual report.
In preparing the financial statements for FY2024, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The basis on which the Company generates or preserves value over the
longer term and the strategy for delivering its objectives are explained in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 25 to 33 of
this annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the Group’s
assets and Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems on an annual
basis so as to ensure that internal control and risk management systems
in place are adequate. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Company also has an internal audit function
which primarily carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at
least an annual basis. The Company implements and strictly enforces
procedures on inside information according to the relevant procedures
stated under the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information.

The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and
authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted to
individual department which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance and is required to operate its own department’s business
within the scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly
adhere to the strategies and policies set by the Company from time to
time. Each department is also required to keep the Board informed of
material developments of the department’s business and to implement
the policies and strategies set by the Board on a regular basis so as to
identify, evaluate and manage significant risks in a timely manner.

During FY2024, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group to ensure that a sound
system is maintained and operated by the management in compliance
with the agreed procedures and standards. The review covered all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions. In particular, the Board considered the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions are adequate. The review was conducted through discussions
with the management of the Company, its external auditor and the
assessment performed by the Audit Committee. The Board believes that
the existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate
and effective, in particular, for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance as well as for resolving internal control defects (if any).
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CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During FY2024, there was no significant change in constitutional
documents of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

Under Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholders holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company may at all times have the right, by a written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to
require the convening of an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If, within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward
at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

The Board is not aware of any provision allowing the Shareholders to put
forward proposals at general meetings of the Company under the Articles
and the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish
to put forward proposals at general meetings may refer to the preceding
paragraph to make a written requisition to require the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.
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Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director are published on the Company’s website.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company as follows:

Address: 2nd Floor, No. 368 Jiang Nan Da Dao (South), Haizhu District,
Guangzhou, PRC

Attention: Office of the Board
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Communication with Shareholders and Investors
Relations

The Board established a Shareholders’ Communication Policy in
November 2017 which was subsequently amended in December 2022.
It is reviewed regularly and aims to ensure that Shareholders and the
investment community are provided with information about the Company
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and plans, material
developments and corporate governance) in a timely manner, in order to
enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and
to enhance the communication between the Shareholders, the investment
community and the Company.

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Company’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and the
investment community, in particular, through the Company’s financial
reports (i.e. the interim and annual reports), annual general meetings
and other general meetings that may be convened, as well as making
available all corporate communications on the Company’s website.

Shareholders may direct their questions about their shareholdings
to the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar and may at any time
contact the Company’s Investor Relations Department or the Company
Secretary to enquire about the information published by the Company. In
addition, Shareholders and the investment community shall be provided
with designated contacts, email addresses and phone numbers of the
Company to enable them to make any queries in respect of the Company.

EMRERAGREENRFHBEEIRREAF
@k -

BRMESSFELREAER  RRAUSEEEHE
RERRQA  HHEAT

Hodb : BRI TS IRIR T R A E R 368 5 — 8

ST NI =8 /N
ARRB I EERIEABRNKERNEN -

ERRNBERKREERRE

EFXecR T —tF+— AHRTREEMERE -
WHEHEN ZT = —F+ = AT - ZBURTE BER
o BEEERERERELBERERMEHEAN
AFMER (BRABEMBRR - 8B R Rt
B BABRNKOEERNEM)  BRSBERT
FEABRBERTTEERERN - WER - RED
HEARNBZHNER -

RRARR - BREERBEBEE NBREEBRR
EREETBARAEBRALRBHEEER - &
REBN@EFERRRIRELHNBERR - LH
EEBARTNPBRE (BIFHEFERS) - K
REFRGREMAREMAOBERE  AEFRA
NSIE VYN GYNGIF R

BREAMARBNEERNBFELER LB
BAEEN R RE - MR BERS B AR AN R B R B B R BB ek
NEME - UERAEEARBEMEER < ptoh -
PR R R E A R A R AR R R RV IEE R AR AR
EEI MEERS - ERFARLEBARAN
EAAIEER] -

PEHREBEEGRART T _INFEFIR @



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERE (H)

Further, Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at such meetings for and on
their behalf if they are unable to attend. At the general meetings, Board
members, in particular, the chairman of the Board, the chairmen of Board
Committees or their delegates, appropriate management executives and
external auditors will attend AGMs to meet Shareholders and answer their
enquiries. As for the investment community, the Company, depending
on its need, will arrange, without limitation, investor/analyst briefings and
group/one-on-one meetings, roadshows (domestic and international) and
media interviews, and participate in marketing activities and forums for
specialists on a regular basis in order to facilitate communication between
the Company, Shareholders and the investment community.

During the year, the Board conducted a review of the implementation and
the effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy. Having
considered the different channels of communication and engagement
in place as mentioned above and in the amended Shareholders’
Communication Policy, the Board is satisfied that the policy has been
properly implemented and is effective.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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This is the eighth environmental, social and governance (‘ESG”) report
issued by the Group. The ESG report disclosed our sustainability policy
and performance for FY2024. The scope of the ESG report includes the
environmental and social performance of the Group’s headquarters in
Guangzhou during the period under review (unless otherwise stated). The
relevant data for all other regional offices have not been collected and
therefore is not disclosed in this ESG report.

The preparation of the ESG report complies with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 (2024)
to the Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange and abides by the
mandatory disclosure requirements and “Comply or Explain” provisions
contained therein. The Board of Directors assumes full responsibility
for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting, and through reviewing the
ESG report, guarantees that the reported content is true, accurate, and
complete.

The Group has prepared the Report in compliance with four reporting
principles of the 2024 ESG Guide. The following is the application method
of each principle in the Report:

Materiality

The Group regards ESG as part of its fiduciary responsibilities and
strives to integrate ESG considerations into its day-to-day operations and
management. The Board has overall responsibility for ESG matters and
oversees ESG strategy, direction and policy. The Board makes timely
decisions on important ESG issues, supported by regular reporting and
approval of annual ESG reports by Company management.

Quantitative

The Group disclosed or explained the quantified key performance
indicators (“KPI”) applicable in the 2024 ESG Guide and set out the
criteria, methodology, assumptions and/or references for the calculation
of the quantitative KPIs, including the source of the key conversion
factors, for comprehensive assessment of the ESG performance of the
Group during the Reporting Period.

Balance

The ESG report has fully applied the principle of balance.
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Consistency

Where feasible, the ESG report uses methods consistent with the previous
reporting period to collect statistics on KPI related information, so that
all stakeholders can make meaningful comparisons of ESG performance
during the Reporting Period. If the statistics of the Reporting Period and
the method of collecting KPI related information are inconsistent with the
previous reporting period, the Group will specifically list them in the form
of notes.

ABOUT DIGITAL HOLLYWOOD

Digital Hollywood was listed on the Stock Exchange in 2017. The Group
is committed to becoming a leading global online game publisher while
building success in developing and launching dozens of high-quality
mobile games.

We help China-based game developers penetrate into the international
markets with one-stop solutions, including game redesign, optimization,
marketing, distribution, monetization, payment support and other
user-related services.

We offer a diverse selection of games consisting primarily of casual
games and mid-and hardcore games in both web and mobile formats to a
demographically diverse user community.

VISION

To become and be recognized as an interactive entertainment group
providing world-class user experiences.

OBJECTIVE

Connecting with happiness among players, business partners and
employees.

CORPORATE CULTURE - CORE VALUES

We firmly believe that pooling people who agree with and adhere to
the common pursuit of long-term goals in creating cohesion is the most
valuable and worth-inheriting asset for us. In other words, the F.A.M.I.L.Y
(Focus/Agile/Mind/In-touch/Learn/You) culture.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT POLICY

We are a leading global online game publisher for China-based game
developers, with fast-growing in-house development capabilities for
mobile games. In recent years, we have strategically expanded our
business focuses to develop and launch mobile games by enhancing
in-house development capabilities. This has also reflected our
commitment to sustainable development. We are committed to ensuring
business continuity, while sparing no effort in integrating ESG principles
into our business administrative practices, which has produced a positive
impact on the environment and the entire community.

The Board is responsible for executing corporate governance as defined
in the terms of reference, and for holding meetings at least once a year
to discuss issues concerning the Group’s corporate governance. In
keeping with the general trend of sustainable development of enterprises,
the Board is acutely aware of the importance of ESG governance to the
sustainable development of the Group. The Board is responsible for
supervising the Group’s ESG matters and assumes full responsibility for
strategy and the reporting of all these matters. The Board performs its
ESG governance responsibilities and holds meetings to discuss ESG
governance matters of the Group when necessary. For day-to-day ESG
governance, the Board authorises Company management to organise
and coordinate the ESG work of each subsidiary to ensure that its
decisions are implemented. The Board is committed to maintaining good
communication with Company management — who are also responsible
for assisting the Board to identify and prioritise material issues, reporting
to the Board regularly on the effectiveness of the environmental, social
and governance system and the performance of the Group in relation to
environmental and social key performance indicators — and making timely
decisions on important ESG issues, supported by regular reporting and
approval of annual ESG reports by Company management, to implement
its ESG supervisory function for the Group.

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group has formulated different
policies on ESG and other issues to advance and manage matters
relating to social responsibility, such as product responsibility, labor
practices, environmental protection, health and safety, and supply
chain management, so as to guide the Group’s business partners in
putting sustainable development into practice. The relevant policies and
measures and our sustainable development performance in all respects
can be found in the corresponding sections of this ESG report.

Going forward, the Board will continue to oversee and refine the Group’s
measures and performance on sustainable development in order to create
long-term value for all stakeholders and the communities in which we
operate.
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STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION

Our stakeholders mainly include employees, customers, suppliers,
business partners, Shareholders, the government and, in a broad sense,
the community. We are firmly convinced that our sustainable development
benefits from the unremitting support and trust of stakeholders. We listen
to the voices of stakeholders and respond to their needs through a range
of communication channels such as meetings, interviews, hotlines, official
websites, WeChat public accounts, emails, as well as communicate
with our stakeholders via the publication of annual and interim results
announcements, so as to maintain a close and harmonious relationship
with them and accordingly achieve long-term success.

COMMITMENT TO CUSTOMERS

As a technology company, we strive to create value for customers by
providing quality products and superior services. We offer services and
products primarily relating to web and mobile games. In recent years, we
have strategically expanded our business focuses to develop and launch
mobile games by enhancing in-house development capabilities to capture
the market opportunity from the fast-growing smartphone users, and our
mobile games have immediately achieved considerable success in a
number of regional markets. Since the beginning, we have established
an integrated business model and the resulting synergies have further
enhanced the overall performance of the Company. Our rich experience
in web game publishing has enabled us to effectively identify key success
drivers for mobile games and create game content that appeals to users.
Moreover, disclosure on description of quality assurance process and
the number of products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons are not applicable due to the Group’s business nature.
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We help China-based game developers penetrate into the international
markets with one-stop solutions, including game redesign, optimization,
marketing, distribution, monetization, payment support and other
user-related services. With our deep understanding of the international
markets, rich distribution experiences and proprietary technologies,
we continuously provide solutions to game developing partners for
them to reach and monetize their global user base, thereby bringing an
extremely attractive value to them. When a game is launched, we will
update and repair the system on a regular basis. We are committed to
maintaining relationship with players by creating a highly-interactive
and information-based online gaming community and organising a
series of activities in and out of the game. In addition, we will collect
player comments and suggestions through various means such as
questionnaires, forums and customer services to improve the game and
enhance the player experience. The Group strictly abides by national laws
and regulations that are relevant to the business in developing products
and providing services that have significant impact on the Group, as
well as other laws and regulations relating to the health and safety of
products and services provided, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
and remedies, including but not limited to the Regulations on Internet
Publishing, the Measures on Internet Information Services and the
Measures for the Administration of Online Games.

The Group is committed to providing quality products and services and
values customers’ feedback. We require game masters to record and
report every potential complaint, which will be followed up via an interview
by our staff to properly collect player opinions for game improvement. To
prevent inappropriate handling of complaints and recurring complaints
from players, the Group keeps the staff responsible for the complaint
informed of the complaint handling process and result, analyzes the
reasons for complaint, and consults with relevant business departments.

During the period under review, the Group was not aware of any matter
that had been in violation of laws and regulations in relation to the
provision and use of the Group’s products and services, including but
not limited to matters concerning the health and safety of products and
services, information and labels, marketing communications (including
advertisement and promotion materials), property rights (including
intellectual property rights), and privacy issues that have a significant

impact on the Group.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We are committed to protecting the achievements of our research and
development team. To this end, we have established the Intellectual
Property Management System under which standard work programs are
formulated in respect of applying for and managing intellectual property
rights and strengthening the protection of intellectual property and this
can effectively protect the intangible assets of the Group. The Group’s
intellectual property included copyrights, trademarks, patents, trade
secrets and other rights conferred by (i) the Patent Law of the People’s
Republic of China, (ii) the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of
China, (iii) the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China, (iv) the
Measures for the Administration of Internet Domain Names in China, (v)
the Measures for the Administration of Software Products, (vi) the Law
of the People’s Republic of China Against Unfair Competition and other
applicable laws and regulations as well as other rights relating to the
protection of games, software, designs, new technologies, techniques,
etc.

We attach great importance to confidentiality in protecting intellectual
property. All interested parties are prohibited to divulge or provide
relevant information to others in the process of product development
and creation. In accordance with the “Measures for the Administration
of Content Self-review by Internet Cultural Business Entities”, our
self-inspection system will ensure that all products comply with our
intellectual property measures and relevant regulations.

HEALTHY NETWORK

As a company with a focus on the internet business, we have the
responsibility to uphold and strengthen a healthy network culture.

For our game development business, we strictly abide by the Measures
for the Administration of Online Games and other applicable laws and
regulations. In view of this, we have built a professional content review
team. There are professionally qualified content reviewers on the team
responsible for close scrutiny to ensure that the game elements, including
names, backgrounds, sound effects, maps, scenes, character designs,
building designs, prop designs and features, do not contain any legally
prohibited or improper wordings and materials, neither should any
pornography, gambling, violence and abetment be promoted. Therefore,
the Group strictly complies with the legal requirements on healthy gaming
of the countries where it operates.
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DATA SECURITY

Given the nature of our business, we need to collect and process a
large amount of player data. Therefore, we are exposed to the risks of
cyber attacks and the loss and leakage of data. To minimize these risks,
we have adopted a series of data security measures, such as access
authorization, password and data transmission encryption, so that data
are stored in at least two different locations on our internal server and
further backup is implemented in our disaster recovery system. The Group
has taken a number of measures to ensure network system security and
stable operation, in terms of network, system and application.

PRIVACY PROTECTION

Ensuring data privacy is crucial to protect our business and maintain our
relationship with customers and business partners. Employees must sign
a non-disclosure agreement to confirm their responsibility for keeping
the data (including sales data, business plans, customer’s personal
data, and intellectual property) in strict confidence. We have set access
authorization with respect to the customer’s personal data, restricting
employees from accessing sensitive data only unless otherwise as
required. We have also devised specific procedures to collect and process
user data to ensure that our products and services are in compliance with
applicable legal requirements.

ADVERTISING LABELS

We ensure the compliance, accuracy and authenticity of all published
materials, including press releases, labels, articles, and web contents, in
accordance with the Advertising Law of the PRC, and through the review
of the legal department.

COMMITMENT TO EMPLOYEES
Equal opportunity

The Group always upholds the principles of fairness, openness and
justice, and applies these principles in the recruitment, assessment,
promotion, development and welfare of its staff. The Group will not allow
any employment discrimination arising out of race, color, nationality,
language, age, gender, disability, religious belief, marital status,
pregnancy, etc., and related systems are formulated in internal documents
such as the code of conduct.
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Staff development

The Group adheres to the cultural core values of F.AIM.I.L.Y., and has
employees kept informed of the latest industry information and new job
skills for them to realize their full potential through a variety of training
formats and courses.

In order to meet the developmental needs of employees in different
positions, the Group provides our employees with management, expertise
and general knowledge learning channels, and organizes various sharing
and exchange programmes at the company level. We aim to create a
learning-oriented corporate culture, and thus encourage employees to
excel and pursue their career path development. Currently, the training
types received by employees include, but are not limited to, conventional
classroom training, on-the-job coaching and experience sharing sessions,
such as induction training, mini talks, health coaching courses, etc.
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In 2024, the Group always puts the health and safety of its employees
first, we knowing that employees are the company’s most valuable asset.
In order to comprehensively improve the physical and mental health of
our employees and enhance their safety awareness, we have carefully
organized a series of training activities to create a more comfortable and
healthy working environment.

Through continuous optimization and improvement of the performance
management system, the Group conducts regular and timely performance
evaluation of employees and maintains an annual comprehensive
performance evaluation. The main business units conduct monthly
performance appraisal. After each appraisal, employees are required to
review their performance in their daily work and set out new achievement
targets with their supervisors. Through the two-way communication
mechanism, we can receive employee’s feedback and suggestions in a
timely manner to facilitate the growth of both parties.

The promotion of employees is determined based on the results of
their performance evaluation and potentials. The Group has also put
in place promotion mechanisms for employees. Employees may apply
for competitive promotion provided that they meet the relevant years of
service and performance requirements and that they have no records of
misconduct and are in line with the Group’s corporate culture and values.
This will accordingly stimulate the initiative of excellent employees, which
is conducive to selecting and cultivating talents and maintaining the
sustainability of talents.
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Caring for talents

The Group has always regarded employees as the key to sustainable
business development. Accordingly, the Group provides competitive
remuneration packages and benefits to employees and organises
diversified staff activities.

The Group strictly abides by labor laws and regulations of the PRC
and other laws and regulations regarding compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and
welfare, including the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Regulations on the
Administration of Housing Provident Funds and Employee Paid Annual
Leave Regulations, to provide domestic employees with social insurance
covering pension insurance, unemployment insurance, medical insurance,
maternity insurance, work-related injury insurance, critical illness
insurance and supplementary medical insurance as well as housing
provident funds. In addition to public and statutory holidays, employees
are entitled to paid leaves, such as marriage leave, pregnancy check-up
leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, annual leave, bereavement leave,
sick leave and bonus leave, and other benefits including meal allowances,
attendance awards, festive gifts, charity soft drinks and birthday gift.
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Work-life balance TYEBE4A T

We attach great importance to the healthy development of employees’ BMEFTEREESOREZE - BRABTRD
physical and mental health. We enrich employee’s spare time life by MIRREEE) - EEEEEMAETE - PIINPEK
organising various recreational activities, such as badminton, table tennis iiEIT . Eﬂfﬁﬁmiﬁiﬂ ’ ﬂftTEEI g EEE
and basketball games, monthly birthday parties, festival events, Children’s B RN—RERER KRB - EEGEES - BEEEN -
Day on the 1st of June, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, Halloween fﬁa%/é@:’ iﬁi@%@%ﬁﬁé&/ﬁ@)ﬂj{iﬁ%%TéI
and annual dinner. These recreational activities have greatly enriched the KBS L A3 - 58 T B TH BB W MEBRIE
spiritual and cultural life of employees and enhanced their cohesiveness BEST ©

and teamwork.

. 2024 Annual Dinner —Z —FF &

. Spring Festival Activities FIZ&/EH)

. Lantern Festival Activities 7T & &5R K 2 )& &
Mid-Autumn Activity K ETEE)

. Anniversary Celebrations 8 & & &)
Thanksgiving Day Activities 22 & &)

. Christmas activity Z2HEEN)E E)

. Halloween activity & #i/E5)

. Birthday Party ETEFEAHEEE)
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Attention to two-way communication

We strive to establish sound and humanized communication channels,
formal and informal, for our employees. Currently, the various
communication channels established include conferences, work reports,
WeChat, Enterprise WeChat, instant messaging software (QQ), emails
and performance appraisal interviews. Employees may express their
ideas and views through these communication channels.

Occupational health and safety

The Group is committed to providing employees with a safe, healthy and
comfortable working environment. The Group conducts unified guidance
and supervision of the safe operation of the Group companies in
accordance with China’s laws and regulations on occupational health and
safety and industry standards. The Group grants badges to all employees
and only employees with badges can enter the office area. Non-company
personnel are required to register identity information at the front desk
and enter with a temporary visitor card. To solve the pollution problem
arising from the newly decorated office and to ease employees’ concerns
on the potential negative impacts on their health from the renovation, the
Group is equipped with high-efficiency air purifiers in the office area. We
also plant and place large quantities of green plants throughout the office
area, taking care of the health and safety of employees with practical
actions. A complete set of fire-fighting facilities that meet fire protection
standards are placed at a prominent position in the office. Clear guidelines
for emergency exit routes are available in the office and fire inspections
are conducted to prevent from potential fire hazards.

Strictly abiding by laws and regulations concerning the provision of a safe
working environment and the protection of employees from occupational
hazards, such as the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, the Group provides annual physical examination
for employees and routinely publicizes the knowledge of occupational
diseases through different channels, to protect the health and related
rights and interests of employees.

As of December 31, 2024, no incidence of any work-related injury or
fatality was identified by the Group.
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Labor standards

Strictly abiding by laws and regulations concerning the prevention of child
labor or forced labor, such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Minors and other
laws and regulations, the Group prohibits the employment of child labor
and forced labor. Upon the joining of an employee, the Group strictly
implements the relevant processes of employment, so that the employee’s
data file, including identity and age, will be reviewed thoroughly to
prevent the occurrence of child labor. During the review, any child or
forged identity data found will be handled in accordance with the law. The
Group strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations of the jurisdiction in
the place of operation, signing labor contracts with employees according
to law and pays social insurance and protects the personal privacy of
employees in strict accordance with provisions.

In addition, our staff handbook and labor contracts have set out details
concerning the arrangements about working hours, overtime, leave and
dismissal. The Group’s implementations are carried out in a unified
manner according to standard working hours to ensure that the working
hours of employees are reasonable. Employees are not forced to work
and, if overtime is required, they need to obtain approval in advance and
receive paid leave afterwards. In the case of forced labor, employees
have the right to appeal to the Group’s Personnel Administration Center.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had not identified any employment
of child labor and forced labor and no labor dispute had happened.
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COMMITMENT TO THE COMMUNITY

The Group always attaches great importance to the establishment and
maintenance of harmonious relations with the community and society. The
Group’s priorities include, but are not limited to, recruiting and cultivating
outstanding university graduates in the place of operation to take up
positions dedicated to game development and operations. In 2024, the
Group sent employees to visit higher education schools in Guangzhou
to conduct 2-day campus presentations and recruitment activities and
received enthusiastic responses. Promoting the employment of university
students through such activities is an effective measure for achieving
economic development and social harmony.

In respect of the requests by relevant administrative departments in
accordance with laws and regulations for the supervision and inspection
on the Company, the Group actively cooperates with them to ensure the
fulfilment of its own social responsibilities and obligations.

0% 7B
SRR |
AN 7y
i S, BEH), J

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024

4t B A RGE

FEE-BFFERBYLMEER LR  HE2H
EVMFERE R - REBE SR B TRNEN AR HE
WIHEBREFOABRELETNNEEME  ELF
ML o —F - FEAEEIKE RSB EME
NESHEBRETRI2RNRES #RBEE
B BEHR - BBMFRPRENBERE B
REPBR BRI GMEE T HE R RIS

HRNARRESPIRBEREREIRHOE QR
WEENRE  AEEEHTUBEES - BRETT
BHHEEEEET -




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued) - \

RE - gRELAHRS (H)

CHARITY N g

While we are developing our business, we also prioritize the development BMEEREBORAR T AoHEROERE - =%
of our community. In 2024, the Group consistently upholds the principle ZNF  SEBKBREREHENES  BRER
of social care, considering public welfare as an integral part of its REGEXMEZE S  IROREZEH - &

NS

corporate culture and actively supporting charitable activities. The Group EEHELNAHEE  BHR2HEMFRHEY -
additionally mobilized people to participate in charity sales and actively NBEBHOEELE - AERKMELENEST -
participated in social welfare activities, demonstrating a grateful heart in

fulfilling our societal responsibilities.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group’s commitment to combating unethical business practices,
including bribery, fraud, corruption, extortion and money laundering, can
be reflected in our Anti-fraud Management System. Employees should
report to us by phone or email if there is any suspected misconduct.
The relevant departments of the Group will seriously investigate the
misconduct allegations based on our internal protocols and make
rectification in a professional and timely manner. Divulgement of any
relevant information is strictly prohibited and offenders will be handled
in a solemn manner. A code of ethics and conduct will also be included
in the staff handbook. We will do our utmost to ensure that employees
pay attention to the code and make it part of our daily activities, so as
to create a corporate culture that upholds righteousness and integrity.
The Group strictly abides by the Law of the People’s Republic of China
against Money Laundering. We have not experienced any confirmed
matters or open legal proceedings involving the Group or its employees
over extortion, bribery, fraud, and money laundering during FY2024. The
Group offers new employee induction training at the time when employees
join, which includes trainings in relation to basic employee ethics, such as
anti-corruption trainings. All the directors have received annual training in
anti-fraud policies and requirements, which includes the definitions and
forms of fraud, anti-fraud reporting channels, punishment for fraud cases,
etc.

COMMITMENT TO THE SUPPLY CHAIN

As a responsible company, we attach great importance to environmental
and social factors and are committed to sustainable operations. Similarly,
we also expect our suppliers to be self-disciplined, thereby making
a positive influence on the supply chain. We have signed a code of
conduct with suppliers that requires them to meet the legal requirements
concerning occupational health and safety, anti-discrimination,
environmental protection, anti-corruption and anti-fraud.

We conduct preliminary assessment of quality and pricing for introducing
new suppliers. In purchasing important materials, such as servers,
computers and printers, qualified new suppliers will be recorded on a
supplier list. Under normal circumstances, the list should have at least
three different suppliers in each category so as to disperse the risk arising
from any of the suppliers due to disqualification or our termination of
cooperation. For the existing suppliers, we conduct an annual assessment
to maintain the most desirable list of suppliers. We will review the prices,
product quality, payment terms, delivery and after-sales services of
product suppliers as well as the service quality, staff qualification and
sense of cooperation of service providers. In addition, the Group will
also continuously evaluate and monitor suppliers for their track record
of handling social issues in the past. For suppliers who fail to meet the
standards of the Group, the cooperation with these suppliers will be
terminated.
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Considering the potential environmental and social impacts of the supply
chain, the Group takes into account the performance of environmental
protection, occupational health and safety, labour rights and compliance
with laws and regulations when selecting potential suppliers, with an
aim to bringing positive impacts to the entire supply chain. For example,
when inviting bids from travel suppliers, the Group requires the bidders
to comply with the Bidding Law of the PRC ((FFZ# A R FERIZ%)) and
the Procurement Law of the PRC ({1 ZE AR HEAMBIERIEE)) in the bidding
process. Bidders are also required to protect the safety of employees in
accordance with the Labour Law of the PRC ((FF#E AR KB EE))
and the Labour Contract Law of the PRC ((FFEARKMELHAEFRE)).
The Group also requires its bidders to pay taxes according to law.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group has 34 major qualified
suppliers, 25 are located in Mainland China, 3 are located in Hong Kong,
Macao and Taiwan, and 6 are located in other countries and regions.

COMMITMENT TO THE ENVIRONMENT
Emissions reduction

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and regulations, such as
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Protection
and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Energy Conservation,
and vigorously advocates green office. Neither any significant exhaust
emissions and significant direct greenhouse gas emissions nor any water
and land pollution and hazardous and non-hazardous waste generation
and the like have been identified in the daily business operations of
the Group, and our business will not have any significant impact on the
environment and natural resources. The Group’s products are online
games and do not need to consume packaging materials. The main
consumption of resources is concentrated in the electricity and water
consumed in the Group’s operating premises and gasoline used by
the Company’s vehicles. The Group spares no effort in environmental
protection. The Group adopts the low-carbon office concept in reducing
emissions, uses various measures including encouraging employees to
use public transport instead of private cars to reduce emissions, and
smoking is strictly prohibited in all parts of the office premises. Due
to these measures, the Group has been maintaining a relatively low
level of emissions, and such emission level does not pose significant
environmental and social impacts. Emissions are not considered as
material in relation to the Group’s businesses, therefore no emission
targets are in place during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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As an internet enterprise, the Group identified the two major sources
of waste: scrapped IT equipment and printing consumables. Therefore,
the Group has adopted corresponding measures to reduce resource
consumption, encourage recycling and reduce waste generation. For
scrapped IT equipment, including hosts, monitors and other equipment,
the Group will deal with it accordingly according to the situation of the
equipment. First, they are sorted according to the Company’s operational
needs and reusable parts are reserved for recycling and reuse purposes.
As such, the actual life cycle of electronic devices can be extended and
the aim of reducing the environmental hazard arising from electronic
product manufacturing can be achieved. Lastly, for dysfunctional
equipment, the Group will hire an electronic equipment recycling agency
to recycle it. By making rational use of such electronic equipment recycled
through these two major ways, the equipment can also be reused,
thereby reducing environmental pollution caused by electronic waste.
For printing consumables, the Group has engaged a printer maintenance
service provider to handle maintenance and repair of printers at several
offices to avoid the increased use of printing consumables due to the
aging and failure of printers. Going paperless in all work processes is
encouraged in the Group, with aims to reduce the use of paper and
printing consumables. Waste management is not considered as material
in relation to the Group’s businesses, therefore no reduction targets are
in place during the reporting year.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the papers recycled by the
Group amounted to approximately 646 kg.

Resource efficiency

The Group advocates the concept of environmental protection, energy
conservation and low carbon office. To save natural resources, we have
taken the following actions:

. Emails, instant communication tools and WeChat at Work are used
and employees are not encouraged to print paper. Only necessary
documents are printed and double-sided printing and paper recycling
are being promoted. The Group encourages paperless processes in
work attendance approval, application for using conference rooms
and internal announcements, etc.

. For used materials in offline activities, recyclable materials are used

and used materials are recycled as far as possible to comply with
the principle of recycling.
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. The Group advocates energy saving and emission reduction,
responds to green procurement. Priority is given to energy-saving
lighting and other energy-saving appliances in purchasing to reduce
electricity consumption.

. Air conditioners are turned off during non-working hours or when
the office occupancy rate is low. In non-summer seasons like winter,
the use of air conditioners is suspended to reduce exhaust gas and
electricity consumption. New office premises are equipped with
transparent glass to increase the transparency and lighting, thus
reducing the need for office lights and reducing energy consumption.

. Signs reminding employees to save water are posted in toilets to
enhance employees’ awareness of water conservation.

Due to the above measures, the Group has been maintaining a relatively
low level of electricity and water consumptions, and such consumption
level does not pose significant environmental and social impacts.

Energy use and water consumption are not considered material in relation
to the Group’s businesses, therefore no energy use and water efficiency
targets are in place during the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Group has not encountered any difficulties in sourcing suitable water
sources, and the Group’s offices has a stable water supply which meets
its daily operational needs.

Climate Change

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of online games
publication. Given the operation model of the Group, we consider there is
no climate-related issues that could have material impact on the Group.
Nevertheless, we continue to pay close attention to the possible impact of
climate change on our business, strategy and financial performance, and
fully support global climate-related actions.
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COMPREHENSIVE PERFORMANCE

-ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

I=I n\ ;\& ‘13—% IE:

Prevention of bribery and corruption I‘Eltﬁﬁﬁ!ﬁ&ﬁ)?]tﬁ}’?
2024 2023
Indicators B —E-MEF —ET==
Cases involving bribery, extortion, fraud and W RN - $IR - HEFRIARER
money laundering (number of cases) 2 (R) 0 0
Product and service quality EnkREEE
Service performance: fR#5R3A -
2024 2023
Indicators BE —E-mE 2=
Legal cases in which products and services are  EMRNMRIESHEL 2 EBEFEHNFL
suspected of safety and health issues 2 (R)
(number of case) 0 0
Cases in which products and services are B R BRTE W R R0 A EE R Y
suspected of infringing intellectual property ZMHHAE (R)
rights (number of case) 0 0
Complaints due to divulgement of customer ER R P B mE B R & (h)
information (number of complaint) 0 0
Number of products and service related BEERAREDRRGHIRFEE — Approximately Approximately
complaints received — Address players’ BEKER OR) 24,410 20,565
questions (incidence) #124,410 #920,565

Emissions'

Air pollutant emissions (office vehicles)*

23587/
RRSRIPER (B AFE) 2:

2024 2023
Indicators B —T-MF T —F
Nitrogen oxide (NOXx) (kilogram) Aef? (Fx) 0.27 0.80
Sulphur oxides (SOx) (kilogram) maty (F7) 0.025 0.02

1 The Group’s business scope involves a small amount of paper and e-waste
emissions. As the data collection system is still in the process of being
established, the related data is not disclosed in the ESG report.

2 The calculation method and the emission factor of air pollutant emissions
were established with reference to the Technical Guide for Air Pollutant
Emission Inventory for Road Vehicles (Trial) issued by the Ministry of
Ecology and Environment of the PRC. The scope of calculation of air
pollutant emissions in 2023 includes 2 private car owned and used by
the Group, and the scope of calculation of air pollutant emissions in 2024
includes 2 private cars owned and used by the Group.
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Greenhouse gas emissions: BE RSN
2024 2023

Indicators EBE —E-MEF —F==
Direct greenhouse gas emission®: BERBEEFRES:
Office vehicles

(kilograms of carbon dioxide equivalent) PAB(FR-S/HKES 3,823.00 2,989.00
Average total direct greenhouse gas emissions

by each employee* (kilograms of carbon B EE‘TFHAEREERFNES

dioxide equivalent per person) (FR=ZA{tmEEA) 35.73 21.05
Indirect greenhouse gas emission®: AEREHEEENRE
Purchased electricity

(kilograms of carbon dioxide) SNEE N (Frr & bik) 141,147.26 146,521.48
Average total indirect greenhouse gas emissions

by each employee (kilograms of carbon dioxide &fi{E & F¥AEREMEFRES

per person) (Fr=&ti/A) 1,319.13 1,031.84

The calculation method and the calculation of emission factors were
established pursuant to the Guidelines for Accounting and Reporting of
Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Land-based Transportation Enterprises
(Trial) issued by the National Development and Reform Commission of the
PRC.

The number of employees was derived from the total number of employees
of the Group as at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023
respectively.

The scope of calculation of indirect greenhouse gas emissions includes the
indirect greenhouse gas emissions of our business generated by the use of
purchased electricity. The calculation method and the calculation of emission
factor of emission were established with reference to the “Announcement on
the Release of the 2022 Electricity Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors” issued
by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC.
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BRER

Use of resources

Energy consumption: BEIRERE
2024 2023

Indicators BE —E-ME ==
Direct energy HiERR
Gasoline (liter) AUl (A F) 1,658.36 1,279.30
Average total gasoline consumption by each Bl BT URERES

employee (liter per person) (2H/N) 15.50 9.01
Indirect energy B EEER
Purchased electricity (kilowatts-hour) SNEE S (FRE) 263,040.00 256,920.00
Average electricity consumption by each BrEEFHE N EREEE

employee (kilowatts-hour per person) (FEE/A) 2,458.32 1,809.30
Total energy consumption (megawatt-hour)? BFEE OKILA)° 278.47 268.82
Average total energy consumption by each BUuEEFHERERE

employee (megawatt-hour per person) KEEA) 2.60 1.89

Paper consumption: WREFEE -
2024 2023

Indicators B —EWmEFE ZEZ=F
Total paper consumption (kilogram) FAMEKEE (FTR) 220.00 262.00
Average total paper consumption by each BuEBFERABRRE

employee (kilogram per person) (F5=/A) 2.06 1.85

The total energy consumption includes private cars owned and used by
the Group and purchased electricity. The calculation method and related
references are factored, given in Appendix Il of the How to Prepare an
Environmental, Social and Governance Report: Reporting Guidelines for
Environmental KPIs A2.1 issued by the Stock Exchange, “Motor Gasoline”
GB 17930-2016 — Table 3 Technical Requirements issued by the General
Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of the
PRC, the Standardization Administration of the PRC and Testing Party for
Motor Gasoline (VIA), and Guidelines for Accounting Methods and Reporting
of Greenhouse Gas Emission of Enterprises in Other Industrial Industries
indicating that the low calorie-generating value of gasoline is 44.80 GJ/
tonne (Trial) — Table 2.1 Default values for common fossil fuel characteristic
parameters issued by the National Development and Reform Commission of
the PRC.
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Water consumption: KOBEFERE -
2024 2023
Indicators BE —E-MEF —EZ=F
Total water consumption (cubic meter) FAK#BE (SL75K) 1,323.00 1,389.00
Proportion of outsourced tap water (%) SME B ROKIE L (%) 100 100
Total water consumption by each person BllEERKAE
(cubic meter per person) (LXK AN) 12.36 9.78
Employment E1E
Employee composition: EB4EMK
2024 2023
Indicators EBE —EMEF —F==
Number of employee (number)” EBEAZ(AN)7 107 142
By gender BRI & D
Female employee (number) ZEB (AN) 36 56
Male employee (number) BEE(A) 71 86
By different employment types REBBALE D
Full-time (number) HEE (A) 107 142
Part-time (number) FBER (AN) 0 0
By geographical areas e g o
The Mainland of China (number) AR A (A) 102 136
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan (number) BRAaME (A) 2 3
Other countries and regions (number) HiBIREibE (A) 3 3
By age group REWE D
Below 30 (number) 30T (A) 30 50
30 — 50 (number) 30-505% (A) 71 87
Above 50 (number) 5058 A £ (A) 6 5
7 The number of employees was derived from the total number of employees 7 IEEASEES N ABHEZE T _NF+_A=+
of the Group as at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, —HEBE-_T_=Ft+_A=+t—AnKELE
respectively. BAE -
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Employee turnover ratio®:

OCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

2024 2023
Indicators g —E-MEF —F==
By gender ZMRIE D
Female employee turnover ratio (%) AR B KA L (%) 22 25
Male employee turnover ratio (%) SREE MK (%) 14 21
By geographical areas Zin = E o
The Mainland of China employee
turnover ratio (%) AR A R B KRR L (%) 16 20
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan employee
turnover ratio (%) BRE MR E B MAKIGE (%) 0 0
Other countries and regions employee
turnover ratio (%) E A B R Kb [ & B R MG E (%) 33 75
By age group REFERED
Below 30 employee turnover ratio (%) 3055 A ME B R KRG EE (%) 33 48
30 — 50 employee turnover ratio (%) 30-505% 18 B k(bbb (%) 11 9
Above 50 employee turnover ratio (%) 505% A L 1E B K AG L (%) 0 0
Occupational health and safety BERERZS
Health and safety of employees: BTREZ::
2024 2023
Indicators EBE —E-MEF —F==
Number of work-related fatalities occurred
in the past three years including the BE=ZF (BEREFE)EAITHN
reporting year® (number) AEC(A) 0 0
Ratio of work-related fatalities occurred™ (%) AT T E" (%) 0 0
Days of work lost due to industrial injury (days) EITBEXIEREK(X) 0 0
8 Employee turnover ratio = Turnover of employees in this category/Number of 8 BERKLLE=2ERRERIAEZEAFEES
employees in that category as at 31 December of that year. EZFET_A=T—HAKAZ -
o Industrial fatality data and industrial injury data refer to work-related fatality o TTUHEBERIGHEERESEEANERAELSRER

incidents and industrial injury incidents recognized by the Human Resources

and Social Security Bureau.

10 Ratio of work-related fatalities occurred = Number of work-related fatalities 10

occurred/total number of employees.
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Development and training B R T
Employee training: BT
2024 2023
Indicators B —EWmEF —E==
Total training hours BIETIR e (/) 151.00 330.00
Per capita training hours (hours per person) AIGEE IR (/N A) 1.41 2.32
Per capita training hours by male employees
(hours per person) FliEEEB ARSI A) 0.83 2.43
Ratio of training by male employees' (%) SMHEEZIEAL (%) 44 64
Per capita training hours by female employees
(hours per person) ZIE R B A ISR (N A) 2.56 2.16
Ratio of training by female employees' (%) ZMHEEZINEDL (%) 56 36
Per capita training hours by management
employees (hours per person) EIRERB AR (N A) 2.91 2.64
Ratio of training by management employees' (%) B EEE I A DL (%) 21 8
Per capita training hours by Non-management
employee (hours per person) EEEERB AR (N A) 1.24 2.30
Ratio of training by Non-management
employee'! (%) FEBEREZIENLL (%) 79 92
" Percentage of employees trained = Number of employees trained in this " BEZIEDL=2BREEZIAR BEZF
category/Total number of employees trained as at 31 December of that year. EtZA=1t—HMEEZIBAE -
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BiR - H2RELERE (H)

INDEX OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORTING GUIDE ISSUED BY THE HONG KONG STOCK

BERBXM(RE  HERERBERS) K3l

EXCHANGE
General —RKE
disclosures Related sections in REgE ESGHEN
and KPIs Description the ESG report BiER it BERED
Environmental Aspect REGE
Aspect A1: Emissions BEA1: Y
General Information on: Emissions reduction —WEE | BEERMBEREHEN - [ | AOPER
Disclosure (a) the policies; and KETHHEES BERES
(b) compliance with relevant laws and BERVNEESH -
regulations that have a significant (a) B &
impact on the issuer relating to air (b) BFHBETABEATE
and greenhouse gas emissions, HRRER RARDINE
discharges into water and land, and B o
generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective | Comprehensive KPI A1 | BETE SRR HE SR - | REENR
emissions data. performance =1
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect Comprehensive KPI A1.2 E}i‘ (81 RaERMEE (8 | SE8E-
(Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in | performance E2)REREHME (UBEE | KB
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity Bk (MER)ZE (WG
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per ERB - BELETE) -
facility).
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in Data collection KPIA1.3 |MEABSEENEE (LA |KERR
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | system in the process HE)R(NER)RE (M | Bz
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per | of being established HESBN - BEREHE) o
facility).
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in | Data collection KPIA14 |FESEZEEDES A | REER
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | system in the process FER(ER)EE (L | BF
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per | of being established BESEN - §EREHE)
facility).
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and | Not applicable KPIA15 |HUPART BB R IR A | NER
steps taken to achieve them. EIEL B ERERA TR o
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- | Emissions reduction KPIA1.6 |HlEIEEEREZEZDM | WO
hazardous wastes are handled, and a 0k R ATET S AR B
description of reduction target(s) set and B RAEIEL B EMERIE
steps taken to achieve them. SEE o
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General —REKE
disclosures Related sections in REgE ESGHEN
and KPIs Description the ESG report BIER it BERED
Aspect A2: Use of Resources BEA2: EREM
General Policies on the efficient use of Resource efficiency —MEE | BREAER(BELR K | BREE
Disclosure resources, including energy, water and REAMEME) OBEK
other raw materials.
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy Comprehensive KPIA2.1 | REREDMER R RHEE | HREAER
consumption by type (e.g. electricity, performance ER(WE - fgoh)EEE |RR
gas or oil) in total (kWh in 000s) and (AFETEFEGE)RFE
intensity (e.g. per unit of production (MASESEN - BB
volume, per facility). BEK
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity | Comprehensive KPIA2.2 |@BFKEREE (WNABERZ |HFaER
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per | performance Bfy - BERME) )
facility).
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency Not applicable KPI A2.3 | fdilt TRl v B BEIREE A daast | TER
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve BB R AEREL BRI
them. B HER o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue | Comprehensive KPIA2.4 | fEillSKEVERKR LRI AEM | REEJK
in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, | performance, B - ARFTEI IRk | =5 - BR
water efficiency target(s) set and steps | Resource efficiency BERAERELBEAMER | X
taken to achieve them. H A8 o
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for Not applicable KPIA25 |ERmFTABEMENGEE | TEA
finished products (in tonnes) and, if (AW E) & (WiER ) B &
applicable, with reference to per unit EEMGE -
produced.
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related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and

the actions taken to manage them.

FENEARREBEE
REE1TH -

General —REKE

disclosures Related sections in REgE ESGHEN

and KPIs Description the ESG report BIER it BERED

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources BEA3: BERRXAER

General Policies on minimising the issuer's Not applicable —REBE | REETAERERRAARER | TEA

Disclosure significant impact on the environment EREATENHE -
and natural resources.

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of | Not applicable KPI A3 | i EBFBHERBERAAE | TEA
activities on the environment and natural ROEATERBRNERS
resources and the actions taken to B ENTE -
manage them.

Aspect A4: Climate Change BHEA4: RIZEL

General Policies on identification and mitigation | Not applicable —REE | BRIREHEE R EHE | TEA

Disclosure of significant climate-related issues TAESZ BN EARIRIEH
which have impacted, and those which FEMBEK -
may impact, the issuer.

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate- Not applicable KPI A4 | HEARATEEHBEITAE | TEA
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RE - gRELAHRS (H)

General —REKE

disclosures Related sections in REgE ESGHEN

and KPIs Description the ESG report BIER it BERED

Social Aspect HEHE

Aspect B1: Employment EmEB1: EfE

General Information on: Equal opportunity, —WMEE | BETHREE - BELRE | TE#Ke.

Disclosure (a) the policies; and Caring for talents, T IEESE - RE - TS (BEAS
(b) compliance with relevant laws and | and Labor standards g Zift - RIBIRUA R E AL | K558 %A)

regulations that have a significant HFBREND

impact on the issuer relating to (@) B3R &
compensation and dismissal, (b) BFHBETABEATE
recruitment and promotion, HARREE RN E
working hours, rest periods, e

equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination, and other benefits

and welfare.

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment | Comprehensive KPIB1.1 |#ZIE5] - EEEA - FRAR |SFEER
type, age group and geographical performance RitREHHIEEBE - =B
region.

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age | Comprehensive KPIB1.2 |15 - SR FRED |REER
group and geographical region. performance FIEBMALLE o =5

Aspect B2: Health and Safety EEB2: REHEZZ

General Information on: Occupational health —REE |BRREREIERERRE | BERE

Disclosure (a) the policies; and and safety EEREBMEULEM : BEL
(b) compliance with relevant laws (@) B3R &

and regulations that have a (b) BFHETABEATE
significant impact on the issuer HRREE RN E
relating to providing a safe working (=

environment and protecting

employees from occupational

hazards.

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related Comprehensive KPIB21 |BE=F (BREERFE)E |HKAEX
fatalities occurred in each of the past performance FERAITHMAZRLE - |RB
three years including the reporting year.

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Comprehensive KPIB2.2 |EATHEBATEAE - ReE®

performance =8

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and | Occupational health KPIB2.3 |HillFTRMMBERRARS | BERE
safety measures adopted, how they are |and safety fEHE - URMEBRIRERR | BE2
implemented and monitored. e
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such practices when discovered.

BN RERI P R o

General —REKE

disclosures Related sections in REgE ESGHEN

and KPIs Description the ESG report BIER it BERED

Aspect B3: Development and Training BEB3: BERIEI

General Policies on improving employees’ Staff development —REE |AHEAREETIEREN | BIRE

Disclosure knowledge and skills for discharging BRI EER o T
duties at work. Description of training EE
activities.

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained Comprehensive KPIB3.1 |ZIFIREERER (NERE |HEEK
by gender and employee category performance BE PREEEEHINE | KB
(e.g. senior management, middle JEEBALL -
management).

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed | Comprehensive KPIB3.2 |ZMFIREEERIESD BF |FEEK
per employee by gender and employee | performance EETRZIMTEHEY - | KB
category.

Aspect B4: Labor Standards BmEB4: TR

General Information on: Labor standards —WMBE |BABLEISNRFNSTIN | 4EEd

Disclosure (a) the policies; and (@) B3R : &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and (b) BFHBITAREATE
regulations that have a significant EARREE RPN E
impact on the issuer relating to o
preventing child and forced labor.

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review Labor standards KPIB4.1 | fitin s RIS B HIAVHE b LA | 25 3R
employment practices to avoid child and PETRBHSBT -
forced labor.

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate | Labor standards KPIB4.2 |fiulfEBRERIEREERA | 48ER)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RIE - EHEERHRE () ‘
General —REKE
disclosures Related sections in REgE ESGHEN
and KPIs Description the ESG report BIER it BERED
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management [BEB5: ftEEERE
General Policies on managing environmental and | Commitment to the —NEE | EEHEENREREERR | HiEE
Disclosure social risks of the supply chain. supply chain BR - KGR
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical Commitment to the KPIB5.1 |ZHMEEIDMHEREE - | EHERE
region. supply chain P
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating Commitment to the KPIB5.2 |filEHERHERNER - |LHEsE
to engaging suppliers, number of supply chain MEMNTABENNHERS | 05E
suppliers where the practices are B ARIBERTRESRT
being implemented, and how they are & e

implemented and monitored.

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify | Commitment to the KPIB5.3 | fiili 5 B Al e & Eiﬁﬁﬁ Fapadicyd
environmental and social risks along supply chain FERIE R g REBAED] - UL | KGR
the supply chain, and how they are RIBBEMITRERFE
implemented and monitored.

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote | Resource efficiency KPIB5.4 |fillfEfEHERISRESLR | BRUE
environmentally preferable products RREREREEED - AR
and services when selecting suppliers, HRRTREERZ -

and how they are implemented and

monitored.
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General —REKE
disclosures Related sections in REgE ESGHEN
and KPIs Description the ESG report BIER it BERED
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility EmEB6: ERET
General Information on: Commitment to —NEBE | BEMRRERNRBORE | HEF MK
Disclosure (a) the policies; and customers, HBed  BE BERLEE |# - ESE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and | Advertising labels, BEUARBROTER - % kiR
regulations that have a significant and Healthy network (@) K & Eak
impact on the issuer relating to (b) BFHETABEATE
health and safety, advertising, HRRER RARDINE
labelling and privacy matters relating B o
to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
KPI 6.1 Percentage of total products sold or Not applicable KPI6.1 |EEXCEXEREHTFER | TEA
shipped subject to recalls for safety and SEEFEHMARNRNE S
health reasons. t o
KPI 6.2 Number of products and service related | Commitment to KPI6.2 |BEBRERRRENEFRY | HEPH
complaints received and how they are | customers BUAREHTZE - S
dealt with.
KPI1 6.3 Description of practices relating to Intellectual property KPI 6.3 |fillfEsERRENRERS | MBERE
observing and protecting intellectual BB -
property rights.
KPI 6.4 Description of quality assurance process | Not applicable KPI 6.4 |G kTR REmER | TEA
and recall procedures. BF -
KPI 6.5 Description of consumer data protection | Data security, KPI 6.5 |l EBEEERHRERLEBER | #E%2
and privacy policies, how they are Privacy protection RNRBBRTRERS | RALBRE
implemented and monitored. & o
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General —RiRE
disclosures Related sections in REAgE ESGHER
and KPIs Description the ESG report Mg it TRED
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption EBHEB7: RES
General Information on: Anti-corruption —BEE | AR R EGFR | RER
Disclosure (a) the policies; and R -
(b) compliance with relevant laws and (@) B%: &
regulations that have a significant (b) BFHEFTABEATE
impact on the issuer relating to HIERAR KRG E
bribery, extortion, fraud and money =
laundering.
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases Comprehensive KPIB7.1 |RERPRHBTAREREE |REEN
regarding corrupt practices brought performance REVERENESFARY | KB
against the issuer or its employees R E REFAER o
during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and | Anti-corruption KPIB7.2 |fillbsifan REBHRET - U | RERE
whistle-blowing procedures, how they BB TRER A -
are implemented and monitored.
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training Anti-corruption KPIB7.3 |HllMEEREIRENRE | REE
provided to directors and staff. A e
Aspect B8: Community Investment EEBS: #HERE
General Policies on community engagement Commitment to the —BEE | FEUAHELERTREEM | HHER
Disclosure to understand the needs of the community EHEFEMBREERED | AH
communities where the issuer operates FERMEFZEAOBE -
and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. Commitment to the KPIB8.1 |FIERER (M#E  BE |HitEm
education, environmental concerns, community FE-BIFK RBE X |E#
labour needs, health, culture, sport). £ 85)-
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or | Commitment to the KPIB8.2 |EHIHEMHFAR (e |HHERM
time) to the focus area. community ) o S
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRSE

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on November 24,
2014 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Act of the Cayman Islands. The Group is a leading global online game
publisher for China-based game developers, with fast-growing in-house
development capabilities for mobile games.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the
Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year by principal activities is
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report and Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which includes a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group,
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators, particulars of important events affecting the Group during
the year, and an indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s business, could be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate
Governance Report” in this annual report. In addition, a discussion on
relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report”. The review and

discussion form part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidated results of the Group for FY2024 are set out on pages
115 to 200 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend for FY2024 (FY2023: nil).

There is no arrangement in which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to
waive any dividends.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024

BEEeMAREAEE T _NPRFENFIRE
RREZE GIIBMEK -

FEXRB

ARBAR-ZE-—NFE+—-A-+HAREHSHS
NREAVEEFRSHEBEMULARBRERARF - A
SEE BT ENEEAEFHRERBNEZIRE
TRRBERETE  BAREERNFTHRERS T
fiekse

NS IEPNCIE SIS E TS b R e E

9 ARBEBT BRI D 2 FREWARKLEN
DMBRAFRIEREN W EON | —BREHY
TEMRIMRET

KXo

AEEEREHLBE(ERASERENEZRER
RAHBAERN W - (R U R ESIERET
Eﬁ$‘il2§fﬁ"$ﬁ FEAEENFRNEEEMNH

ERIEHAEEEBARRNERNFA) AT 2HAE
FRITERE] [EREAREOW IRIEE

JRERE JSFED o o ﬁ?ﬁi@%’i‘il?ﬁg%@%?ﬁ
FEORREARRNFRIRE L FEEBRE] - %
ﬁ@@\&%ﬁmﬁ\]az%ﬁ%$a#E%E’M%BZ-&BTJJ

FERKE

AEE-_Z NP RFENGEEEHNEFRE
115%F 2008 -

BEEQRETER T M I FE E R E@ R
BE(ZZ-_ZUREE &) -

BEEARREREXRBREEMBL AL -



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERRE ()

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company currently does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. The amount of dividends actually distributed to the
Shareholders will depend on the Company’s earnings and financial
condition, operating requirements, capital requirements and any other
conditions that the Directors may deem relevant and will be subject to
approval of the Shareholders. The Board has the absolute discretion to
recommend any dividends.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
June 23, 2025 to Thursday, June 26, 2025, both days inclusive, and
during which period no share transfer will be effected, for the purpose
of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the 2025
AGM to be held on Thursday, June 26, 2025. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong,
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, June 20, 2025.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is

set out on page 15 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group during
FY2024 are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements on
page 169 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment protection
and has not noted any material non-compliance with all relevant laws
and regulations in relation to its business including health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment. The Group
has implemented environmental protection measures and has also
encouraged staff to be environmental friendly at work by consuming the
electricity and paper according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy
consumption and minimize waste. For further details of the Group’s
environmental policies and performance, please refer to the section of
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERRE ()

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during FY2024
are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements on pages
191 to 192 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during FY2024 are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 193 to 195 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2024, the Company’s distributable reserves were
US$22.2 million.

BORROWINGS

As at December 31, 2024, the Company did not have any bank
borrowings.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during FY2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the
laws of Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERRE ()

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE IPO BXAHBEMSREFEAR

The net proceeds from the IPO amounted to approximately US$35.4 RARIRERAFEEMSRIBFELNA3AEE
million after deducting share issuance costs and listing expenses. During EL(HBRBRHBEITRAR ETHAZ) - RZTZNW
FY2024, the net proceeds from the listing were fully utilized in accordance MREE - LTS REFEDBRERARNER
with the proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future ERIARKABERAERERSE | —SARTERAR
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. Details are set out in the B TEEBAE FERA TR

following table:

Actual

utilized net

amount from

Net amount Actual net completion of

Net amount  available as at amount the IPO to
available December 31, utilised during December 31,

from the IPO 2023 FY2024 2024
BERAHRE
BE-E-=F ZBC@ THE-Z-MF
BER2RBE +=A=t+-H BHREE tZA=t-H
AHEARR AHEARE BERBAFE BERBAER
USD’000 usD’000 usD’000 usD’000
S TER TER FET
Investment 14,166.1 2,167.1 2,167.1 14,166.1  Fully utilised
RE [RE el
Development and research 8,853.8 - - 8,853.8  Fully utilised
FRE B 7T BEHHA
Expansion of online game business 5,312.3 - - 5,312.3  Fully utilised
BREEETDR EXEFA
Marketing and advertisement 3,541.5 - - 3,541.5  Fully utilised
LEHRER 2EHHA
Working capital and other general
corporate purposes 3,541.5 - - 3,541.5  Fully utilised
LERSREM-REXAR [RES Eli
Total 35,415.2 2,167.1 2,167.1 35,415.2

Bt
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DIRECTORS

During FY2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the Board
consists of the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. LU Yuanfeng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. HUANG Guozhan

Mr. HUANG Degiang

Ms. LUO Simin

Independent Non-executive Directors

Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton
Mr. LI Yi Wen
Mr. LU Qibo

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages 20 to 24
in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” in
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERRE ()

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a specific term of one to three years commencing from
the date of the respective service contracts, which may be terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either the
executive Director or the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a specific term of one to three
years commencing from the date of the respective appointment letters,
which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either of the Director or the Company. Under the respective
appointment letters, each of the independent non-executive Directors is
entitled to a fixed Director’s fee.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries during FY2024 or subsisted at the end of the year and no
contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries was entered into during FY2024 or subsisted at the end of
the year.
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DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions”
in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this
annual report, no transaction, arrangement and contract of significance to
the business of the Group which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director or any entity connected with such a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during FY2024.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are decided by the Board with reference to the recommendation given
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest
paid individual in the Group are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report respectively.

For FY2024, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director or
any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
Directors has waived any emoluments for FY2024.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are
payable, for FY2024, by our Group to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

During FY2024, none of the Directors or their respective close associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that
competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group, other than being a director of the Company and/or
its subsidiaries.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any
other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

On November 24, 2017, each of the Controlling Shareholders entered
into the deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-competition”) in
favour of the Company, pursuant to which the Controlling Shareholders
have irrevocably, jointly and severally given certain non-competition
undertakings to the Company. Details of the Deed of Non-competition
are set out in the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders — Deed of Non-competition” in the Prospectus.

The Controlling Shareholders confirmed that they have complied with
the Non-competition Deed for FY2024. The independent non-executive
Directors have conducted such review for FY2024 and also reviewed the
relevant undertakings and are satisfied that the Deed of Non-competition
has been fully complied with.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters, no
contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at the end of the year or at any time during FY2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During FY2024, other than the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme as set out
in the section under “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme” and consolidated
financial statements, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked
agreement.
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MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During FY2024, The Group was not involved in any material legal
proceedings.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During FY2024, the Group had not made any loan or provided any
guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior
management of the Company, the Controlling Shareholders or their
respective connected persons.

POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On May 27, 2017, the Company adopted the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme approved by the resolutions of our Shareholders. The purpose
of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate
employees, Directors and other participants, and to provide a means of
compensating them through the grant of options (“Options”) pursuant
to the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme for their contribution
to the growth and profits of the Group, and to allow such employees,
Directors and other persons to participate in the growth and profitability of
the Group.

Our Board has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited as the trustee
(“Trustee”) for the administration of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
and to hold the Shares which may be granted under the Options through
Epic City Limited (“Nominee”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Trustee.
The Trustee shall act in accordance and cooperate with our Board for
the purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Our Company will
use Shares held by the Nominee and new Shares to be allotted by us to
satisfy the Options upon exercise.
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Existing Shares held by the Nominee

The Shares which may be transferred from the Nominee upon exercise
of all Options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall not exceed 149,999,973 Shares (i.e. being the Shares held by the
Nominee representing 7.5% of the enlarged issued share capital of our
Company as of the Listing Date). Options lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating this limit.

New Shares to be issued by our Company

The new Shares which may be issued by our Company upon exercise of
all Options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and
other share option schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions
of the Listing Rules are applicable) shall not exceed 200,000,000 Shares,
(i.,e. 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date
(“Scheme Mandate Limit") and as of the date of this annual report).
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating this
Scheme Mandate Limit.

The number of options available for grant under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme as at January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024 were
100,501,363 and 100,501,363 respectively.

As of the date of this annual report, 200,000,000 Shares are available for
issue, which representing 10% of the total issued Shares.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
the options granted to or to be granted to each eligible person under the
Share Option Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue.
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An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme at any time during the period to be determined
by our Board at its absolute discretion and notified by our Board to each
grantee of the Options (the “Grantee”) as being the period during which
an Option may be exercised and in any event, such period shall not be
longer than 10 years from the date upon which any particular Option is
granted in accordance with the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Options
may be vested over such period(s) as determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion subject to compliance with the requirements under
any applicable laws, regulations or rules.

The exercise price (“Exercise price”) shall be such price as determined
by our Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant of the
relevant Option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer of
the grant of the Option), but in the case that any Share would be allotted
and issued to a Grantee upon the exercise of an Option in accordance
with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Exercise Price
shall not be less than the higher of (a) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a Business Day, (b) the average closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for
the five (5) Business Days immediately preceding the date of grant, and
(c) the nominal value of a Share. For the avoidance of doubt, in the case
that the Share would be transferred from the Trustee to a Grantee upon
the exercise of an Option in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme, the Exercise Price shall be determined by the
Board, as it may think fit taking into account the Grantee’s contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will be expired on 26 May 2027 (i.e.
the remaining life of the scheme is approximately 2 years and 1 month as
at the date of this annual report).

A summary of the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme has been

set out in the section headed “D. Share Incentive Scheme” in Appendix IV
of the Prospectus.
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On February 15, 2018, the Board approved to grant Options from the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to eligible employees for their past
contribution to the success of the Group, and to provide incentives to
them to further contribute to the Group, the details of which are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated February 20, 2018.

The Options are conditionally vested upon satisfying specified service
vesting condition, which is mutually agreed by the employees and
the Company. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
repurchase or settle the Options in cash.

On February 15, 2018, 49,498,610 Options, which are to be satisfied
solely by the Shares held by Epic City Limited when they are exercised,
were granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. No new
Share will be allotted to satisfy such Options. The vesting period of the
Options is three years and the vesting schedule is 33.33% after twelve
months from the grant date, 33.33% after twenty-four months from the
grant date, and 33.34% after thirty-six months from the grant date. The
Exercise Price of the Options granted is HK$0.0074 per Share (in respect
of 21,419,696 share options), or US$0.0074 per Share (in respect of
28,078,914 share options) (equivalent to HK$0.0579 per Share based on
the exchange rate of HK$1.00 to US$0.1279).

The Options granted vested as follows:

33.33% vested
Further 33.33% vested
Remaining 33.34% vested

On the 1st anniversary of the date of grant
On the 2nd anniversary of the date of grant
On the 3rd anniversary of the date of grant

No Option has been granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company
or an associate of any of them (as defined in the Listing Rules) since its
adoption and up to December 31, 2024.
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The Company has not granted any Options to be satisfied by new Shares RARARBREBAARBEEBRESEREE
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Details of movements of the ARG LARTAR (DM R IT R BB AR I - R =T B IK
number of the Options to be satisfied by existing Shares held by the FE BRAHABEERERETEBEBTEUREA
Nominee under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme for FY2024 are set FIRMIRARMDMEITENERESE E8uT -
out below:

Outstanding Outstanding Fair value

Period during Nurmber of as at Granted Exercised Lapsed asat of the options

which rights options January 1, during during during December 31, Exercise at the date

Name Date of grant are exercisable granted 2024 FY2024 FY2024 FY2024 2024 Price of grant

H-g-ps BRER

me Sl me Sl me Sl R-82B  f2A=1-8 ek

8 RUAH THRERNER RiBREER -A-BMAGE  DUEERE  DREEGR  MEEERY HAGE fikE LEE

Employees of 15 February 2018 10 years from 21,419,69% 6,543,874 - - - 6,043,874 HKS0.0074  HK$19,984,000
the Company the date of grant

KA7ER T-\EZRTER  BRLBHEM0E 000748 199840007

Employees of 15 February 2018 10 years from 28,078,914 17,105,848 - - - 17,105,848 08800074 HKS24,864,000
the Company the date of grant

FDARE Z3-NEZRTREA ARGAHE0E OO04ET 2486400077

The closing price immediately before the date on which the options were REE_Z-NEF_A+LBERERL BN
granted on 15 February 2018 was HK$0.92. W A0.928 T °

The total number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and RERIBRIEA RN BIFTA 81 A58 AR AE R 52 E) Al
awards granted under all scheme of the Company during the year divided FETHROBREGRAFTFAD BEITROAMNETS
by the weighted average number of shares in issue for the year was AP LAE1.18% °

1.18%.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As at December 31, 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/
she was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as
follows:

Interest in Shares or Underlying Shares of our
Company

Name of Director Nature of Interest

ERRBBETHARRBSENE
m

i ¢+ A=1+—B  ARRAEFEL&ES
THRABRARBLAEEZE (EERELFMAE
ﬂm@‘J%XV“K)HQTﬁ - HBEBRO RMEFTEA (a)RIE
ELFMPEROIEXVEIFETRFESNEHAEMEAR

m&w“%«@%m#ﬂ%&@fummmx 8
SR REANEDIORE)  (b)IRBEFHFR
%fﬁ%%%z%ﬁﬁA&M%%h%ﬁ@%*
(C)HRIFBRETRIAMG AR R L Xk
KB :

N

m]n\\

A1 7] B 40 20 AR BA AR 4 B R

Approximate
percentage of the
Number of ordinary Company’s issued

shares interested” share capital
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Mr. LU Yuanfeng® Interest in controlled corporation; interest of 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
spouse; interest held jointly with another
person
P R U S A @ EEmthEEER  BEER  BE-ALTHERE
O HE 2
Mr. HUANG Guozhan® Interest in controlled corporation; interest held 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
jointly with another person
mEREA® REGDEEER BB - AT HEREHER
Mr. HUANG Degiang® Interest in controlled corporation; interest held 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
jointly with another person
EHIBREE® REGEERER  BE - ATHEFENER
Ms. LUO Simin® Interest in controlled corporation; interest of 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%

spouse; interest held jointly with another
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Notes:

(W]

(2

®)

4)

®)

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Under the SFO, Mr. LU Yuanfeng is deemed to be interested in all Shares
held by LYF Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly owned by
him. Mr. LU Yuanfeng is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held by
(i) Ms. LUO Simin as Ms. LUO Simin is the spouse of Mr. LU Yuanfeng; and
(ii) Mr. HUANG Guozhan and Mr. HUANG Degiang as they are parties acting
in concert.

Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Guozhan is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by (i) LXT Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly
owned by him; and (ii) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG
Degiang as they are parties acting in concert.

Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Degiang is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by (i) HDQ Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly
owned by him; and (ii) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG
Guozhan as they are parties acting in concert.

Under the SFO, Ms. LUO Simin is deemed to be interested in all Shares
held by Angel Age Limited, a company which is wholly owned by her. Ms.
LUO Simin is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held by (i) Mr. LU
Yuanfeng as Mr. LU Yuanfeng is the spouse of Ms. LUO Simin; and (ii) Mr.
HUANG Guozhan and Mr. HUANG Degiang as they are parties acting in
concert.
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Interest in associated corporation

RIEEEE AR

Approximate
percentage of

Capacity/nature Number of shareholding
Name of Director Associated Corporation of interest Shares interest
EEHE =R B, EmitE RHEE BARERDL
Mr. LU Yuanfeng LYF Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 100 100%
R R I S LYF Digital Holdings Limited E=mAA
Mr. HUANG Guozhan LXT Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 100 100%
=EE A LXT Digital Holdings Limited BB A
Mr. HUANG Degiang HDQ Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 100 100%
EHiER LA HDQ Digital Holdings Limited BEXEAA
Ms. LUO Simin Angel Age Limited Beneficial owner 100 100%
BREsZT Angel Age Limited EmEA A
Note: B 5
(1) Under the SFO, a holding company is regarded as an “associated (1) RIEFSF REERD - ERD AR R85

corporation.” As of December 31, 2024, LYF Digital Holdings Limited, LXT
Digital Holdings Limited, HDQ Digital Holdings Limited and Angel Age
Limited held 27.64%, 2.85%, 4.91% and 12.00% of our issued share capital,

respectively, and thus are our associated corporations.

Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme” and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at
December 31, 2024, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company has any interests and/or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he/she was taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

Bl -#HE=—ZT_m&+=-H=+—8 ' LYF Digital
Holdings Limited * LXT Digital Holdings Limited -
HDQ Digital Holdings Limited &2 Angel Age Limited
DRFERMOEBTRAR27.64% - 2.85%
4.91%512.00% - FEitk 2 H M EEHEE -
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Bl in R ESFH EARIEER RS ERPISEXVEEE
TRESHMAMEARB R (BEREES
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7)) BIBES REEIGDIF 352 16 RC A Z GBI
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS TERFRREHFNER
IN SECURITIES

As at December 31, 2024, the following corporations/persons had RZZBZNFE+—A=+—0 ' RARFREBESH
interests of 5% or more in the issued shares of the Company according to REEEDIE336 IR AT EN A ERLMATL 8 -
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company under section UTEE ALHBEARARBEEITRMH5% I L

336 of the SFO: Mk
Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
Number of ordinary issued share
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest shares interested capital
BEERERN EAR AR BT
BRERESEB BmtE ZERHEE® BRAHBHBE DL
Mr. LU Yuanfeng® Interest in a controlled corporation; 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
interests of spouse; interest held jointly
with another person
Be R U S A @ REHEEER  REER BE— AL
HAFEOER
LYF Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner; interests held jointly 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
with another person
LYF Digital Holdings Limited BEmEBAA  BE— AT HAFENER
Ms. LUO Simin® Interest in a controlled corporation; 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
interests of spouse; interest held jointly
with another person
SRBH L Rt EEER  BER B — AL
HEARFAOER
Angel Age Limited Beneficial owner; interests held jointly 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
with another person
Angel Age Limited BEXBEAA B —ALHEESEHMER
Mr. HUANG Guozhan® Interest in a controlled corporation; 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
interest held jointly with another
person
mEEEA® R EEER B - AT HFAREAN
T
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EERHE (H)
Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
Number of ordinary issued share
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest shares interested" capital
HEERREN HARAT B BT
BREEEEB Y ZERHEO RENMOB DL
LXT Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner; interests held jointly 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
with another person
LXT Digital Holdings Limited BE=EAA B — ATHAKFE#ER
Mr. HUANG Degiang® Interest in a controlled corporation; 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
interest held jointly with another
person
HIBR ST A Xt ERER  BE - AT HRARED
i
HDQ Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner; interests held jointly 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
with another person
HDQ Digital Holdings Limited BEnEA A BE— AT HERENER
7Road Holdings Beneficial owner 294,144,901 (L) 14.71%
ELREER BEm#EBA
The Core Trust Company Limited® Trustee 140,951,189 (L) 7.05%
The Core Trust Company Limited® ZFEA
Epic City Limited® Nominee for another person 140,951,189 (L) 7.05%
Epic City Limited® S—ATHREA
Notes: B3
1 The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. (1) FEILRTZATRRDFHFE

(2) Under the SFO, Mr. LU Yuanfeng is deemed to be interested in all Shares
held by LYF Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly owned by
him. Mr. LU Yuanfeng is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held
by (i) Ms. LUO Simin as Ms. LUO Simin is the spouse of Mr. LU Yuanfeng;
and (i) Mr. HUANG Guozhan and Mr. HUANG Degiang, as they are parties
acting in concert.

(2)

b3

BEFEHFRAERD - ERELEWRBRLYF
Digital Holdings Limited({¥ 2 & # BN AR EHE
B2 AR P A R o BERIE S A MR AR ()
BEHXLT (HRBERL LT RELAENERB)
R(i)EEREARFEERTE (BRES A —BUT
BAD)BENSBRG P R ER -

BHREBEBERNAGT —T_POFEER
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3) Under the SFO, Ms. LUO Simin is deemed to be interested in all Shares
held by Angel Age Limited, a company which is wholly owned by her. Ms.
LUO Simin is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held by (i) Mr. LU
Yuanfeng as Mr. LU Yuanfeng is the spouse of Ms. LUO Simin; and (ii) Mr.
HUANG Guozhan and Mr. HUANG Degiang, as they are parties acting in
concert.

(4) Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Guozhan is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by (i) LXT Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly
owned by him; and (ii) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG

Degiang as they are parties acting in concert.

(5) Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Degiang is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by (i) HDQ Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly
owned by him; and (ii) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG

Guozhan as they are parties acting in concert.

(6) The Core Trust Company Limited, being the trustee of Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, directly holds the entire issued share capital of Epic City
Limited, which holds Shares underlying the options to be granted under the

scheme for the benefit of eligible participants pursuant to such scheme.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as
at December 31, 2024, no person had registered an interest or a short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, at no time during FY2024
was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities including debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During FY2024, the Group’s largest customer accounted for 29% of the
Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest customers accounted for
71% of the Group’s total revenue.

During FY2024, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 36% of the
Group’s total purchases. The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
71% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined under
the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or the
Group’s five largest customers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had 107 employees (December
31, 2023: 142), 45 of which were responsible for game development and
maintenance, 33 for game operation and offline events organisation,
and 29 for general administration and corporate management. The total
remuneration expenses, excluding share-based compensation expense,
for FY2024 were approximately US$2.9 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 25.4% as compared to FY2023. The Group enters
into employment contracts with its employees to cover matters such as
position, term of employment, wage, employee benefits and liabilities for
breaches and grounds for termination.

Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries,
allowances, bonus, share options and other employee benefits, and is
determined with reference to their experience, qualifications and general
market conditions. The emolument policy for the employees of the
Group is set up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualification
and competence. We provide regular training to our employees in order
to improve their skills and knowledge. The training courses range from
further educational studies to skill training to professional development
courses for management personnel.

FTEREBRER
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group’s employees in Hong Kong have all participated in the
Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are members of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set out in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for FY2024 are set
out in consolidated financial statements contained herein. The related
party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the public float as required under the Listing
Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) in relation to the Director’s and officer’s liability insurance is
currently in force and was in force during FY2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate governance
for enhancing the management of the Company as well as preserving
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted
the code provisions set out in the CG Code as its own code to govern its
corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the
relevant code provisions contained in the CG Code during FY2024, save
for deviation from code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code for
FY2024. Please refer to the section headed “Board of Directors” in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 35 to 38 of this annual report for
details.
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The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 34 to
52 of this annual report.

DONATIONS

During FY2024, the Group did not make any charitable donations.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY2024 have been audited
by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming 2025 AGM.

There has been no change in the Company’s auditor in the past three
years.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For FY2024, the Company has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.

On behalf of the Board
LU Yuanfeng
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, March 28, 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BRI RS

s

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
DIGITAL HOLLYWOOD INTERACTIVE LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Digital
Hollywood Interactive Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 115 to 200,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants (IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Revenue
Refer to Note 7 and Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue from
online games amounted to USD9,058,556, representing 99.99% of the
Group’s total revenue. It was mainly derived from the sales of in-game
virtual items. The balance of associated contract liabilities amounted to
USD1,766,587 as at 31 December 2024.

The Group’s in-game virtual items are categorised as both consumable
virtual items and durable items. Revenue derived from consumable items
in its online game service are recognised once they are consumed.
Revenue derived from durable virtual items in its online game services
are recognised ratably over the lifespan of durable virtual items with
reference to the playing period of paying players (“Player Relationship
Period”), on a game by game basis. If the Group does not have the ability
to differentiate revenue attributable to durable items from consumable
items for a specific game, the Group recognises revenue from both
durable and consumable items for that game ratably over the Player
Relationship Period. During the year ended 31 December 2024, all in-
game virtual items were treated as durable items by the Group.

The determination of the Player Relationship Period for relevant game
virtual items requires significant judgement and estimates. It is made
taking into account all known and relevant information available to the
Group at the time of assessment. Thus, specific audit focus was placed in
this area.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Understanding, evaluating and validating the key internal controls
in relation to the recognition of revenue from in-game virtual items,
including oversight exercised by management in assessing the
Player Relationship Period and computing the monthly revenue of
game virtual items performed by management on a sample basis;
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- Inspecting of evidence of management’s review on a sample basis;

- Testing of the integrity and system logic of data and information for
supporting the determination of the Player Relationship Period, on a
sample basis;

- Discussing with management and evaluating their judgements and
estimations made in determining the Player Relationship Period for
each game;

—  Assessing the accuracy of the management’s judgements and
estimations by comparing to historical patterns on a sample basis;

- Testing the result of Player Relationship Period by reperforming the
computation on a sample basis;

- Recalculating revenue and contract liabilities based on the
respective Player Relationship Period of each game on a sample
basis.

We consider that the significant judgement and estimates involved in

determining the Player Relationship Period adopted by management

in the revenue recognition of in-game virtual items of the Group were
supported by the available evidence.

Prepayment for interests in an associate

Refer to Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of prepayment for interests in an associate

for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit because the

balance of prepayment for interests in an associate of USD3,425,000 as
at 31 December 2024 is material to the consolidated financial statements.

In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement

and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

—  Assessing ageing of the prepayment for interests in an associate;

—  Assessing the financial information of the investments;

- Obtaining and checking to evidence to support the Group’s
impairment assessment.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for prepayment for interests
in an associate is supported by the available evidence.
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OTHER
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other

INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL

information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
BRI S ()
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up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

- Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

ARIFERAT LB

EEETRTELE -

— FHEAMBHRERNBEIIRSRN EBIRA
B BEREE UARAHUBHRRRETER
MRIARRZ SRR -

it
=
=
i

SIS BB TS 8 00T R FUE 3T

BMMTEERES - WERBER E5ER
& UHAHB BRI EABERRHE

B BHMBEREY  EEMR S EERH
TEES TR - RMRBIABRAERZHE
£ -

BREMFRAEAN  RMEFFZS S ENE

stEE
BRER
B

BRTREFZEGRIEHR
FaEAve

SRR EXEAERFETTER
PIFEZE 5t AP 38 R Hi 1 BB 42 11 O {2 (] B2 KRR

HBRMEFAH
M REEE R - TR MRE T

SEMERAETERFIBLENAEBEMEM
BIE - AREERNBERTALERE B EEL
BB RITEN S ERERA B S48 TR 1T TR o

b3

BHREBEBERNAGT —T_POFEER @



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BAZBA®RE (F)

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SftEEREMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ —Z —NF+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
Notes usb usD
B 5% E EYM
Revenue L'ON 7 9,058,572 9,908,941
Cost of revenue (BN (4,915,576) (5,807,551)
Gross profit EF 4,142,996 4,101,390
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAX (3,425,075) (3,595,583)
Administrative expenses THAX (2,422,144) (4,053,054)
Research and development expenses R (1,383,271) (1,804,481)
Net impairment losses on financial assets TRIEEREBETE (156,961) (249,805)
Other losses, net Hitb 518 558 8 (218,982) (132,872)
Operating loss rEEE (3,463,437) (5,734,405)
Finance income U3 N 9 116,246 169,099
Finance costs B TE R AR 10 (157,033) (65,722)
Share of profits of associates i NETb| 24,045 4,871
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries k- y=pNG ol 35 463,420 =
Loss before income tax BRETBRATEE (3,016,759) (5,626,157)
Income tax expense PSR 11 (191,352) (144,774)
Loss for the year FRER 12 (3,208,111) (5,770,931)
Other comprehensive income/(expense): Htrzmuas (Bx) :
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or TEEF S EEBmrEE -
loss:

— Changes in fair value of equity —NUARnBEFAEEEES

investments at fair value through other AR M2 EUR A

comprehensive income EHRENARBEES 64,454 (40,506)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: B EH HEE 1575 mIEE -
— Exchange differences on translating — REGINETSHE K Z5E

foreign operations (136,316) (302,486)
— Exchange differences reclassified to profit —AHENBRARIMER

or loss on disposal of subsidiaries DEREREENENZE 35 135,618 -

(698) (302,486)
FHREBEEARAR —TZNFFR @



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

atEEREMEZEKER (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Notes usb uUsD
B aE E3 ET
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for FREMEEKE (FX)
the year, net of income tax BHMBRATEBE 63,756 (342,992)
Total comprehensive expense for the year HRZHBAXHALE (3,144,355) (6,113,923)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTEGFERER :
— Owners of the Company . WNGIE 2PN (3,208,111) (5,770,931)
Total comprehensive expense for the year LI TEMAFERAZEBAX
attributable to: wE
— Owners of the Company — ARNEHEEA (3,144,355) (6,113,923)
Loss per share (USD cents) SRER (ZW0) 15
— Basic — H AR (0.17) (0.31)
— Diluted — (0.17) (0.31)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BRI EMR R R

As at 31 December 2024 A=—Z —NF+-F=+—H

2024 2023
—E_ME —F-=
Notes uUsD UsD
ihg=2 ES I
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BRERRE 16 457,509 743,952
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 470,935 783,276
Intangible assets B EE 18 320,489 201,412
Interests in associates B N B R 2 20 53,361 30,485
Equity investments at fair value through NARnEEE2BEZEHTA
other comprehensive income HEemlamEsRE 21 185,977 121,523
Prepayments and other receivables TEA 3R R H Ath B Y 51 E 24 5,840,981 3,705,817
Deferred tax assets FEREFREEE 29 152,381 160,356
7,481,633 5,746,821
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables B S ERGIA 22 893,675 1,167,784
Contract costs AR 23 530,142 543,869
Prepayments and other receivables FE A 3R e EL At FE W R IE 24 4,822,400 8,243,951
Bank and cash balances RITRBE 4% 25 19,077,802 22,258,994
25,324,019 32,214,598
TOTAL ASSETS HEE 32,805,652 37,961,419
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERkEE
Equity =
Share capital R& A 30 2,000,000 2,000,000
Reserves ] 31 23,040,462 26,184,817
Total equity g 25,040,462 28,184,817
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
BOFMBRRR (&)

As at 31 December 2024 R —Z —PUF+—-H=+—H

2024 2023
—E_ME —=E-=
Notes uUsbD uUsD
i 5E EYH e
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B S ENRIE 26 632,930 1,293,778
Contract liabilities =X OR=Ni 23 1,766,587 1,755,200
Accruals and other payables FEET B A M E A ROR 27 4,610,192 5,471,552
Lease liabilities HESE 28 373,563 364,212
Current tax liabilities BEifiE R E 114,664 234,036
7,497,936 9,118,778
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 28 267,254 657,824
Total liabilities wWeE 7,765,190 9,776,602
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES wEEREE 32,805,652 37,961,419

The consolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 200 were F115E200EM A MM BREREHEETEN -2
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March “HEZA-+ N\ BHERBEETIRIREEE -
2025 and signed on its behalf by:

LU Yuanfeng HUANG Guozhan
ek R U HEE
Director Director
BE BE

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BOERZ R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EHRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ —Z —NF+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=
Note usb usD
B3 EY ET
Cash flows from operating activities REKETHNRERE
Loss before income tax BRATIS B ATET 18 (3,016,759) (5,626,157)
Adjustments for: MATHIBEERE :
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHH 137,949 64,592
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BE REETE
equipment 276,209 296,768
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 296,601 300,565
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEWE - BEKRRK
and equipment o)l - (25)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR KE 35 (463,420) =
Impairment of prepayment for EHRENBNFRE
equity investments 50,000 1,448,656
Reversal of impairment of prepaid TE{Thie i B R E el
royalty fees - (305,980)
Interest revenue FLEMA (116,246) (74,851)
Lease interests HEME 48,505 65,722
Loss allowance provision for trade B SN IEER
receivables BiE 156,961 249,805
Net foreign exchange loss/(gains) B &R (W) B8 236,033 (188,462)
Share of profits of associates FE G B & R B g A (24,045) (4,871)
Operating loss before changes in BEECEHH L LEEIE
working capital (2,418,212) (3,774,238)
Change in trade receivables B SR HIEEE) 82,708 (443,019)
Change in contract costs BRIRAEH) 13,727 48,027
Change in prepayments, deposits and AR - ke REAMEYK
other receivables B & 2,979,809 1,406,846
Change in trade payables E S REMNFIBLEE (496,243) 104,307
Change in contract liabilities BREEES 11,387 10,123
Change in accruals and other payables JEE B R I ot JE 15 FRIE
e (128,218) 318,568
Cash generated from/(used in) WETEBME (TR Re
operating activities 44,958 (2,329,386)
Income tax paid B ETEH (183,377) (150,474)
Interest received B F & 116,246 74,851
Lease interests paid ENEENE (48,505) (65,722)
Net cash used in operating activities RETEFARESFEE (70,678) (2,470,731)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
EHEERER (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ —Z —NF+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EZMEF —ET-=
Note usb uUsD
B3 EY ETT
Cash flows from investing activities RERETHNRERE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWME - WEK&E (5,736) (33,716)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HE¥%  BE M&RE
equipment Fr5 5078 - 62
Purchases of intangible assets BEEREEE - (30,000)
Prepayment for intangible asset B EEMTENK (2,333,424) =
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of LEMRBAREENR S
subsidiaries miEEE 35 (188,764) =
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHMARESTFE (2,527,924) (63,654)
Cash flows from financing activities REMETBNRERE
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (359,961) (332,453)
Net cash used in financing activities REITBMARSEE (359,961) (332,453)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BHE&RBREZBEYRD FE (2,958,563) (2,866,838)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INETERF BRI E (222,629) 93,293
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUHRERASEEY
beginning of the year 22,258,994 25,032,539
Cash and cash equivalents at the FRPNEESRESEEY
end of the year 19,077,802 22,258,994
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents ReRBASZBYIN
Bank and cash balances RITRIB LS 19,077,802 22,258,994
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
G bR e

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ —Z —NF+_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 24 November 2014 as
an exempted company with limited liability. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is 11/F, Tai Sang Bank
Building, 784 Nathan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The address of
its headquarters is 2nd Floor, No0.368 Jiang Nan Da Dao (South),
Haizhu District, Guangzhou, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the development, operations and publishing of
web-based games and mobile games business (“Game Business”)
in North America, Europe, the PRC and other regions.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
IFRS Accounting Standards issued by International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) that are relevant to its operations and
effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 January 2024.
IFRS Accounting Standards comprise International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”); International Accounting Standards;
and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised
IFRS Accounting Standards did not result in significant changes
to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for the
current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised IFRS Accounting
Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective. The
Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards but is not yet in
a position to state whether these new and revised IFRS Accounting
Standards would have a material impact on its results of operations
and financial position.

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by IASB and the
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by investments which are
carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of certain
key assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors to
exercise its judgements in the process of applying the accounting
policies. The areas involving critical judgements and areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to these consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties,
to determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise that
right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the
control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of
the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
subsidiary and any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not control
or joint control over those policies. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible,
including potential voting rights held by other entities, are considered
when assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to significant
influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or
convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially recognised
at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an
acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying
amount of the investment and is tested for impairment together with
the investment at the end of each reporting period when there is
objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024

FESHBE @

LERE &

HE I B8 2 B G Bk XA Bl MU e 1R
EATMENZRE : (VHERENRIREEMN
LREBEZMBRBRNERREZ AREER
(INARBEIEZMBARNEEFEMLE
W% P8 2 B A AR R BR 7 B S (R AT AE B R AT
SNEE R B o

SERNRAMZRS - #EHREARERBNET
K - RIEXSGTERRRATHEREELR
ME - BDAKRBREETSERE - WEBRRZ
BHBEERVEBRELESD - BRERE
B P SR AR — B

- N

RERTIRAEEHEEEAZEINERS -
BEAFENEARZABRY B REZBERN
RE BRI FHEBIZ F R - AT
AEERTHRAEATZENR  SERARR
BRAERTER AT ERNBEERERE (BEE
ERSANBERER) REZE - RFTH
BERERETEEATENN - WREER
BATERESRZRER BRI RIIEEN

R R BRI E A RER & T B IR KRT
B - BOIPIRBARER - RUKEET - IR AR
BRI BB E R B ER S R IR AR EER
B o WA K AN B R (5 B 2 X B AT A
BERBENAAEBEFBRZIERIIREE -
EEF ARENKREE - ANEFERERT
RECDRE RS REMRERE —HHETT
WMERR - AEBEREABNEERABEAR
EBEFHRBLDRERANEAZEN GBS
REER °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group’s share of
the net assets of that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating
to that associate and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, the Group continues to apply the
equity method and does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

FESHBE @

BENT ()

REFREHERRNKBRESZN GBS
R MEARGENERBRHEGZSRINAH
fEEAER R RBEREHERENERR
BEARE - WARBEEEHERRNEERS
R BBERZEE R RNER (BEEME
i IR EWRIR) - AEETEERE—F
B8 - ERARREE R EAEE AR R
b o MBS R B HAR SRS ET - AIRERER
HEEaf SRR R BEASEER  7e
IRERERBE A o

HEBZAREBREEAFE NNRARE
BEATMENZRE  ((HEREBNIAEE
MERBEZBERRNEMIREZ AREE
R(i)VAEEEHZBEARNEEFEML
BRZBERRNEARBEEREMNARR
FHONBIE R o MNEE R RMIRER BT
BEMENERE  AIAKBRERBEDELR
TEEMFTERE M -

REFEEBERNFRMNIHMEENRER
EANE T UK - AR S E B E QR A
BRE - BIERFHRHEBBETEEREER
FORE - REREEITES TIAL - BE AR
VERTRRCIERBIER] - BREREEMR
MR —E -

PEHREBEEGRART T _INFEFIR @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in United States Dollars (“USD”), which is the
Company'’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

BOE R M (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

(iii) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the
exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the exchange reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss
during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over the
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful
lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Shorter of estimated useful
lives or remaining lease term

Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Computers 3 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the

difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by
the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
The principal lease terms are ranging from 1 to 9 years.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the lease payments discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be
determined, or otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an
initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets
of value below USD5,000.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which is it incurred.

Game intellectual properties and licenses

Under certain exclusive online mobile games arrangements
entered between the Group and the game developers, the Group
pays upfront license fees to the game developers as the Group
obtained the games developed by those game developers. The
Group recognises the upfront license fee an intangible assets.
The intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the expected economic life, ranging from 2 to 3 years. These
amortisation are recorded in cost of revenue (where the games
are commercially launched) or administrative expenses (where the
games are not yet commercially launched).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Computer software

Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 years.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

BOE R M (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets of the Group are classified as under the following
categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

- Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

(a) Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.

(b) Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income
On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading
as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair values recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
equity investment revaluation reserve. On derecognition of
an investment, the cumulative gains or losses previously
accumulated in the equity investment revaluation reserve are
not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are
the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a
default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
the expected credit losses that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for trade receivables, or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents
the expected credit losses that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount
is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term
highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as
a component of cash and cash equivalents.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under
IFRS Accounting Standards. An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REM T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over
time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up
to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

BOE R M (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations

The Group’s companies incorporated in the PRC contribute
based on certain percentage of the salaries of the employees
to a defined contribution retirement benefit plan and other
defined contribution social security plans organised by relevant
government authorities in the PRC on a monthly basis. The
government authorities undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligations payable and other social security payables
to all existing and future retired employees under these
plans and the Group has no further obligation beyond the
contributions made. Contributions to these plans are expensed
as incurred. Assets of the plans are held and managed by
government authorities and are separate from those of the
Group.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
and involves the payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group operates the Share Option Scheme, which is an equity-
settled share-based compensation plan under which share awards
are granted to employees as part of their remuneration packages.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured
at the fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair
value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the share-based awards is recognised as an expense over the
vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied, and credited to share premium
under equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the share-based awards granted:

- including any market performance conditions;

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions; and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of share-based awards that are expected to vest
based on the non-marketing performance and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in
profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

If the terms of a share-based award are modified, at a minimum an
expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. An
additional expense is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the share-based payments arrangement,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee and other qualifying
participants, as measured at the date of modification.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised

in profit or loss over the period to match them with the costs they
are intended to compensate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
the performance of the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of productions processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(if) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

BOE R M (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Company are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii

=

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Company or to a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet
available for use are reviewed annually for impairment and
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except deferred tax
assets, investments and receivables to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating
unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of
outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period or
those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate
are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B R (4)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

KEY ESTIMATES
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

4,

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are

discussed below.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Estimates of the playing period of paying players
(“Player Relationship Period”) in the Group’s game
publishing services

As described in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group recognises revenue from durable virtual items
ratably over the Player Relationship Period. The determination
of Player Relationship Period of each game is based on the
Group’s best estimate that takes into account all known and
relevant information at the time of assessment. Such estimates
are subject to re-evaluation on a semi-annual basis. Any
adjustments arising from changes in the Player Relationship
Period as a result of new information will be accounted for
prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and
other receivables, including the current creditworthiness and
the past collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
balances may not be collectible. The identification of bad and
doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the actual result is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and
other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the year in
which such estimate has been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and EURO (“EUR”) and
Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”). The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2024, if USD had weakened/strengthened
5% against RMB with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss after income tax for the year would have
been approximately USD86,000 (2023: USD177,000) higher/
lower, respectively, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of RMB-denominated
receivables and payables.

As at 31 December 2024, if USD had weakened/strengthened
5% against EUR with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss after income tax for the year would have
been approximately USD149,000 (2023: USD138,000) lower/
higher, respectively, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of EUR-denominated
cash and cash equivalents.

The cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables
of the Group’s Hong Kong entities are denominated in HKD,
which is pegged against USD, and are not therefore subject to
significant foreign currency risk.

B %5 L B ' R

FEENEBSHAXRZRBBEAR : SMER
- BREAR - EERER  RBESERRF
RER c AEEBERREEASETRER
TISHARIERNE - WO REREHAEE
MBRANBEINZE -

(a) HMEE R B

HRAEBEREIBERS EERE
BEAARE (TARKD  BUT (TBT))
EAET (AT HE  MAKEARE
THNER - ANEE B ARG BRI
[EX 5 BERABENINELPEEK
AEBRENEREIMNERR  LTEE
BREHEREIPEARINERR

RZTEZMFE+=ZA=+—H8 " WEx
HAREEME FES% TS s
BT g AFANRIIEHRESHE
BRES RGN %D 486,000% 5T (=
TZ=%F :177,000F L) FERHD
BE AR FHE K FE U R IE I FE 518
EAREE H Uz EIE -

RZTEZMFE+=ZA=+—08 " WEx
HEULEE / FES%mATE e
HRTE  RAIFAKRAEEESHER
B RIR A 1 IN#)149,000% T (=
T =4 :138,000%T) TERHR
BREBTHENReRRCEEBWESE
RBE H Wz 18 o

AEBMNEEEENRENREEE
W - EUEROR R BN RIBABTTRME
Mg EE T - FU Y EAREKR
SN L o

PEHREBEEGRART T _INFEFIR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Price risk

(c)

The Group’s equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed
to equity security price risk. The directors of the Company
manage this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with difference risk profiles.

As at 31 December 2024, if the share prices of the investments
increase/decrease by 5%, the other comprehensive income
would have been approximately USD9,000 (2023: USD6,000)
higher/lower, arising as a result of the fair value gain/loss of
the investments.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the bank and cash balances, trade and
other receivables, and investments included in the statement of
financial position represents the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.

The credit risk on bank and cash balances and investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income are
limited because the counterparties are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong. There has
been no recent history of default in relation to these financial
institutions.

Trade receivables and certain other receivables at the
end of each reporting period were due from the Platforms
and payment channels in cooperation with the Group. If
the strategic relationship with the Platforms and payment
channels is terminated or scaled-back; or if the Platforms and
payment channels alter the co-operative arrangements; or if
they experience financial difficulties in paying the Group, the
Group’s game development receivables might be adversely
affected in terms of recoverability. To minimise this risk, the
Group maintains frequent communications with the Platforms
and payment channels to ensure the effective credit control.
In view of the history of cooperation with the Platforms
and payment channels and the sound collection history of
receivables due from them, the directors believe that the
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding trade receivable
balances due from the Platforms and payment channels is low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

BOE R M (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MBREKREE#
(c) FERB @)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

For other receivables not due from payment channels,
management makes periodic collective assessments as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables
based on historical settlement records and past experience.
The directors of the Company believe that there is no material
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of other
receivables.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period by comparing the risk of a
default occurring as at the reporting date with the risk of default
as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following information is used:

- internal credit rating;
- external credit rating (if available);

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the borrower’s
ability to meet its obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the borrower;

- significant changes in the value of the collateral or in the
quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

- significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the
payment status of borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is
more than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment.
A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to
make contractual payments within 60 days of when they fall
due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage
in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally
categorises a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor
fails to make contractual payments greater than 360 days past
due. Where loans or receivables have been written off, the
Group, if practicable and economical, continues to engage in
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision
is determined for each of the categories. In calculating the
expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss
rates for each category and adjusts for forward looking data.

Definition

Category Loss provision

Performing Low risk of default 12-month expected
and strong capacity losses
to pay
Non-performing  Significant increase Lifetime expected

in credit risk losses
Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

BOE R M (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MBREKREE#

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) "BESRR @)
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, of AEENeRBEENRMRBAGRE
the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows: MEIBDAT «
Less than Between Between
1year 1and2years 2andb5 years Total
DRE 15528 2EF5E @it
usb usb usb usb
EYa Y4 EY4 EY
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-mFE+-A=t+-A
Trade payables B ENFE 632,930 = = 632,930
Accruals and other payables [EEr BB R AR 4,559,757 - - 4,559,757
Lease liabilities HEAE 400,434 266,223 7,135 673,792
5,593,121 266,223 7,135 5,866,479
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=f+t-A=1+—H
Trade payables BAENTE 1,293,778 = = 1,293,778
Accruals and other payables [T B R R AR IR 5,288,631 = = 5,288,631
Lease liabilities HEBE 413,313 410,755 280,940 1,105,008
6,995,722 410,755 280,940 7,687,417
(e) Interest rate risk (e) FIZEE R
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and HRAEETRERFEEERAE
liabilities, the Group’s operating cash flows are substantially HASEENEEREREARTETHS
independent of changes in market interest rates. FEEHHTE -
The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank AEBEAENFERABREZREER
deposits. These deposits bear interests at variable rates varied IR - ZEGERZBF RS - M
with the then prevailing market condition. FIRpEE R
No sensitivity analysis is presented as the directors of the BARARAEERANETREH NIRRT
Company consider that the interest rate fluctuation on interest HEROFBEWAZETK B ES
income from bank balances is insignificant. D BRE DT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.
(f) Categories of financial instruments at 31

MEEMRERE®
H)EJZHE+—Em$ﬂI

December X5
2024 2023
—E-EF T =
usbD USD
ESH Ex
Financial assets: SREE
Equity investments at fair value BRARBEFEAEZESHFTA
through other comprehensive HEh 2 ER AR ERIZE
income 185,977 121,523
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEN AT ENSREE
(including cash and cash (BREReMASEEY)
equivalents) 23,824,923 25,842,285
Financial liabilities: = A=
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHKAAENEREE 5,833,504 7,604,445

(g) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

6.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of
fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises
into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December

Fair value measurements using level 1:

QIREEE
AABEREMSS2EE ZHNGERIHET
MEFR ST HEEEMBEBNERLER A
B NEER - U TAREBEFERECS
WARBEER  SHA2AREEFANGE
BT RBABED B=EFR

F-BBARE: AREREFHERHATURE
WERBERRBENEET
5.2 B8 CREHE) -

F_RBABE: HREEXABEEIEEL

ABREzBARE (E—RA
BHEAIRERID) o

FRBABE: BEFRBZATEEGHA
8-

AEENBRARABEEHEBNSEEIN
NEHEALZFE=—EFHANENEARE
& o

(@) RT-A=t—HBNAREERBRHE

EAE BRI EEAE

2024 2023
—ECmEF —F-=
usbD uUsD
EY ET
Description e
Recurring fair value measurements: &E#4QAAEBEIE
Equity investments at fair value BRAREBAESEAEEEHTA
through other comprehensive Hiv2E R E
income
— Listed security in Hong Kong — BB LTHESH 185,977 121,523
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

7. WARDIER

2024 2023
—EWmEFE —EZ=F
uUsbD UsD
Sy Y
Online game revenue LSRR A 9,058,556 9,908,937
Advertising revenue BERA 16 4
Total revenue FEV N 9,058,572 9,908,941
Disaggregation of revenue from REEFEHHBAZ
contracts with customers: I
Timing of revenue recognition WA TR
Over time B B ) #E 75 9,058,572 9,908,941

Segment information

For management purpose, the executive directors of the Company
consider that the Group generates revenue primarily from the
provision of online game services. The executive directors of
the Company review the operating results of the business as
one segment to make strategic decisions about resources to be
allocated. Therefore, the executive directors of the Company
consider that there is only one segment of the Group and no further
analysis is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

7.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Revenue from major customers:

The Group has a large number of game players, no individual game
players generated revenue which exceeded 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

The revenue generated from top five largest revenue collection
platforms, accounted for 71% (2023: 71%) of the Group’s revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The following table summarises the percentage of revenue from
games licensed by a single company or group exceeding 10% of the
Group’s revenue during the year ended 31 December 2024:

WARDEBER &)

REEEEFHBA :

AEEREHEEANESIR - #EERE
BUREANBABBAEERBEE-2 N
FTZA=T—HILEFERAMNI10%KNA L
TEC=FE) e

REAARBABZFEHRAGEREEFHE
—E-ME+-A=+—RALEFENKRAN
T1% (ZB==4% : 71%) °

TERPMREBEE T _NF+=—A=+—H1
FEREE QR KEBMATREREEMEANE
B ABIB10% U AME L

2024 2023

—EZME T =F

Game licensor A TERL I AA 8%* 13%
Game licensor B PRI EAB 16% 9%*

*

The corresponding percentage of revenue did not contribute over 10%
of the total revenue of the Group.

Geographical information

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax
assets, by country:

* PG HEEERAE DL EBB A REBEA
10% °

1 35 & R

REREDWIFABDEE (LR TAREM
BREERI) -

2024 2023

—E-MEF —T=F

usb USD

ES I

The PRC 2l 4,452,907 5,173,099
Hong Kong B8 2,687,890 237,498
Other locations H b [Em 2,478 54,345
7,143,275 5,464,942

No geographical information for revenue is presented as 99.99% of
the Group’s revenue are derived from global online customers.

HARAREE9.99% MM AR E 2 HRBEE
B B EE5 BRI AREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

7.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Game publishing service revenue

The Group is a publisher of online games developed by third party
game developers or its own. The Group licenses online games from
game developers and earns game publishing service revenue by
making a localised version of the licensed games and publishing
them to the game players through distribution platforms, include
major social networking websites (such as Facebook), online
application stores (such as Apple Inc.’s App Store (“Apple App”) and
Google Play installed in mobile telecommunications devices), web-
based and mobile game portals in certain countries and regions
(collectively referred to as “Platforms”), including the Group’s
websites. The games licensed to the Group are operated under
a free-to-play model whereby game players can play the games
free of charge and are charged for the purchase of Game Tokens
or other virtual items via payment channels, such as the various
mobile carriers and third-party internet payment systems (collectively
referred to as “payment channels”).

(i)  Principal Agent Consideration
Third party developed games
Proceeds earned from selling Game Tokens and other virtual
items are shared between the Group and game developers,
with the amount paid to game developers generally calculated
based on face value of Game Tokens or other virtual items
determined by game developers, after deducting certain
deductible fees, multiplied by a predetermined percentage
for each game. The deductible fees are predetermined and
negotiated game by game, including the fees paid to the
payment channels and the Platforms, as well as the credit
allowable for deduction for each game.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

BOE R M (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(i)  Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(1

The Group acts as Agent

With respect to the Group’s game licenses arrangements
entered into during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, the Group considered that the (i) game
developers are responsible for providing the game
product desired by the game players; (ii) the costs
incurred by the game developers to develop the games
are more than the licensing costs and game localisations
costs incurred by the Group; (iii) game developers have
the right to determine the pricing of in-game virtual items
and the specification, modification or update of the game
proposed by the Group. The Group’s responsibilities
are publishing, providing payment solution and market
promotion service, and thus the Group views game
developers to be its customers and considers itself as
the agent of game developers in the arrangements with
game players. Accordingly, the Group records the game
publishing service revenue from these licensed games,
net of amounts paid to game developers.

Games operated directly by the Group:

Games operated directly by the Group are in the form
of self-operation on its own websites and cooperation
with Platforms, which the Group is responsible for
determining Platforms and payment channels, hosting and
maintenance of game servers for game running, providing
customer service as well as marketing activities. For
games self-operated by the Group, payment channels are
responsible for payment collections related to the games.
For games cooperated with Platforms, Platforms are
responsible for distribution, platform maintenance, paying
player authentication and payment collections related to
the games.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(i)  Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)

Third party developed games (Continued)

(1) The Group acts as Agent (Continued)
Games operated directly by the Group: (Continued)
As the Group is responsible for identifying, contracting
with and maintaining the relationships of Platforms and
payment channels, commission fees paid to Platforms
and payment channels are included in cost of revenues
and presented on a gross basis. The Group considers it
is the primary obligor to game developers for the reasons
identified above as it has been given latitude by game
developers in selecting Platform and payment channels
for its service to game developers.

Different from the above analysis, for games cooperated
with Facebook if it had been specified by game
developers and Apple App, the game developers are
fully aware of Facebook and Apple App’s roles and
responsibilities. The Group considered that Facebook,
Apple App and itself provide services to the game
developers together, as the Group does not have the
latitude in selecting and negotiation with Facebook and
Apple App and does not have the primary responsibility
to game developers for the service provided by them,
commission charges by Facebook and Apple App are
deducted from revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(i)  Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(1

The Group acts as Agent (Continued)

Games subcontracted to Platforms:

Certain games are subcontracted to Platforms to operate
directly. For such subcontracted games, Platforms are
responsible for determining secondary Platforms and
payment channels, hosting and maintenance of game
servers for game running, providing customer service as
well as marketing activities. The Group’s responsibilities
are delivering games to Platforms, and thus the Group
views the game developers to be its customers and
considers itself as the agent of game developers in the
arrangements with Platforms, as the Group does not
have the primary responsibility to game developers for
the service provided by these Platforms. Accordingly, the
Group records revenue on a net basis, amounts paid to
game developers and revenue-sharing amounts paid to
Platforms or third party payment vendors are deducted
from revenue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

7. WARDEBER &

R BEITIREWA @)
FTEREAE (E)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(i)  Principal Agent Consideration (Continued) (i)

Third party developed games (Continued)

(2) The Group acts as Principal
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
there was a game license arrangement under which the
Group takes primary responsibilities of further game
development and updates, game operation, including
determining Platforms and payment channels, providing
customer services, hosting game servers, if needed, and
controlling pricing and game and services specifications
during the license period. The Group bears the cost
incurred to further develop the game. Under this type of
game license arrangement, the Group considers itself as
a principal in this arrangement. Accordingly, the Group
records the online game revenue from this third party
licensed game on a gross basis. Commission fees paid
to Platforms and payment channels and amortisation
of license fees paid to third party game developer are
recorded as cost of revenues.

Self-developed games

The Group sometimes enters into license arrangements
under which the Group takes primary responsibilities of game
development and game operation, including determining
Platforms and payment channels, providing customer services,
hosting game servers, if needed, and controlling pricing and
game and services specifications. The Group bears the cost
incurred to develop the games. Under this type of agreements,
the Group considers itself the principal. Accordingly, the Group
records the online game revenues from these games on a
gross basis. Commission fees paid to Platforms and payment
channels and amounts paid to licensor are recorded as cost of
revenue.

The Group self-develops mobile games. Revenues derived
from self-developed games are recorded on a gross basis as
the Group acts as a principal to fulfil most obligations related to
the mobile game operation. Commission fees paid to Platforms
and payment channels are recorded as cost of revenue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

7. WARDEBER &

TR ITRBWA @)

(i) Timing of revenue recognition (i) WA TEZIFRET
Third party developed games FE=F AR
(1) The Group acts as Agent (1) AEEEZRE

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

Games operated directly by the Group:

For the purposes of determining when services have
been provided to the respective players, the Group has
determined the following:

— Consumable virtual items represent items that are
extinguished after consumption in the form of fixed
charges levied on each round of games played. The
paying players will not continue to benefit from the
virtual items thereafter. Revenue is recognised at a
point in time (as a release from contract liabilities)
when the items are consumed and the related
services are rendered.

— Durable virtual items represent items that are
accessible and beneficial to paying players over
an extended period of time. Revenue is recognised
ratably over the average life of durable virtual items
for the applicable game, which the Group makes
best estimates to be average Player Relationship
Period.

The Group estimates the Player Relationship Period on
a game-by-game basis and re-assesses such periods
semi-annually. If there is insufficient data to determine the
Player Relationship Period, such as in the case of a newly
launched game, it estimates the Player Relationship
Period based on other similar types of games developed
by the Group or by third-party developers until the new
game establishes its own patterns and history. The Group
considers the games profile, target audience, and its
appeal to players of different demographics groups in
estimating the Player Relationship Period.

If the Group does not have the ability to differentiate
revenue attributable to durable virtual items from
consumable virtual items for a specific game, the Group
recognises revenue from both durable and consumable
virtual items for that game ratably over the Player
Relationship Period.

b3

REEFREE DB -
AT TE A M8 B B R AR 1 AR A 9
Wi - AEEBEE TFIRIE

- HRBERYMEERESMD
B BB IR EE B A
FAERETBEENY
e NERRUWER BTG
BEaNZEERD® - I
AT S 1% 7 3 R 4R 4R
28 AR 7% T 0 S A s B TR ({1
BENABENER) -

- WMERERDRRENER
RAURKHRARZENY
e WA E A B e R
SEE R AT 19 7] AR
(EAREEMIEREMET
FHMKEERY) NIRLL DI

R
& EIR (8 I B BE — i ET IR B
FH - YEAS¥FEHZSZHR -
11 S 45 T2 A0 ) B 2R e TE T K A 1R
Hi o Pl s e o RIRIR A
AEBERE=FREMBENEM
BRERRGHIREERY B
BT ARG R MES -
EHFTREESRE  AEEZE
BESBR - BIRDIR - A RS
RARADERE IR E S A o

AN 52 [ O B 5 SR B BRI B A 4R
FEBRY) P (& 0 Tt PR AR R R 1
eI - RIS BRI R A
HA Q42 L 1) e SR e A R B Tt R e
HFEEE R MmO -

BHREBEBERNAGT —T_POFEER @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(i) Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

Third party developed games (Continued)

(1) The Group acts as Agent (Continued)
Games subcontracted to Platforms:
Revenue of games subcontracted to Platforms are
recognised ratably over the Player Relationship Period,
for (i) the Group has a continuous obligation to game
developers to coordinate Platforms for providing service
to game players, and (ii) the Group does not have the
ability to differentiate revenue from games subcontracted
to Platforms attributable to durable virtual items from
consumable virtual items for a specific game.

(2) The Group acts as Principal
Revenue of third party developed games when the Group
acts as a Principal are recognised ratably over the Player
Relationship Period or as the durable virtual items are
consumed, which is similar to the policy of third party
developed games operated directly by the Group when
the Group acts as an Agent mentioned above.

Self-developed games

Revenue of self-developed games are recognised ratably
over the Player Relationship Period or as the durable virtual
items are consumed, which is similar to the policy of third
party developed games when the Group acts as a Principal
mentioned above.

Advertising revenue

The Group provides advertising placement for a specified period on
the interface of online games. The Group recognises revenue ratably
over the period during which the advertising services are provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTBREH T (R)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

8. OTHER LOSSES, NET

8. HttERFH

2024 2023
—E-MEFE —EF-=
uUsbD UsD
Epre ETT
Government grants IR 47 B 22,755 47,340
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gains B (E18) Wt 558 (236,033) 188,462
Donations 18 - (675,566)
Reversal of impairment of prepaid TE{T hiw i B R E el
royalty fees - 305,980
Gain on disposal of property, LEME - BE RFENHKES
plant and equipment - 25
Others Hitr (5,704) 887
(218,982) (132,872)
9. FINANCE INCOME 9. MBWA
2024 2023
—EomE —z==
uUsbD UsD
EPH e
Interest revenue from bank balances KB RITEHRAF EUWA 116,246 74,851
Net foreign exchange gains I H a5 58 - 94,248
116,246 169,099
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BF # B A<
2024 2023
—E-F —FT-=
usbD USD
E ET
Lease interests HEFE 48,505 65,722
Net foreign exchange losses ME 5 1855 108,528 =
157,033 65,722
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REM T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. TERAX

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
usbD usD
Sy ETT

Current tax — Overseas withholding BEATRIE — BINEHI TS EL

income tax (“WHT”) ([FEIFT13HL)

— Provision for the year — FAEE 183,377 150,474
Deferred tax (Note 29) EERIE (M15E29) 7,975 (5,700)
191,352 144,774

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
Cayman lIslands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands
income tax.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI, the company
incorporated in BVI are not subject to any income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 as the Group did not generate
any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during both years.

Guangzhou You Lai Information Technology Company Limited was
qualified as “Advanced Technology Service Enterprises” in 2024 and
2023 and was entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Guangzhou Suiyue Niandai Software Technology Company Limited
was qualified as “Small Low-Profit Enterprise” for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023. Guangzhou Ding Zhang Information
Technology Company Limited was qualified as “Small Low-Profit
Enterprise” for the year ended 31 December 2024. These companies
were entitled to a preferential income tax rate. From 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2027, the profits no more than RMB3 million are
taxed 5%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B IR (4)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 1. FBHRAxX @

No income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in the
PRC has been made for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 as the Group did not generate any assessable profits during
the both years.

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends
distributed by a company established in the PRC to a foreign
investor with respect to profits derived after 1 January 2008 are
generally subject to a 10% WHT. If a foreign investor incorporated in
Hong Kong meets the conditions and requirements under the double
taxation treaty arrangement entered into between the PRC and Hong
Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to
5%.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
does not have any plan to require its PRC subsidiaries to distribute
their retained earnings and intends to retain them to operate and
expand its business in the PRC. Accordingly, no deferred income tax
liability on PRC WHT was accrued as of the end of each reporting
period.

The Group has subcontracted games to a platform operating in
Vietnam. According to the applicable the Vietnam tax regulations,
royalty fees generated from Vietnam are subject to a 10% WHT.

The Group cooperates with a platform in Brazil. According to the
applicable the Brazil tax regulations, income generated from Brazil
is subject to 10% remittance tax and 15% income tax, which is
withheld by the platform.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REM T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 1. B8 @
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product FR1S B 5 2 B BR PSR AT BT IR SR AR B (b 26 P
of loss before income tax multiplied by the PRC enterprise income 1SH R 25% FiSHITE 2 MR BRI T -

tax rate of 25% is as follows:

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
usbD usD
EH ETT
Loss before income tax KRS BT E 18 (3,016,759) (5,626,157)
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25% BRI E25%FH EMBIIE (754,190) (1,406,539)
Effect of different tax rates available to FEARANTRMRB AT TR RN
different subsidiaries - 406,605 988,545
Tax effect of temporary differences and WERRAEREZEZERBBEED
tax losses not recognised M 468,344 423,367
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BARMBAR TSR (126,424) (51,654)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible BT E T HB ARS8
for tax purpose BT E 5,665 40,581
Tax losses previously recognised and reversed 4t i #7231 85 [0 1) 1 15 5 18 7,975 -
Overseas WHT BINEIFTS TR 183,377 150,474
Income tax expense FiSHAX 191,352 144,774

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B IR (4)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

12.LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the

12. FREE
AREERRRTENG / (GEA) AT 578

following: HIBR -
2024 2023
—E-mF T =
uUsbD UsSD
EPH e
Amortisation of intangible assets ERAE#RH
— Amortisation of licenses — FFAIREEE S (T AMARKA)
(included in cost of revenue) 32,405 10,637
— Amortisation of licenses (net off revenue) — FRAIREEESE (BRI 102,465 49,232
— Amortisation of other intangible assets —HihmpEESHE G A
(included in administrative expenses) THFE®) 3,079 4,723
137,949 64,592
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % - BiE L RETE 276,209 296,768
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 296,601 300,565
Directors’ emoluments (Note 13) EEH (M5E13)
— As Directors —1ERESE 37,164 37,516
— For management —1EAEERE 187,901 195,870
225,065 233,386
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BE &R ENHKES
equipment - (25)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) BT A R g (M3E35) (463,420) =
Research and development expenses MERZ 1,383,271 1,804,481
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEN NS
— Audit services — Bt AR 248,641 249,015
— Non-audit services — IEEE IR 1,282 =
249,923 249,015
Loss allowance provision for trade receivables ‘& 5 [ W F I8 Rl (E B 1B & 156,961 249,805
Impairment of prepayment for equity R ENAENFRE (GTA
investments (included in administrative TEF )
expenses) 50,000 1,448,656
Reversal of impairment of prepaid royalty fees  FA{THREZERERE (5t A
(included in other losses, net) Hth g5 1855 ) = (305,980)
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments BINAK (BIEZEEHMH)
— Wages, salaries and bonuses —TI& HFakitsa 2,553,876 3,165,843
— Pension costs — defined contribution plans —BEEKAE — RERNKEE 96,096 188,748
— Social security costs, housing benefits —HERERSR - EEEH R
and other employee benefits HEtiEBRET 258,080 543,452
2,908,052 3,898,043

e

ERE

FEFEBRAT —E_NEER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)
A OB REM T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
13.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 13.EERFETHAEFHMREA

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EREHMAL
EMPLOYEES
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EBRFETHAEEHM
emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to directors and chief ENENTESEREEITHRABNSE
executive are as follows: BT -
2024
“E-mE
Other social
security
costs,
Pension housing
costs - benefits
defined and other
contribution employee
Name of directors EENF Fees Salaries plans benefits Total
Hit & RE
B R
BESHA - BARAM
ik ¢ REMMTE EEER @it
usb usD usb usb usD
EY EYe E EY £n
(Note i)
(Brati)
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. LU Yuanfeng BRIk - 53,784 3,690 2,902 60,376
Mr. HUANG Guozhan HERLE - 46,945 3,198 2,515 52,658
Mr. HUANG Degiang HERTAE - 46,945 3,198 2,515 52,658
Ms. LUO Simin (Note ii) Bt (W) - 19,745 1,353 1,111 22,209
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTEE :
Mr. LI Yi Wen FRUGE 12,232 - - - 12,232
Mr. LU Qi Bo BERUELE 12,232 - - - 12,232
Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton BEEHE 12,700 - - - 12,700
37,164 167,419 11,439 9,043 225,065
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)
AORTBREH T (R)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE
13.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 13.EERFETHAEFHMREA

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EEREHMAL @
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () ESBRFETBRAEFHM =

emoluments (Continued)

2023
i S
Other social
security costs,
Pension housing
costs - benefits
defined and other
contribution employee
Name of directors EEfE Fees Salaries plans benefits Total
HibiteRE
BESRA— KA EREA
He Fe  REMTEE REMESRER fast
usb usb usb usDb usb
e e eI eI e
(Note i)
(WsE1)
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. LU Yuanfeng PER & % 4 - 56,308 3,553 3,217 63,078
Mr. HUANG Guozhan HEEAE - 49,089 3,079 2,788 54,956
Mr. HUANG Degiang BiEREE = 49,089 3,079 2,788 54,956
Ms. LUO Simin (Note i) REHLT (M) = 20,377 1,303 1,200 22,880
Independent non-executive directors: BUHHITEE
Mr. LI Yi Wen TRk 12,408 - - - 12,408
Mr. LU Qi Bo ERUREE 12,408 - - - 12,408
Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton FEBHE 12,700 = = = 12,700
37,516 174,863 11,014 9,993 233,386
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B R (4)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

13.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Salary paid to a director is generally an emolument paid or
receivable in respect of that person’s other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its

subsidiary undertakings.
(ii)  Appointed on 15 December 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during
the year.

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

No other significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

13.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 13.EERIFIETHBAEHFMRE

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(c) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
included three directors (2023: two). The emoluments of the
remaining two (2023: three) individuals are set out below:

BREHMAL @

(c) TEBREHFMAL
ERAEEREREFMALEE=S
EE(“T-_=F:@E) HTEE
SECZF ZA) ALZHBBRIIM

™
2024 2023
—E-MF —ERT=HF
uUsbD usbD
Epn ET
Wages, salaries and bonuses TIE - #Faekiti 107,492 173,677
Pension costs — defined BESNAN — REHKETE
contribution plans 8,955 9,475
Other social security costs, Hitt gRERE - FEEF &
housing benefits and other HibfE E1&@F|
employee benefits 6,977 8,613
123,424 191,765
The emoluments fell within the following bands: HFMNFLATEE :

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
—E-MmF —E-=
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000/ 7T 2 3

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or
the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

REE-T-NFER-T-_=F+=A
=+—HILFE  AfEHRERERNE
ERERTHALTIMEAMS - BB
MMAREE & E A RBERRAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REM T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

14.DIVIDEND 14 IR E
The directors of the Company did not recommend the payment of RRAREFTEBRNBE-_T_NF+=
any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil). A=+—RLEFEZHEMRE(ZTZ=%F:
) o
15.LOSS PER SHARE 15. BRE 18
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based on FREARREEEB BB TSRS -

the following:

2024 2023
—EMF —ZF=
usbD usbD
ESp e
Loss B
Loss for the purpose of basic and A EESREARBEEAMS
diluted loss per share o) g} (3,208,111) (5,770,931)
2024 2023
—2omEF i ——
Number of shares RHOEE
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ BLafESREAREEHENSH
shares in issue less shares held for EETHINE T T RREE R
the Share Option Scheme for the MERETEFE RS (Mista)
purpose of calculating basic and
diluted loss per share (Note a) 1,861,021,877 1,861,021,877

Notes: MIEE -

(a) The loss per share is determined based on that 1,861,021,877 (2023: (a) ERBEDVEREZRTHOMETHEAR
1,861,021,877) shares were the weighted average number of ordinary #HAE1,861,021,877TR (=T ==4 :
shares in issue excluding the 138,978,123 (2023: 138,978,123) shares 1,861,021,877) (T REHZE T -WF
which were the weighted average number held for the Share Option TZA=tT—RALEFERBERETEFAEYN
Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2024, without taking into A8 20138,978,123 (Z T == :
account any shares which may be granted and issued by the Company 138,978,123%) ) 5t & - EHR Tt RARFIR
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. BERERT SR REITOHERRS

(b) The 23,649,722 (2023: 23,649,722) options granted and remained (b) HREHmEKRITER23,649,722% (ZF =
unexercised are not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share =4 1 23,649,722(7) BREHBE T Y
because they are antidilutive for the years ended 31 December 2024 FERZZF-_=F+-A=Zt+—HLEFEERE
and 2023. These options could potentially dilute basic loss per share in SHAE - BN E RSB BRI EKZ
the future. EHERETELEAN - ZTERENRRATES

BESRANER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B IR (4)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 1% - BERRE

Office Leasehold Motor
equipment Computers improvements  vehicles Total
BOERE Bl HENEEE RE @t
usD usb usb usD usb
eV e e eV e
Cost BA
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=£-5-H 115,264 424,754 2,194,768 109,137 2,843,923
Additions NE 768 32,948 - - 33,716
Disposals HE (82) - = = (82)
Exchange differences ERER (3,264) (11,410) (62,102) - (76,776)
At 31 December 2023 and R-BZ=F+=A=+-H
1 January 2024 RR-Z-_mFE-FA—-H 112,686 446,292 2,132,666 109,137 2,800,781
Additions NE - 5,736 - - 5,736
Exchange differences EXER (3,049) (11,688) (57,558) - (72,295)
At 31 December 2024 R-B-M&E+=-A=1+-H 109,637 440,340 2,075,108 109,137 2,734,222
Accumulated depreciation 2 E
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=Zf-F-H 115,206 399,140 1,210,709 83,671 1,808,726
Charge for the year FREH 82 13,703 261,156 21,827 296,768
Disposals & (45) - - = (45)
Exchange differences ERESE (3,250) (10,742) (34,628) - (48,620)
At 31 December 2023 and R-BZ=F+ZA=+-H
1 January 2024 ER-ZE-mE-F—H 111,993 402,101 1,437,237 105,498 2,056,829
Charge for the year FRAXE 160 14,958 257,452 3,639 276,209
Exchange differences BREE (3,046) (10,786) (42,493) - (56,325)
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-MmE+-A=t-H 109,107 406,273 1,652,196 109,137 2,276,713
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-mE+-A=t-H 530 34,067 422,912 - 457,509
At 31 December 2023 R-F-=F+-A=+-8 693 44,191 695429 3,639 743,952
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REM T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

17.LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. HERFRAEEE
Disclosures of lease-related items: THEHERRIER 2K -
At 31 December 2024 2023
+=A=+—H —EZMEF —ZT=-=
usbD USD
EH eV
Right-of-use assets — Buildings FERAEEE —BF 470,935 783,276
Lease commitments of short-term leases 2 Hi#H & ~ fl EF ¥z 517 442
The maturity analysis, based on BERMARSTEHASERE
undiscounted cash flows, of the BEMENIHITOT
Group’s lease liabilities is as follows:
— Less than 1 year — DIMF 400,434 413,313
— Between 1 and 2 years —1E2%F 266,223 410,755
— Between 2 and 5 years —2FE5F 7,135 280,940
673,792 1,105,008
Year ended 31 December 2024 2023
BE+=-A=+—-HLFE —E-MF —E-=F
usbD uUsD
EPH ET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use ERAEEENTERX
assets 296,601 300,565
Lease interests HEFE 48,505 65,722
Expenses related to short-term leases %2 HiFH E4HRAFM 8,737 9,611
Total cash outflow for leases FRHEENRESRHARE 417,203 407,786
Additions to right-of-use assets EREEELM - 120,064
Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to HEBZ—REETAB1E29F - HEKNIZ
9 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and ERIEERE B eSS ETRIGR IR -
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease BRI EENEEZRLY - EHEEETSFA
agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets EERBIER M ©

may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

18.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. BILEE
Game
intellectual
properties Computer
and licenses software Total
R A E R
RErAfE B84 MEt
(UR]] (U] uUsbD
e e ETT
Cost A
At 1 January 2023 R-B-=%—HA—H 3,949,867 47,177 3,997,044
Additions NE 73,448 - 73,448
Exchange differences ERERE (10,803) (482) (11,285)
At 31 December 2023 and R-ZB-=F+=-A=+—H
1 January 2024 R=—B-mE—A—H 4,012,512 46,695 4,059,207
Additions B 257,745 - 257,745
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHTE AR (1,683) - (1,683)
Exchange differences ERERE (10,135) (1,787) (11,922)
At 31 December 2024 R-EBE-_mME+=-A=+—H 4,258,439 44,908 4,303,347

Accumulated amortisation and ATt B ERBEEE
impairment losses

At 1 January 2023 R-—B-=%—H—H 3,760,513 42,126 3,802,639
Amortisation for the year FREE 61,559 3,033 64,592
Exchange differences M X ERE (8,922) (514) (9,436)
At 31 December 2023 and R-BE-_=F+=-HA=+—H

1 January 2024 E—Z-_mME—-HA—H 3,813,150 44,645 3,857,795
Amortisation for the year F N 136,536 1,413 137,949
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB A A (1,683) - (1,683)
Exchange differences M H ZEEE (9,486) (1,717) (11,203)
At 31 December 2024 REB-ZOF+=A=+—H 3,938,517 44,341 3,982,858
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2024 R-E-_NmE+=-A=+—H 319,922 567 320,489
At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+=-A=+—H 199,362 2,050 201,412
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REM T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
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19. SUBSIDIARIES 19. B A A
Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December 2024 AEERZT-_MFR-_FT-_=F+=-A=+
and 2023 are as follows: —HRMBARFBHET ¢
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and Percentage of ownership interest/
registration paid uplregistered voting power/profit sharing
and operations capital  WARER /B /FEAREAL  Principal
Name L/ R BEARER/ 2024 2023 activities
P RN HHAK o S 1 “RITE OIEER
Directly owned
EREAR
Digital Hollywood International Limited (‘Hollywood BVI") BVI usD100 100% 100%  Investment holding
Digital Hollywood International Limited ([ Hollywood BVI ) ABANES 10037 RERR
Proficient City Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HKD10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Proficient City Hong Kong Limited Bk 10,0007 T RERHK
Angame Inc. BVI/Malaysia usD100 - 100%  Operation of
mobile games
Angame Inc. AERSHE/BARE 10057 EETHER
Indirectly owned
BEEE
Game Hollywood Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong, HKD1 100% 100%  Operation of online
Taiwan and Vietnam games
Game Hollywood Hong Kong Limited B%/B% AEREE 157 EERLEE
Now To Play Game Limited Hong Kong/Overseas HKD10,000 100% 100%  Operation of web-based
games
Now to Play Game Limited B4/ 85 1000047 LEAELE
ENEREEREAR A (Guangzhou You Lai Information the PRC 1SD2,000,000 100% 100%  Technical support
Technology Company Limited “Guangzhou You Lai")* services
BMEREEHBERAR ([BMER]) i 2,000,007 R &S
BNERAESHEARLA (Guangzhou Zhang Ying Kong the PRC RWIB1,000,000 - 100%  Development of mobile
Information Technology Company Limited)* games
BNERAEEHRARAR Gl ABR1,000,0007 REFHEE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

BOE R M (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE
19. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

19. i B A =] (=)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and Percentage of ownership interest/
registration paid uplregistered voting power/profit sharing
and operations capitl  HAEER /BZE/FEANEAL  Principal
Name e/ BRARES/ 2024 2023 actvities
P REEHE SR “E-mE Z3IZE O IEER
BANmRAFREEREERRE (Guangzhou Suiyue Niandai the PRC RWIB1,270,000 100% 100%  Marketing and technical
Software Technology Company Limited)* support service
BT AEREANEERAR Giléd ARE1,270,0007 B R R R RS
FREZEERRERAT (Beiing You Tang Information the PRC RIB,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Technology Company Limited)*
IrEEEERNRERAT Giléd AE%2,000,0007 RERR
FREREEHRERLT (Beijing You Lai Information the PRC RWIB1,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Technology Company Limited)*
FREREEMRERAT Giléd AKE1,000,0007 RERR
BNELFAZEREAERLA (Guangzhou Zhangin Suiyue the PRC HKD200,000 100% - Dormant
Digital Technology Company Limited)*
BMZLAAZEREARAR hE 200,007 RS
ENSE[EEREERLF (Guangzhou Ding Zhang Information the PRC RMB100,000 100% - Development of mobile
Technology Company Limited)* games
BNREEENRERAT Giléd AR®100,0007 RETRES
* The English names of certain subsidiaries of the Company referred * EXFAAARETHEBRARNKEXEHRE
herein represent the management’s best efforts in translating the BERNEZSEARMENEXEZE  BAZ
Chinese name of these companies as no English names have been SRR EELEETE -
registered.
Note: The Company has set up a structured entity, Epic City Limited (“Share M RARBERY —REBMEEFEEpic City

Scheme Trust”), solely for the purpose of administering and holding the
Company’s shares for the Share Option Scheme (Notes 30 and 33),
the Company has the power to direct the relevant activities of Share
Scheme Trust and it has the ability to use its power over Share Scheme
Trust to affect its exposure to returns. Therefore, the assets and
liabilities of Share Scheme Trust are included in the Group’s balance
sheet and the shares it held are presented as a deduction in equity as
shares held for the Share Option Scheme.

Limited ([ D &T8IE5E)) - EREEERE
BARRBBEAET S ERRN (HE30 %
33) « AR EBEET RO EETENARE
B WHENHROASETERENATE
HER@E - Bt ROBIERNEERE
AEIRAKENEERESR  MEMFKEN
Bt Th LA SRS A ot Bl A B 0 25 A
B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

20. REFE R FRE R

2024 2023

—E-MmE T

usbD usD

Ep ET

Unlisted investments FELTIRE 53,361 30,485
Set out below are the details of the associates of the Group. The AT E 5 AL EH S N A E R o T3

associates as listed below has share capital consisting solely of

ERRNBENMEBREMARA - BREMAA

registered capital, which are held directly by the Group. HAEEEERS -
Details of interests in associates as at 31 December 2024 and 2023: RZBZEFRZT_=F+-A=+—8R
Bt N R REEES ¢
Place of % of ownership
business/country interest
of incorporation FERERE (%) Nature of the Measurement
Name EEnY 2024 2023 relationship method
8 ERBIER it S 13 ZTICE BEME FREE
LESEREARAA (Shanghai Jiying the PRC

Technology Company Limited,

“Shanghai Jiying") (Note i) 20 20 Note ii and i Equity
LESEMRARRA ([ LELE]) (M) HE M g Riii g
EMNZRREILEBRAE (Guangzhou Duolai the PRC

Technology Investment Co., Ltd., “Duolai”)

(Note v) 30 30 Noteiiiand vi Equity
ENERMEBABRAA ([5%)) Gk

(Htitv) il fvi (3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZ= —%

THE+ZA=T-HALFE

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Shanghai Jiying is principally engaged in the production and operation
of virtual reality recreational machines.

The Group has designated a member in the Board of Directors which
enables the Group to exercise significant influence in Shanghai Jiying
through the participation in operational, investing and financing actions.
Consequently, Shanghai Jiying has been accounted for as an associate.

Shanghai Jiying is a private company engaged in the game operation
and there is no quoted market price available for its equity.

There were no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in
the associates.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group assessed the
performance of Shanghai Jiying and considered the related investment
to be irrecoverable and therefore, the entire amount of the investment
in associate was fully provided for. There was no movement for the
impairment for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Duolai is principally engaged in the provision of rental services and
information technology consulting services.

The Group has 30% of the voting rights in the shareholders’ meetings
which enables the Group to exercise significant influence in Duolai.
Consequently, Duolai has been accounted for as an associate.

L

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

BREBE

Rt

20. A E DT RER )

LEEBIENEERREBRBNEERE
78 o

AEEERERGHER—EKE  RAKEA
BERSELE RARBETHN LEEET
FRERFES - At LEEBEIIE— KB
BRANE -

LEERA—RUEFEREENLERR K
R R IS IME -

BESRAEERBEARNEENIAE

RBE-Z-NAF+_A=T—RALFE &
SEFHE LEEBNRE - TRR/EBKER
ARYRE - FE R ERARNEHRESED
EHEHREE  RBE_T-MFR-FT_=
FH-A=Z+t—HILFE  BETEZH -

LR BN FRHEBERSE RE SN KHEAR

o

S

REBEERRAES A% - F4AEH
AHEHRITEERTE N - Al - ZREHER
B A RIALR ©

EBRAR

ZEYFFER @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

20. A E DT RER )

The following table shows the Group’s share of the amount of one TRINTAEBEN —KEAEDEARNIE
immaterial associate that is accounted for using the equity method. BABERRINRE o
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
usbD usD
EY ET
At 31 December: R+=A=+—8:
Carrying amounts of interests M REE 53,361 30,485
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=+—-HLEFE
Share of profits FEAE 5= T 24,045 4,871
Share of total comprehensive income R emk A% 24,045 4,871

As at 31 December 2024, the bank and cash balances of the
Group’s associates in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to
USD283,539 (2023: USD254,787). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations.

21.EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

RZE-_NE+-_A=+—H AE£BEHPEH
BERRIUARBIENBRITIRBASES A
283,539 L (ZE = =4 : 254,787k L) °
1A B HE 3 R SIS S22 R A R B A HNEE B 6 16
il o

2. BAREBEEFTEBHESEHITA
B2 S R RS

INCOME
2024 2023
—ENE —F-=

usbD UsD
EPH e

Non-current assets 3F5ﬁ§bﬁ?

Equity securities, at fair value BAZES RANEBE

Listed in Hong Kong — EBEE LT — BERHBIERER

FingerTango Inc. ~A] 185,977 121,523

The Group acquired approximately 0.6% of common stocks of
FingerTango Inc., a company listed in Hong Kong which is principally
engaged in the development, operation and publishing mobile game
business in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

AU ERRME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. E 5 BIWRIE
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
usD usD
Ep ET
Trade receivables 2 Z e RE 1,512,047 3,599,221
Less: allowance for impairment W ORERE (618,372) (2,431,437)
Carrying amount BRMEE 893,675 1,167,784

Trade receivables are arising from the development and operation of
online game business. The credit terms of trade receivables granted
to the Platforms and third party payment vendors are usually 0 to

120 days and 0 to 30 days, respectively.

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on invoice date, and

BHEYFIBREBBEREBORERE
B RTFAERFE=ZINFREHEFNES
EUKBEEHRRE DR A0E120A ROE

30H -

BIRWFIAER AR AT KNG EHE

net of allowance, is as follows: BRERDITIAT -
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=

usb USD

EYH e

0-30 days 0£30H 473,849 409,335
31-90 days 31£90H 263,730 353,209
91-180 days 91%180H 78,861 215,252
Over 180 days HiB180H 77,235 189,988
893,675 1,167,784
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables:

22. E5 RN FIE ()

E 5 RYGRIRR B R BB

2024 2023

—EMF T

uUsbD UsD

Sy Y

At 1 January ®n—A—H 2,431,437 2,236,639
Increase in loss allowance for the year £ (A E518 B &1 A1 156,961 249,805
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKB AR (1,932,071) =
Exchange difference BE 3 25 (37,955) (55,007)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—8H 618,372 2,431,437

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables, which is calculated using a provision matrix
(including the use of internal and external data sources) where a
fixed provision rate applies depending on the shared credit risk
characteristics of the trade receivables.

In assessing the shared credit risk characteristics of the trade
receivables, the Group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort.
This includes information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2024 and 2023

was determined as follows for trade receivables:

.EZRWRIE @)

BUHEE RZT_NFR-_T-_=F+=A
Tt HRESRERKRFNEET A THEER

1
Category 1* Category 2* Category 3* Category 4* Total
E-8 soE F=8 iy @t
Expected loss rate BHEEE 5% 30% 50% 100%
Loss allowance as at R-Z-NE+=A8
31 December 2024 =t-ANEERE
(USD) (£57) 47,035 = = 571,337 618,372
Loss allowance as at R-ZZT-=ZF+=A
31 December 2023 =+ -HREBRE
(USD) (%) 61,059 3,193 213 2,366,972 2,431,437
* The Group’s loss allowance categories of trade receivables are as * AREEE 5 RWFENBREEBERNT -
follows:

Category 1 — Highest grade, lowest credit risk

Category 2 — Medium grade, low credit risk

Category 3 — Poor standing, high credit risk

Category 4 — High likelihood of default, very high credit risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are

denominated in the following currencies:

E—F - B HEEERR

EZF - hREAR - KEERR

E=F - B REERR

EE - REOARNE  EERNEERR

S8 B 1 5 P OB ) BT L7 A T 51
e -

2024 2023
—E-NE —E—=

usbD usb

ES XL

usb R 649,380 993,697
RMB AR 150,973 91,328
HKD BT 93,322 82,759
893,675 1,167,784
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REM T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

23.CONTRACT COSTS AND LIABILITIES 23. 8RR AERBE
Disclosures of revenue-related items: WAIEETEE 2B -

At 31 December 2024 2023
R+=—HA=+—8 —E-ME —EC-=F
uUsbD UsD
Y i

Contract costs — unamortised BHIRA — REITRBIEM

commission cost charged by REHEFESAAR

distribution platforms 530,142 543,869
At 31 December 31 December 1 January
i 2024 2023 2023
—EZME T =F —E-=F
+=ZA=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H —A—H
uUsD uUsD UsSD
EpH EM ey

Contract liabilities — unamortised A%AE - #HEAR

revenue from sales of Game E B R TR

Tokens and virtual items for PR TN )

web-based games and mobile P15 B9 AR BE 85 U

games 1,433,107 1,390,579 1,405,456
Contract liabilities — royalty fees A% & & — FEEKEH

received in advance hRAEE 333,480 364,621 339,621
Total contract liabilities EHEERTE 1,766,587 1,755,200 1,745,077

Contract receivables (included in A% EWFE (GTAES
trade receivables) FEUERIE) 893,675 1,167,784 932,850
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

BOE R M (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

23.CONTRACT COSTS AND LIABILITIES 23.84#BAKREE #

(Continued)

2024 2023
—E-MFE —F-=
uUsbD uUsD
E3 ET
Transaction prices allocated to APREFREHRBITHBHET
performance obligations unsatisfied WHEBRHE+—A=+—H
at the end of the year and expected IEFERRBBANZSER :
to be recognised as revenue in the
year ended 31 December:
— 2024 — —EpNF N/A 1,755,200
— 2025 ——ZE-RF 1,766,587 -
1,766,587 1,755,200
Year ended 31 December 2024 2023
BE+ZA=+—HLFE —E-MEF —E-=F
usbD USD
E EY
Revenue recognised in the year that RERERITNEITAELH
was included in contract liabilities at BEMNKA
the beginning of the year 1,390,579 1,405,456
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R M EE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

23.CONTRACT COSTS AND LIABILITIES 23.84#BAKREE #

(Continued)

Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year: FAEHNBENEREE) :
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
uUsbD uUsD
E3 ET
Increase due to operations in the year B A& Emig 0 1,433,107 1,415,579
Transfer of contract liabilities to BHEEERZWA
revenue (1,421,720) (1,405,456)
A contract liability primarily consists of the unamortised revenue EREBEERFERBIHEHE IR R F R
from sales of Game Tokens and virtual items for web-based games B B2 S A E B R AT S M R B SR -
and mobile games, where there is still an implied obligation to be ERAEENERENETATET

fulfilled by the Group over time.

Costs to obtain contracts, mainly related to contract acquisition ERANNKAEZTEHELKRBERAERE - M
costs, which primarily consist of unamortised commissions cost BEFERFEFTREMBEIO ARG HAS
charged by distribution platforms are capitalised as contract costs MAEBRESRIIRERPRNETS QKA R
and amortised over the Player Relationship Period because the i AAREETERATREIZERAR - EEAXR
Group expects to recover these costs. Capitalised contract costs are {EHEHR AR EREBRARTERZP#
amortised to profit or loss when the related revenue is recognised. 8 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B IR (4)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

2. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 24 FNRREMEKRKE
RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
—E_ME —F-=
uUsbD uUsD
E3 ET
Included in non-current assets FAERBEE
Prepayment for equity investments (Note i) 51 EFBN R (M &Ei) - 50,000
Prepayment for interests in an associate B A AR R O TR K (YRR

(Note ii) 3,425,000 3,520,000
Prepayment for game development P kSRR BN 73,090 75,117
Prepayment for intangible asset (Note vi) A ETAR R (B Evi) 2,333,424 =
Deposits e 9,467 60,700

5,840,981 3,705,817
Included in current assets FARBEE
Receivables relating to payment channels BRI AR B EWIE (FiEiv)

(Note iv) 3,281,038 1,994,949
Prepaid royalty fees (Note iii) TERThHREE (MY Eiii) 941,242 5,730,006
Prepaid advertising charges FENESER 13,957 9,110
Prepaid server rental expenses AR RREHEER 13,755 89,328
Other receivables (Note v) H o pE U IE (M aEv) 572,408 420,558

4,822,400 8,243,951

PEHREBEEGRART T _INFEFIR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B R (4)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

24 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

Prepayment of USD50,000 was for the right to equity purchase of
certain shares of a company engaged in game operation. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, impairment losses of USD50,000 (2023:
nil) was made for this equity investment.

On 20 April 2018, Hollywood BVI made a prepayment to purchase the
shares to be issued by Nouveau Capital Partners Corp. (“Nouveau”),
which was established with limited liability in accordance with the laws
of BVI, and it is principally engaged in investment holding, at a total
consideration of USD3,500,000. As at the date of this report, to the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, Nouveau held approximately 16.27%
of the issued share capital in Bright Idea Life Company Limited (78A
HEIERRMD AR AR, “Bright Idea Life”). Bright Idea Life is a company
established with limited liability in accordance with the laws of Taiwan
district. The right to purchase of the shares will be effective when the
Investment Commission in Taiwan approves this transaction. Pursuant
to the arrangements, Hollywood BVI has the right to require Nouveau
to refund all the initial aggregate principal amount of USD3,500,000 in
the condition that the conversion cannot be executed due to relevant

approval cannot be obtained from Investment Commission in Taiwan.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Nouveau refused to
refund all the initial aggregate principal amount of USD3,500,000 to
Hollywood BVI, therefore, Hollywood BVI sued Nouveau and a common
shareholder of Bright Idea Life and Nouveau respectively. As at the
date of this report, the case in relation to the common shareholder of
Bright Idea Life and Nouveau is no longer pursued and the case in
relation to Nouveau is still under the court’s processing. Impairment
provision of USD3,500,000 was made as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
USD3,500,000).

Prepayment for interests in an associate represents the prepayment of
RMB25,000,000 to the Group’s associate, Duolai, for further investment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B IR (4)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

24 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(iii) As at 31 December 2024, prepaid royalty fees mainly represent the
prepayments of approximately USD941,000 (2023: USD5,730,000) to
certain game developers. During the year ended 31 December 2024, no
impairment losses (2023: reversal of impairment losses of USD305,980)
was made for these prepaid royalty fees.

(iv) Receivables relating to payment channels mainly represent the balances
in PayPal and Skrill (formerly Moneybookers), for cash collection from
game players for games operated on the Group’s websites.

(v) Impairment on other receivables is measured as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a deposit
or receivable has occurred since initial recognition, the impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit losses. Based on the Group’s
assessment on other receivables, impairment provision of USD84,676
was made as at 31 December 2024 (2023: USD89,449).

(vi) Prepayment for intangible asset represents the prepayment of
approximately HK$18,000,000 for acquisition of software copyright.

24. AR R H M EWFIE @)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

R-T-_mME+-_A=+—H BIREEE
Z g E T R B R TR M) FIE X994 1,000
EnL(ZZT =% :5,730,000%7T) - REZE
—TEoNE+ZA=+—HILFE  HERK
SHEMNREBRBREEE (ZS=F : &
Bl {8 E518305,980 % 7T) °

BB RRENERKIEE ZENPayPal &
Skrill (RTfEMoneybookers) RE &k + o5t
TR S B 408 i 22 4B 1 30 R ) 302 8% B R B

Hi WA AR REZ12E A BHEERE
Y2 HEHEEEERH 2 BT aVRERE
EERBIETABEMME © 48 PMRHERE
FHRRERFIENE SRR ARG - Alize
HEHEEEET2RE REREEYHM
BRFENFE  RZT-_NF+=—A=+
—BEEH R E R #584,676k T (T =4 ¢
89,4493 7T) ©

B ETA N BRI M i 0 TR SRR A
18,000,000/ 7T ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

25.BANK AND CASH BALANCES 25. RITRIREEER
Bank and cash balances carry interest at prevailing market rate R1TRIBSEBRIENF0.0001%%0.5% (=
ranging from 0.0001% to 0.5% (2023: 0.0001% to 0.20%) per T =4 :0.0001%Z£0.20%) WIRITTIHF
annum. TR o
The bank and cash balances are denominated in the following RITRBSERIATIEEFE -
currencies:
2024 2023
—E-OF —ERT=5F
usbD usD
EY ET
usD ETT 972,287 1,312,798
RMB AR 139,674 530,689
HKD ABIT 13,011,388 15,622,594
EUR 5 4,954,453 4,792,913
19,077,802 22,258,994
The conversion of USD denominated balances into foreign LASETTRHE B SR IR E B INEE 8 32 LASI
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies BETEMNAH623,796k T (T _=4F :
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC amounted to 1,463,091 ) MIRTTHEBR LRI SER S
USD623,796 (2023: USD1,463,091) are subject to relevant rules » JBIE ST PR B BT B 4 RO AR A SNE B I AR B
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC KR E o
government.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B IR (4)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

26. TRADE PAYABLES

The aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as

26. EZ ENRIR
B R HBREERABOERTNT -

follows:
2024 2023
—E-MmE T =F
usbD usD
EH ETT
0-90 days 0ZF90H 317,928 421,301
91-180 days 91%F180H 111,098 231,464
181-360 days 181360 H 47,945 166,008
Over 360 days #3360 H 155,959 475,005
632,930 1,293,778

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are

AEENE S RN FENEREEDIATIIEE

denominated in the following currencies: HE -
2024 2023
—EMF —=E==

uUsbD (U]

E ET

usD ETT 594,926 811,971
RMB ARK 38,004 481,807
632,930 1,293,778
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AU ERRME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
27. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

27. Bt E AR HAL BN FOR

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=F

uUsbD UsD

Sy Y

Other tax payables Hfh BT T 50,435 182,921
Salary and staff welfare payables EEHEMETEA 1,089,201 1,781,289
Accrued professional service fees A EERBE 377,534 383,869
Advertising fee payables ENESE 250,118 239,270
Rent payable EAEe 160,108 198,162
Other payables (Note) E A pE s (M EE) 2,058,084 2,014,599
Others H b 624,712 671,442
4,610,192 5,471,552

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group disposed a i REBEZE=FE=-—F+=-A=+—BLEFE &

SERE=FHE-RWBLIR - MENSH
EHE AT MNRIAD BB EE MR -

subsidiary to a third party, the amount due to the disposed subsidiary
was transferred to other payable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

28.LEASE LIABILITIES

28. HEAE
Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
HEMAR HEMRNRE

2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEDmFE —T-=HF ZBDWFE —T-=F
usb usD usD usb
EYH T EYH EV

Within one year
Over one year but within five years

—FR
—FNULERFRA

400,434 413,313 373,563 364,212
273,358 691,695 267,254 657,824

Less: Future finance charge

B RS R

673,792 1,105,008 640,817 1,022,036
(32,975)  (82,972)

Present value of lease liabilities

HEREMNRE

640,817 1,022,036

Less: Amount due for settlement within
12 months (shown under
current liabilities)

o R12E A ABIHEE
BE R (FEnd
BEBETIIR)

(373,563) (364,212

Amount due for settlement after 12 months

M12B AR BMEEN SR

267,254 657,824

As at 31 December 2024, the average effective borrowing rate was
5.33% (2023: 5.33%) per annum. Interest rates are fixed at the
contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate

risk.

MR-TB-NE+—-A=+—H  PHEREE
FREE533% (2T =% :533%) ° f|X
REHBHETE  ASAEEEEARER
& @ -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

29. DEFERRED TAX 29. IEFEFLIE
The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised by the AT RARERRZEERLEHRIBEE -
Group:
Tax losses
BBEE
usbD
ET
At 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=F—H—H 154,656
Credit to profit or loss (Note 11) FFAEZE (MEE11) 5,700
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZEZ=F+ZA=+—HRK
—F-pFE—HA—H 160,356
Charge to profit or loss (Note 11) M EEE (MHFE11) (7,975)
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-mE+=-A=t—8 152,381

Deferred income tax liabilities of USD358,000 (2023: USD405,000)
as at 31 December 2024 have not been recognised for the WHT
and other taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
of certain subsidiaries established in the PRC. Such amounts are
permanently reinvested. Unremitted earnings totalled USD7,169,000
(2023: USD8,100,000) as at 31 December 2024.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group did not recognise deferred
income tax assets of USD2,006,000 (2023: USD2,057,000), in
respect of deductible temporary differences and cumulative tax
losses amounting to USD14,398,000 (2023: USD18,877,000) in total,
as it is uncertain that future taxable income will be available in those
subsidiaries against which the tax losses can be utilised. Included
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of USD5,334,000 (2023:
USD8,625,000) that will expire in 2025 to 2029 (2023: 2024 to 2028)
and the remaining unrecognised tax losses of USD6,428,000 (2023:
USD5,495,000) have no expiry date.
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MR-ZB-E+—A=+—0 TERETE
AP B A 37 B BT /BB A B A R BB HH 28 1 FE A A B 30
R E bR B RERIEE 1157 B {5358,0003%
T (ZZ =4 : 405,000%7T) - EE£ D
AEKABIRE RZZE-_WE+=ZA= +*
HERIE LB F 4 H£57,169,000% T (=

— =4 :8,100,0003T) °

R-TE-—WFE+=—A=+—8 ZK%IIHEJE
AMRERER KA $£14,398,000% 7T (=
ffi 18,877,0003T) E’Jiﬁﬁm&ﬁéﬂaﬁﬁ

RIEEFTS R L E2,006,000F T (=
i :2,057,000%5t) - AAILTEEZEH
[ A B AR R FE AR B F R A5 A RIS & 1B T A
A - XEEMW‘WE%@%MAfYfﬁii
ZENF(ZEZ=F: —HEEZZT
Z\F) B M 518 5,334, ooo%m (===
 : 8,625,000 T) MR FARERBEE
186,428,000 )L (ZZ = =4 : 5,495,000%
JC) WEEEAA o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE
30.SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD

30. RAR B RESEFANR

FOR THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME il
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ZEREE *8
uUsD
e
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of USD0.001 SREEMNETL(ZT =4
(2023: USD0.001) each 0.00137T0) KB
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R=ZZBZ=%—-HF—H"
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 “B-=%+=H=t—-H"
“E-mE-F-HR
—E-_mE+=-A=+-—H 4,000,000,000 4,000,000

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of issued ordinary shares
of the Company was 2,000,000,000 shares (2023: 2,000,000,000
shares) with par value of USDO0.001 per share (2023: USDO0.001
per share) which included 138,978,123 shares (2023: 138,978,123
shares) held under the share incentive scheme. They have been
fully paid up.

A summary of the Company’ s share capital and shares held for the
Share Option Scheme are as follows:

R-ZE-FE+=_A=+—H ' ARBE&T
TR AEREME0.001ETL(ZT=-=
#F : &Mm{E0.0013 L) #92,000,000,000 3%
—ZE =% :2,000,000,0000%) ' BIEFK
B &3 A /9138,978,123 I n (= F
— =% :138,978,123%) - ZERMHEH T
AR -

RRABH AR B SR A RO E
W

Number of Shares held for

shares Share the Share

in issue capital Option Scheme

BB E

ERITROBE BA  FEBENRG

usb usb

xET ET

(Note)

(BI=E)
At 31 December 2024 R-E-WFE+=-A=+—H 2,000,000,000 2,000,000 (138,978)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=A=+—H 2,000,000,000 2,000,000 (138,978)

PEHREBEEGRART T _INFEFIR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
A OB REM T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

30.SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD
FOR THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(Continued)

Note: According to the written resolutions of all the members of the Company

dated 2 November 2015 and capitalisation issue dated 24 November
2017, an aggregate of 150,000,000 ordinary shares were authorised
and reserved for the issuance to the employees, directors of the Group
and other persons pursuant to the share incentive scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) adopted by the Company.

The Company has appointed Core Trust Company Limited as the trustee
to assist with the administration and vesting of options granted pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme. On 27 May 2017, the Company allotted
and issued shares to Share Scheme Trust, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Core Trust Company Limited, which are or will be used to satisfy the
options upon exercise. The shares held by Share Scheme Trust are
presented as a deduction in equity as shares held for the Share Option

Scheme.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, no
ordinary share of the Company was transferred by the Share Scheme

Trust to the grantees exercising of the awarded shares.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for stakeholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital (including share capital and capital
reserves) by regularly reviewing the capital structure. As a part
of this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost of
capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group’s capital risk is low.
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30. RAR B RESEFANR
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TmR B R R REARBEAR R RANK
17 B A8 ([T 8 ]) BT T AEEN
BE EFERHEMAL-

NAFEZECore Trust Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

31.RESERVES 31. &
(a) The Group (a) x&EHE
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements TEBMRECERERETEHE
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of profit mhHEtrEREREEHESZER
or loss and other comprehensive income and the consolidated FE5 -

statement of changes in equity.

(b) The Company (b) &2 E]
Shares held Share- Equity
for the Share based  investments
Option Share payments revaluation Accumulated
Scheme premium reserve reserves losses Total
HERE NRHARER BikE
BENRS RBEE  WARRE EfiRE 2itHR #it
usb usb usD usD usDb usDb
e e N e T e
At 1 January 2023 RZZF==%-A-H (138,978) 36,924,962 4,240,961 (2,397,578)  (6,330,627) 32,298,740
Total comprehensive expense ENZEMYAE
for the year - - - (40,506)  (6,073,417)  (6,113,923)
Forfeit of share options BRI - - (875,619) - 875,619 =
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=E+ZA=1-R (138,978) 36,924,962 3,365,342 (2,438,084)  (11,528,425) 26,184,817
At 1 January 2024 WZZ-mE-A-A (138,978) 36,924,962 3,365,342 (2,438,084)  (11,528,425) 26,184,817
Total comprehensive expense ENZERNAE
for the year - - - 64,454 (3,208,809)  (3,144,355)
At 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+ZA=+-H (138,978) 36,924,962 3,365,342 (2,373,630)  (14,737,234) 23,040,462
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

31.RESERVES (Continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Shares held for the Share Option Scheme

The consideration paid by Share Scheme Trust (Note 30)
for acquiring the Company’s shares, including any directly
attributable incremental cost, is presented as “Shares
held for the Share Option Scheme” and the amount is
deducted from total equity.

When Share Scheme Trust transfers the Company’s
shares to the awardees upon vesting, the related costs
of the awarded shares vested are credited to “Shares
held for the Share Option Scheme”, with a corresponding
adjustment made to “Share premium”.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve represents the fair
value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to employees of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in Note
3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE
31.RESERVES (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and the Articles of Association of subsidiaries
located in the PRC, it is required to appropriate 10% of
the annual statutory net profits after offsetting any prior
years’ losses as determined under the PRC accounting
standards, to the statutory surplus reserve fund before
distributing the net profit. When the balance of the
statutory surplus reserve fund reaches 50% of the share
capital, any further appropriation is at the discretion of
shareholders. The statutory surplus reserve fund can
be used to offset prior years’ losses, if any, and may be
converted into share capital by issuing new shares to
shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholding
or by increasing the par value of the shares currently
held by them, provided that the remaining balance of the
statutory surplus reserve fund after such issue is no less
than 25% of share capital.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Equity investments revaluation reserve

The equity investments revaluation reserve comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income held at the end of the reporting period and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.

(vii) Other reserve

The other reserve represents the differences between the
fair value of the consideration paid and the carry amount
of non-controlling interest.

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE
32.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

32. AR AW MR R

2024 2023
—E-MFE —F-=
uUsbD UsD
EPH i
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Equity investments at fair value through BRARBEAEEHES T ARLM
other comprehensive income FHKRENERIRE 185,977 121,523
Investments in subsidiaries NN =y 100 455,449
Prepayments SEENEN - 50,000
186,077 626,972
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR I B A R FIB 22,906,269 21,742,342
Prepayments and other receivables TEAT 3k e HoAtb e W 5k IE 66,056 66,056
Bank and cash balances RIOTRBESER 11,504,328 15,342,029
34,476,653 37,150,427
TOTAL ASSETS HWEE 34,662,730 37,777,399
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EmRkafsE
Equity s
Share capital A& A< 2,000,000 2,000,000
Reserves Ei=] 23,040,462 26,184,817
Total equity R 25,040,462 28,184,817
Liabilities =R
Current liabilities REBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEAT Bt 8 A R FRIA 9,250,932 9,215,104
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R E AL FET 58 371,336 377,478
Total liabilities wmaE 9,622,268 9,592,582
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES HEZNEE 34,662,730 37,777,399
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z - —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

33.5HARE-BASED PAYMENTS 33LURNGAEBRNIRRS
TRANSACTIONS

On 15 February 2018, 21,419,696 and 28,078,914 shares options RZZE—NF=-_A+HH 21,419 6961’75&
were granted under the Share Option Scheme, with exercise price 28,078,914 17 B AR 4 5 BIAR &% BE AR A 51 3%
of HKD0.0074 and USD0.0074 per share, respectively. The vesting i fTEE S B A EAR0.0074 7T 0.0074
period of the share options granted is three years and the vesting ET - FIREERENSBHA=F  MHEE
schedule is 33.33% after 12 months from the grant date, 33.33% B AR L B AR 12(E B &% E33.33%
after 24 months from the grant date, and 33.34% after 36 months MR BEIE24 8 1258 33.33% + RARE
from the grant date respectively. i HEA#E36 18 A 4 558 33.34%

The directors have used the Binomial option-pricing model to SECFAEX T ERIRE T BRE
determine the fair value of the share options as at the grant date. RELHBHNAREBE - EFAUKEBHEK
Key assumptions, such as risk-free interest rate, expected volatility ErERRAE  BHEEREEREEER
and dividend vyield, are required to be determined by the directors oo EERFE - FEARKIE R E S BIFE
with best estimates. The risk-free interest rate, expected volatility %2.65% * 54.58% %0% °

and dividend yield were assessed to be 2.65%, 54.58% and 0%,
respectively.

Movements of the number of share options outstanding and their BARITR AR ) B B B R % E R ARV AR
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: BT EITEENT
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=f
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise shares exercise shares
price per under price per under
share option the option share option the option

SHEREN BREAT  ShERED BReaT
METHARE ROBE MEFHORE B #E

usD usb

in e
At 1 January R—A—H 0.0056 23,649,722 0.0052 31,156,997
Forfeited during the year FRRY - - 0.0037 (7,507,275)
At 31 December W+-B=1t—8H 0.0056 23,649,722 0.0056 23,649,722
Vested and exercisable at 31 December W+ZA=+—HERBRAAFE 0.0056 23,649,722 0.0056 23,649,722

"

s
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 EH{Z—Z—NF+_-A=+—HILFE

34.CHANGES
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising

from financing activities during the year:

IN LIABILITIES ARISING

M. BMEEHELNEERE

TRINTFEFANEARERDELNAERAEE
) :

Lease liabilities

HEAHE

uUsD

Er

At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—H—H 1,269,322

Changes in cash flows ReREg (332,453)
Non-cash changes R FH

— Additions — 3N 120,064

— exchange differences —EHERE (34,897)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—HK

—E-mF—HA—A 1,022,036

Changes in cash flows ReReg (359,961)
Non-cash changes JEIR & & F)

— exchange differences —EBNERE (21,258)

At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-mNE+=A=+—H 640,817

35.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 31 May 2024, the Group disposed its entire equity interests in
its subsidiary, Guangzhou Zhang Ying Kong Information Technology
Company Limited (“ZYK”), at a cash consideration of RMB1 to an

independent third party.

On 30 September 2024, the Group disposed its entire equity
interests in its subsidiary, Angame Inc. (“Angame”), at a cash

consideration of USD1 to an independent third party.
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35. HEMBE A F

RZB-_MFERAA=+—R  AEENRSK
BARBITA-—E2BIE=HELHNBA
AEMERZEEEMERARAA ([EHmIZE])
B 2 AR AR o

RZT-ZWOFLA=Z+HE  FEEUESA
BI1ETHM—BBYE=FAHELWBAA
Angame Inc. ([ Angame |) )2 ZBA% o
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35.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Net liabilities of the disposal subsidiaries at the date of disposal

35. LEME AT @)
B EREA RN E BN A EEENT

were as follows:

ZYK Angame Total
2Rz Angame st
uUsD usbD uUsbD
ETT ET ET
Trade receivables B 5 FEWRIE 61,094 — 61,094
Prepayments and other TE AR B E At B W kIR
receivables 38,051 - 38,051
Bank and cash balances RITRRESEH 125,049 63,715 188,764
Trade payables B 5 HI8 (66,733) (95,027) (161,760)
Accruals and other payables FERT B A R E Ath PR B (630,453) (3) (630,456)
Current tax liabilities MERIB A G (94,730) - (94,730)
Net liabilities disposed of REnEEER (567,722) (31,315) (599,037)
Release of foreign currency REEHBRERE
translation reserve 135,618 — 135,618
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  H&ME QRS 432,104 31,316 463,420
Total consideration — satisfied RRE — AReER
by cash (included in other (Gt AR b EMFRIR)
receivables) - 1 1
Net cash outflow arising on HEEEMIR SR IFEE -
disposal:
Cash and cash equivalents PENRERRSEED
disposed of (125,049) (63,715) (188,764)

PEHREBEEGRART T _INFEFIR
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36.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

36. EAAHGH

RBERR  NEBNERFHEBEROT

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
usbD uUsbD
EY ET
Intangible assets — contracted but not mEE - BENEREIN
provided for 552,000 -

37.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

() Key management personnel

compensations

The compensations paid or payable to key management
personnel (including directors and CEO) for employee services

3V.BHARS

(a) AREEEBASHNHMN

HEERBENHNENEREREAS
(BRELEREFNTE) WHFHHIRN

are as follows: S

2024 2023
—EZME T =F
usbD USsSD
ES e
Wages, salaries and bonuses TE - FeRkiti 204,583 212,379
Pension costs — defined contribution plans &HEZ& KA — FEH T2 11,439 11,014

Other social security costs, housing benefits H{bit @RERE - £ EEF)
and other employee benefits FEMEERF 9,043 9,993
225,065 233,386

(b) Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group does not have any material related party
transaction for both years.

38.APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025.
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(b) mapBRREMBOBBEEN - &
SERMEFESEERNEAEYTR
5 o

38. S B HmERMALE

AHMBRERER - E-_AF=-A_-1+/\BE
BEEHEMRET)E -
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